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Press Comments

Mr. Menon has now written what he is care-
ful Lo call the Story, not the History, of the Inte-
gralion of the Indian States, an accoun{ which is
c0 thoroughly authoritaiive and lucid that it will
remain  {he principal source-book for all his-
tories which later examine the process of inte-
gration . .

‘Throughout the book, as indeed throughout

the monumental enterprisec of Integration, therc
broods, cagle-like, the shadow of Sardar Palel,
failing in health but a statesman of clear vision

and inflexible resolution . . .

... 10 18 unquestionably one of the mosl -
portant books of the decade following Indian

Independence. ,
—The Statesman

The book also iells in the clearesl terms the
greal gualities of Sardar Patel and the abundant
love that Lord Mountbatten had for Iadia.

The printing and get-up of the book 15 ecxcel-

lent and every student of constitutional history of
India must read this book if he wanis to under-

stand the new political map of India.
—The Tribune

V. P. Menon's new book is a valuable his-
torical record. . .

... the Story of the Integration of the Indian
States is like the ‘Bedside BEsquire’., You can
pick it up anywhere and read ils racy 511 pages

with equal ease and enjoyment.
—The Current
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PREFACE

1 'HIS book is in part fulfilment of a promise made to the late
! Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel. It was his earnest desirc that I
4. should writc two books, one narrating the events leading to
the transfer of power and the other dealing with the integration of
the Indian HStates.

I have taken up the integration of the States first, because the
cvents of the four hectic years, 1947 to 1951, are so vivid in my
memory. Today we think of the integration of the States only in
terms of the consolidation of the country, but few pause to consider
the toils and anxictlies that had to be undergone till, step by step,
the edifice of a consolidated India was enshrined in the Constitution.
I't was a co-operative effort in which every one from Sardar —our
inspiration and light—down to the rank and file played his part.
The cniire stafl of the States Ministry, both at New Declhi as well
as al ihe regional headquarters, threw themselves heart and soul
into the task. There was a unfty of purposé animating.#very one.
They arc the unsung heroes who made pos$iblédhe consolidation of
the country. B ST S

I have narrated the whole siory as ghigetively as it is possible for
one who was in the midst of it. The events and personalities are too
near for any final assessment to -be attempted.. This xs.a.3ask for the
historian of ithe future. I have deliberately calleq_ﬂ;hiﬁ qb

““““““““““

k, not the
history, but ‘ The Story of the Integration of the f[ndiranygfates ",

The first four chapters provide the backgFoulet¥o  the problem
of the Indian States. There I have described how the British built
up the framework of princely India. I trace the events right up to
the announcement of the June 3rd plan declaring the lapse of para-
mountcy, whereby the Indian States comprising two-fifths of the
country would return {0 a state of political isolation, Chapter V
describes bow this was circumvented by the accession of the States
on threc subjects. The next chapter deals with junagadh State which
had acceded to Pakistan. The ten subsequent chapters deal with the




Pf'(z’/;flf}'é’ )
consolidation ol the States on a regional basis. Hyderabad, which
had remained aloof, has been dealt with at length in three chapters.
K ashmir follows and the Baroda interlude comes next. Then lour
chapters are devoted to a survey of the administrative, financial
and constitutional changes and to the cost of integration. In the
last chapter, entitled ¢ Retrospect and Prospect?®, T have summed up
the policy of integration and cxpressed my personal views on some

aspects of the problem.
I am deeply grateful to the Rockefeller Foundation, Humanitics

Division, for the generous grant given through the Indian Council
of World Affairs for the preparation not only of this book but also
of the companion volume on the transfer of power. I must, however,
add that no responsibility attaches to thc Foundation in regard
to either their contents or the views expressed.

{ am thankful to the Indian Council of World Affairs under whose
auspices this book has been prepared and in particular to Dr A.
Appadorai, its Secretary-General.

My grateful thanks are also due (0 scveral {riends, Indian and
¥Enghsh, who went through the manuscript and made many valuable
suggestions.,

I am thankful to the Press Information Burcau of the Government
of India for having allowed me to reproduce the pictures included
in this hook.

Lastly, my sincere thanks arc duc to E. G, Gaynor and R, P. Alyar
for the help they have given me in writing this book. Their assistance
has been most invaluable. My thanks are also due to the two steno-
graphers, 5., Gopalakrishnan and XK. Thankappan Nair and to the
typist, M. Balakrishnan who never spared themselves and who {aithe
fully discharged whalever duties were entrusted to the,

Bangalore,
15 September 1955, V. P, Menon



CONTENTS

I SETTNG THE STAGE page 1

Y1 SrokEes IN THE WHEEL 20

ITT Tnhe Parring Gier 46

IV PreLUDE TO GiHAOS 70

V bTOPPING THE (zAP 42

VI JunaGADH 124

VII Toae OrissA AND (JHAPTISCARIL STATES 151

VIII SAURASHTRA 175

IX Tue Deocan AND GUJARAT 57TA PES 199

X VINDHYA PRADESH 211

XI Mapnva Buarat 223

XIT Parrara ANp East PuNjas STares Uniton 240

XIIT RAJASTHAN 250

XTIV Travancorre-CoCHIN 274

KV MrYSORE 292

XVI A MISGELLANY OF STATES 297

XVII Hyvprrabap I 314

KVIIT Hyprraeap 11 337

XIX Hvorrasap II1 369

KX Jammu AND JKASHMIR STATE 390

XXI BARODA 416

KXIT T ApMINGTRATIVE CONSOLIDATION 435
IT IncorporA1ION OF THE STATES Forces

INTO TITE INDIAN ARMY 444

W XIIT FinaNcIAL INTEGRATION 459

XXIV Oroeanic UNiricaTion 463

XXV Te Cost oF INTEGRATION 476

HKEXVY RETROSPECT AND PROSPECT 484

AppEnDix 1 495

ArpENDIX 11 497



(lontents

Books anp PuBricatioNs CoNSULTED 499
Grossary oF InDiany TErMS H01

INDEX 505



ILLUSTRATIONS

Frontispiece
sardar Vallabhbhai Patel
Detween pages 172 and 173

1. Lord Mountbatten addressing the Chamber of Princes for the
first and last time as CGrown Represcntative,

2. Sardar discussing the communal and refugee problems with the
Punjab and U.P, Premiers and rulers of border States,

3. The author conlerring with the rulers of A class States in Orissa,

4. Sardar and the aunthor being received by the Governor and Chiel
Minister of the Gentral Provinces at Nagpur,

5. bardar inaugurating the Saurashtra Union by swearing-in the
Jam Saheb of Nawanagar as Rajpramukh.
6. Council of rulers and ministers of the Saurashira Union.

7. Prime Minister Nehru inaugurating the Madhya Bharat Union
by swearing-in the Maharajah of Gwalior as Rajpramukh.

Detween pages 244 and 245

8. Lord Mountbatllen in conversation with Sardar during hisillness,

9. dardar having discussions with Sheikh Abdullah and Bakshi
Ghulam Mahommed during hig visit to Xashmir in 1947,
10. The rulers of Patiala and the East Punjab States with the author.
11, The author signing the Patiala and Bast Panjab States Union
covenant.
12. Sardar inaugurating the Patiala and East Punjab States Union
by swearing-in the Maharajah of Patiala as Rajpramukh,.

13. Sardar leaving the Durbar Hall with the Maharajahs of Jaipur
and Kotah after inaugurating the Rajasthan Union,



Llustrations
Belween pages 276 and 277

14. Sardar with the Maharajah of Mysove during his visit (o the

15.

106.

17.

10.

19.

25.

Stale.

The Maharajah of Cochin on arrival at Trivandrum, with the
Maharajah of Travancore, the Premicrs of the two States and

the author.

Sardar and the author with the Maharajah ol Cochin during
Sardar’s last visit to Travancorc-Cochin.

The author with the Maharajah of Travancore inaugurating the
Travancore-Cochin Union,

Lord and Lady Mountbatten taking leave of Sardar and his
daughter at Mussoorie; in the rear, Prime Minister Nelau,

Lord Mountbatten, signing the Standstill Agreement with
Hydcrabad.

Between pages 380 and 381

. Lord Mountbatten, N. Gopalaswami Aiyangar and the author

discussing the Hyderabad question at a party on 30 May 1948,

. A Razakar rally; Kasim Razvi in the {ront row.
. sardar discussing the Hyderabad problem with hig advisers.

. Prime Minister Nehru is greeted by the Nizam during his visit

to Hyderabad State.

. Conference of Rajpramukhs convened by the States Ministry o

discuss the future of the Indian States Forces.

Inspecting a section of the arms scized from the Communists
in Telengana.

CARTOONS

Union is Strength — Shankar’s conception of the

mtegration of Travancore and Cochin page 290

Never Miss a Meal —Rampur is the latest State 10

be merged with U, P, 311



Hlustrations

MAPS
India belore the Transfer of Power Jacing page 89
Kathiawar and the Western India States Agency 129

India afier Integration 494






I
SETTING THE STAGE

NDIA is one geographical cntity. Yet, throughout her long
and chequered history, she never achieved political homogeneity.
A From the carliest times, spasmodic atiempts were made Lo bring
about her consolidation. A pioneering effort in this direction was
made by the Magadhan kings, Bimbisara and Ajatasatru, in the
sixth century B.c. Bul it was not till about three centuries later that
under the Mauryas, and particularly Asoka, a large portion of India
came under the sway ol one cmperor. The Mauryan empire lasted |
only for about a hundred years and after its disruption the country
again lapscd into numerous kingdoms. Nearly five centurics later,
Chandragupta, and his more illustrious son Samudragupta, brought
the major part ol the country under their suzerainiy; and Harsha,
in the scventh century, was able to make himself the undisputced
master of north India. These and later attempts at political consoli-
dation [ailed again and again for one chiefreason: the cmpircs were
held together almost entirely by the personality and might of the
emperor. The whole cdifice crumbled when a line of supermen’
came to an cnd.

Lven under these emperors, a diversily of autonomous states
constituted the mosaic of an empire, The emperor claimed suzerainty
over these rulers, who offered allegiance to him; subordinated their
forcign policy to his diplomatic moves; usually served him in war,
and offered him tribute; hut who, in other respects, retained their
sovercignily. Whenever the authority of the Emperor weakened, the
subordinate rulers asserted their independence. Therc was a per-
petual struggle for supremacy. Mutual jealousies and conflicts made
the country an casy prey 1o any organized invasion.

The Muslims were thus able 1o vanguish the Hindu kingdoms in
north India, The first Muslim conquest was in the eighth century,




0 Setting the Stage

when the Arabs under Muhammad-ibn-Kasim conguered Sind,
But it was the conquest of the Punjab by Mahmud of Ghaznt in
ihe eleventh century that opened the gates of India to the Muslim
invaders from the north-west. Muslim rule in north India was [ouid-
ed in A.p. 1206, when Qutb-ud-din Aibak proclaimed himself the
Sultan of Delhi. Trom this date to {526, the year of the downlall
of the Sultanate, Delhi had ag many as five Muslim dynastics and
thirty-three Sultans. These Sultans attempled, [rom time to tine,
to extend their empire; and Ala-ud-din Khalji was the first ol these
Muslim rulers to conquer practically the whole ol India.

The Moghuls appeared on the scene in 1526, when Babur deleated
the last Sultan of Dclhi in the Battle of Panipat, He also delealed
the powerful Rajput counfederacy in the decisive battle of Khanua
and so laid the foundation of the Moghul empire. During the
ime ol his grandson, Akbar, the Moghuls reached the meridian
of their glory.

Neitherthe Sultans nor the Moghuls did away with the system of
subordinate rulers. In the very condition of things it was iinpossible
for them to have done so, It was Akbar who laid down (he basie
principles governing the relationship beiween these rulers and the
emaperor, He asserted his authority over them in the matter of
succession and assumed to himself the power Lo depose any ruler (or
disloyalty. The sovercignty and authority of the cmpceror way un-
questionable, subject to which however the subordinate rulers were
as much despots in their respective domains as their masier,

The passing away of Akbar’s great-grandson Aurangzely in 1707
was the signal for the break-up of the Moghul empire, His protraci-
cd and costly campaigns in the Deccan for conquest of the Muslim
kingdoms ol Bijapur and Golconda and for the subjugation of the
Mahratias had denuded his empire of much of its resources. More-
over, his short-sighted policy of rcligious intolerance had alienated
the allegiance of the Hindus. Once his strong hand was removed,
the Moghul viceroys as well as the subordinate rulers hegan to assert
their independence, and political and military adventurers started
hacking at the crumbling facade of the empire. Within the incredibly
short period of twenty years from Aurangzeh’s death, Moghul power
nad faded into ‘aninsubstantial pageant’ and the country had fullen
into a condition ol masterless disorder.

'It must be emphasized that not even in the palmiest days of the
Hindu and Moghul empires did the entire couniry come under one
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political umbrella. No greater achicvement can be credited to the
British than that they brought about India’s enduring political
consolidation. But for this accomplishment and the rise ol national
conscrousness in its wake, the Government of Free India could
hardly have taken the final step of bringing about the peaceful in-
tegration of the princely States, Today, for the firgt time in the
country’s history, the writ of a single central Government runs
N T

from Kailas to Kanyakiumari, from Kathiawar to Kamarupa (the
old name of Assam). To appreciate the full significance of this
achicvement, it 1s necessary to review in broad outline how the
British established themselves and huilt up the [ramework of
princely India,

After the disintegration of the Moghul empire, the only power
which seemed likely to step into the breach was the Mahrattas.
Shivaji had laid the foundations of a mighty kingdom; but this
proncer ol a resurgeni Hindu empire had lelt no competent successor.
After Shivaji’s death, the Peshwas (chiefl ministers 1o the ruler)
gradually took over control. In the beginning they showed promise
of becoming the rallying force of the great Mahratia Confederacy.
But theirs was the story of the Hindu and Moghul cmpires over
again. Inirigue and corruplion at the Peshwa’s Courl and perpe-
tual wars between the Seindia and the Holkar disrupted Mahratia
unity. The Mahratta armics were tax-collectors by force and showed
no discrimination between the Hindu and the Muslim. The imposi-
tion of ¢hauth and sardeshmukfi in conquered arcas and the collection
of these exactions by the Mulkgiri [orces brought upon them the
sullen hatred of the people,

Into this arcna of confusion and unrest entered the British and
the French, Both had come to India for trade. The British had come
carlicr and had started factories in several coastal towns in the name
of the East India CGompany. This Company, the greatest mercantile
corporation the world has ever seen, bad several advanlages over
its F'rench rival and, in the bhid for supremacy, finally succeeded in
ousting the French from the scene.

The British cmpire in India presents the curious phenomenon
of having been built by the agents of the Company in India, al any
rate during the initial stages, notwithstanding express directions
to the conlrary from their principals. The only interest of the Gourt
of Dircclors was in trade and commerce and they frowned upon
wars which ate into their profits, Treatics entered into with Indian
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4
States in the carly stages aimed at no more than the maintenance
of the Company’s privileged position in trade against ils rivals.
1t was in the process of protecting 11s commercial stake in the country
that Clive actually laid the foundations of the British cmpire in
India,

Al firsl the East India Company’s agents in India were responsible
only to the Court of Directors who derived their power [rom Gharters
oiven to them by the Crown. 5o Jong as the Company was interested
merely in trade, these Charters were enough; but when it became
a icrritorial power some control by Parliament became necessary.
In Lord North’s Regulating Act of 1773, the Parliament for the
first time asseried its authority and contrel over the Company’s
actvitics, both in India and in England. The Act converted the
Governor in Council in Bengal into a Governor-General in
Council. The Governor-Genceral had no overriding powcrs over
his council, The control of the Governor-General in Council
over the presidencies of Bombay and Madras was conlined Lo (he
making of peace and war. In the words of the Montagu-
Chelmsford Report, the Act created a ‘ Governor-General who was
powerless before his own council, and an Exccutive that was power-
less before a Supreme Court, itself immune from all responsibility
for the pcace and welfare of the country—a system thal was
madc workable only by the genius and [ortitude of one great man.’
That was Warren Hastings, the first Governor-General, e contin-
ued the work of Clive and, indecd, lefi the British possessions in
India much larger and more secure than he [ound them.

The Regulating Act was repealed by Pitt’s India Act of 1784,
A body was sct up, known as the Board of Control, to supervise the
activities of the Court of Directors. It made the conlrol of the
Governor-General over the presidency Governments eflcelive,
Later, by a supplementary Act in 1786, the Governor-General was
given powers to overrule hig council in special cases; he was also
permitted 1o hold the office of Commander-in-Chief in addition to
his position as Governor-General. 1t was this three-fold augmentation
of the powers of the Governor-General that was responsible for the
sticcess which altended the efforts of the Marquess of Wellesley, the
Marquess of Hastings and Lord Dalhousic in India, As Lord
Dalhousie piquantly put it: ‘The Governor-General is unlike any

other Minister under heaven—he is the beginning, middle and end
of all,’
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Fourtecen years after the passing of Pitt’s India Act, Wellesley
came (o India as Governor-General. He was given the strictest
injunctions lo keep the peace, not to meddle with the Indian rulers
and 1o husband the depleted resources of the Company. He paid
scanit attention {o these injunctions. Wellesley was convinced, when
he came to Tudia and saw the state of aflairs here, that the British
must hecome the one paramount power in the country. Towards
this end, he worked for the next seven years. Apart from his military
achievements, lus greatest contribution was the institution of a policy
of subsidiary alliances with the Indian rulers. Under this sysiem,
the State accepting subsidiary alliance was to make no wars and to
carry on no negotiations with any other State without the Company’s
knowledge and consent; the bigeer States were 1o maintain armies
commanded by British officers for “the preservation of the public
peace’ and their rulers were o cede certain territories [or the upkeep
of these forces; the smaller States were to pay a tribute to the CGom-
pany. Tn return, the Company was to protect them, one and all,
agatnsl external aggression and internal rebellion. A British Resi-
dent was also mstalled 1n every state that accepted the subsidiary
alliance.

The system of subsidiary alliances was Trojan Horse tactics in cm-
pire-building: it gave the Company a stabilizing authority vis-g-ous
the States and hecavse of this “the Governor-General was present
by proxy in cvery State that accepled it.” Well-trained bodies of
troops were posted in strategic and key positions without any cost
to the Company. The fidelity of the rulers who accepted the system
was thus assured.

When Wellesley was recalled in 1805 the British dominion had
cxpanded considerably, He had successfully overcome Tippu,
whose defeat and death in 1799 removed a major threat to the
British empire. He practically climinated the French influence in
India, Besides, he brought many States under subsidiary alliances,
the notable ones being Hyderabad, Travancore, Mysore, Baroda
and Gwalior. In succcssfully implementing this policy, Wellesley
was [ortunate to have gifted colleagues like John Malcolm, Charles
Metealle and Mountstuart Elphinstonc, besides his illustrious
brother, Arthur Wellesley, later the Duke of Wellington.

For the next eight years the Company was primarily concerned
wilh looking after its trade and replenishing its depleted resources,
Then came the Marquess of Hastings as the Governor-General in

3
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1813, The interrupled policy ol W:u*rcn. Hastings and \fV(‘llCﬂlty
was pushed by him to its logical conclusion. The SUCCCSFLVE Cam-
paigns in which he overcamc Nepal, crushed the PlI:ldE‘lI‘lH, .a_ncl
finally broke the Mahratta power carricd ‘the spreac of the T.h‘lllSh
dominion over northern and central India to a stage which 1l was
only left for Lord Dalhousic, a quarter of a century later, to com plete.
Simullancously, he resumed Wellesley’s policy hy extending _thv
Company’s supremacy and protection over almost all the Incll.an
States. By the time he left the country in 1823, the British empire
in India had been formed and its map in cssentials drawn. livery
State in India outside the Punjab and Sind was under the Gompany’s
control. ‘His official seal no longer acknowledged the Governor-
(Yeneral as the servant of the Moghul empire and with the “fiction
of the Moghul Government’® ended, the British empire of India
stood 1n its place.’

Subscquent years saw the initiation and development of a politi-
cal and administrative system hithcrio unknown (o Indian history.
Unlike the one-man rule of the Moghul emperors, the British estab-
lished, in territories under their direct control, a regular and uni-
form system of administration composed of a hierarchy ol authoritics,
onc subordinate to another, with powers and functions clearly
demarcated. The pattern commenced at the base with the districts,
and converged at the apex with provincial Governors and the
Governor-General, who were in their turn subordinate to the
authorities i1 England. Administration was impersonal, since none
of the offices was hereditary. Most of the Company’s oflicers at the
senior level were imbued with a sensc of their mission and brought
to bear on the administration the principles and practice which
obtained in their country. These arc some of the factors which
contributed to the building of a stable structure of government,

S0 far as the States were concerned,«the influence ol the Company
over their internal administration rapidly increased during the period
following the retirement of Lord Hastings. Its Residents became
gradualtl’y ‘transtormed from diplomatic agents representing a forergn
power 1nto executive and controlling officers of a superior govern-
ment,” They assumed so much authorily indeed that a certain Col
onel Macaulay wrote 1o the Rajah of Cochin: ‘The Resident will be
glad to learn that on his arrival near Cochin, the Rajah will find
it convenient to wait on him,’

The pathetic plight of the rulers under the subsidiary system
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has been graphically described by Henry Mead who, as a journalist,
had spent over twenly years in India belore the Great Revolt of 1857 :

The sovercigns of what are called independent States live in a state
ob abjcct dependence upon the will of the British agency at their various
ourts. The whole [unctions of government are in most cases exercised
by the Resident, m lact, il not in appearance; and the titular monarch
sighs 1 vain for the personal frcedom enjoyed by his subjects. To know
the character of his rule and sceming tendencies of his disposition, it is
suflicient to have a knowledge of the capacity and likings of the British
Representative. Thus General Cullen is a savant and the Rajah of
Travancore builds an observatory and maintaing men of science; the
Resident of Indore is a person of elegant tastes and the Maharajah
surrounds himsell’ with articles of vertu. The Durbar Surgecon at the
Mysore Gourt, who fulfils the dutics of a government agent, is passionate-
ly fond of the sports of the turl and the Rajah keeps a large stud of horses,
gives gold cups and heavy purses at races, wears tophoots and has pictures
of the ‘great events’ ol past and present days.

The concentration of power without responsibility in the Resi-
dents brought in its wake corruption and favouritism. The rulers
were guaranteed their position, not only against external aggression,
but also against internal revolution. Thus all incentive for good
governmenl was removed and a premium was placed on indolence.
In most of the States, the revenucs were dissipated belween the
mercenarics ol the Residency and the minions of the court. Con-
scicntious statcsmen in England viewed this state of aflairs with
grave concern, Irom his detached position in the India Olfice,
John Stuart Mill advocated the climination of the States.

Meanwhile, there were those who, with practical experience of
Indian administration, discerned dangers in this new devclopment.
As carly ag 1825, Sir John Malcolm avowed:

I am decidedly of the opinion that the tranquillity, not to say securily,
of our vagl oricntal possessions is involved in the preservalion of native
principalities which are dependent on us for protection. These are also
so obviously al our mercy, so eutirely within our grasp, that besides
other and great benefits we derive from their alliance, their co-existence
with our rule is of itself a source of political strength, the value of which

will never be known till it is lost.

At an carlier date still, Elphinstone had expressed himself not
digsimilarly but more brutally. He held that the princes would be
useful not only as bullers but as cess-pits into which the accumula-
ting miseries of the rest of India could scep and, like warring germs,
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prey on cach other. “We must have some sink to I'L‘IL'L:iVL‘ all L.h(‘:
corrupt matter that abounds in India, unless we are willing to tiunl
our own system by stopping the discharge ofil.”

The Charter Act of 1833 abolished the Company’s (rading activi
tics, and the Company assumed the functions of the government ol
India. From now onward there was a radical change in its policy
towards the States, partly with a view to climinating any luture
threat to its territorics and partly {o augmenling its revenue. In
1841 the Court of Dircctors issucd an cxpress direclive to the
Governor-General ‘to persevere in the onc clear and dircct course
of abandoning no just and honourable accession ol (erritory or
revenue.’

Cooorg was anncxed in 1834 on the plea of the malacdministration
of the ruler. Sind was conquered without any justifiable reason dur-
ing the Governor-Generalship of Lord Ellenborough. By this vigor-
ous anncxationist policy, Lord Dalhousic acquired vast territorics
for the Company. Applying the ‘Doctrine of Lapsc’, he annexed
Satara, Nagpur, Jhansi, Sambalpur, Bhagat and other Slates, e
conquered the Punjab and pushed the fronticrs {o ‘the natural
linits of India, the base of the mountaing of Alghanistan.” With
regard to Oudh, he wanted to take over only 1ts administration, hut
the Court of Directors ordered its complete annexation, which was
done in 1856. Dalhousic went to the extent of applying the ‘Doc-
trine of Lapse’ in order 1o sweep away the titles and penstons of
deposed rulers who died without leaving behind any natural heir,

Latcr cvents were Lo prove, however, that the policy of whole-
salec anncxations was short-sighted. The annexationists were in oo
great a hurry and swallowed more than they could digest, They
ignored Malcolm’s sage advice of festina lente. The accrclion of vast
territorics without adequate experienced personnel (o administer
them was to result in maladministration, This was all too cvident
during the initial peried of Lord Canning’s Governor-Generalship,
Further, the army was lacking in discipline and the British clement
was inadequate in proportion. The policy of amnexution had
unsettled the social life of the people, especially in north India.
- Rulers dispossessed of their States had to get rid of their vast retinue
of servants and dependents. Disinherited heirs and cast-olf retainers
sighed in vain for their lost estates and pensions. The dishanded
armics of the rulers had thrown out many thousands of able-bodicd
men who with arms but without any means of livelihood were
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roaming about the countryside. It is said that in Qudh alonc the
King’s forces amounted to 60,000 and the troops cmployed by the
nobility and zamindurs were quite as numerous. Of these, only
about 12,000 were rcetained in service; the rest were sent adrill —
to swell the ranks ol the disrupted malcontents. It was surcly the
despair and discontent caused by this upheaval that provided the
powder magazine 1o the Greal Revolt of 1857, whatever might have
been the spark that ultimately ignited i,

‘The Revolt was suppressed with a heavy hand. The Indian rulers
for the mosl par(, not only remained aloofl from the uprising but in
cerlain cases exlended active assistance Lo ihe British in suppressing
it. Lord Canning gratefully acknowledged the role of the States
as ‘brcakwaters in the storm which would have swept over us in
one greal wave., ‘Where should we have been,’ enquired Elphin-
stone with characteristic frankness, “if Scindia, the Nizam and the
Sikh chiefs cte. had been annexed, the subordinate presidencies
abolished, the whole army thrown into one and the revenue system
brought into one mould?’

The realization that the States could play a vital role as one of
the bulwarks of Brilish rule Ied to a radical change of policy, which
found expression in Queen Victoria’s proclamation of 1858

We desire no extension of our present territorial possessions; and while
we will permit no aggression upon our dominions or our rights to be
attempted with impunity, we shall sanction no cncroachment on those
of others. We shall respeet the rights, dignity, and honour of Native
Princes as our own; and we desive that they as well as our own subjects
should enjoy that prosperity and that social advancement which can
only be secured by.nternal peace and good government,

The det for the Better Government of India* passed in 1858 put the
imprimatur of parliamentary authority to the Quecn’s assurance,
The last clause of the Act provided that ‘all treaties made by the
Company shall be binding upon Her Majesty.” Thus the policy of

1Lord Gurzon deseribed the change thus: “In 1858 the final act of decapitation of
the Company took place: ihe system ol dual government, after lasting, with al{ ity
incongruities and misadventurces, for over 80 vears, was terminated; the {wo rival
fictions of the Court of Directors and the Board of Control hoth disappeaved; and the
Government wag transferred from the Fast Incdia Company to the Crown, The Home
Government of India was rcconstituted on its present basis, a Secretary of Stale for
India, assisted by an India Council, being set up.’

For the first time the Governor-General was designated Viceroy and CGovernor-General.
This Lwo-fold utle continued Gl 1947, As the statutory head of the Government of India
he was designated the Governor-General and as the representative of the Dritish
Sovereign he was referved to as the Vicetoy,
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anncxation, so vigorously pursucd by Dalhousic, gave way to the
perpetuation of the States as separaie entitics.

Lord Canning carried this new policy to its next logical siep by
recommending, in his despatch of 30 April 1860, that the wlegrity
of the States should be prescrved by perpetuating the rule ol the
Princes whose power to adopt heirs should be recognized. The
Secretary of State agreed to this recommendation, and sanads were
granted to the rulers under which, in the event of the failure of
natural heirs, they werc authorized to adopt their successors accord.-
ing to their law and custom. These sanads were intended to remove
misirust and suspicion and 1o reassure and knit the native sovereigns
to the paramount power.” No more was heard of annexation as the
only means of granting the ‘blessings’ of civilized government to the
‘suffering millions’. The new policy was to punish the ruler for ex-
treme misgovernment and il necessary to depose him but not to
annex his State for misdeeds.

The Indian States thus became part and parcel ol the Briush
cmpire in India. In the words of Lord Canning:

The territorics under the sovereigniy of the Crown became at once
as unportant and as integral a part of Inclia as territories under its dircet
domination. Together they form one direct care and the polilical system
which the Moghuls had not completed and the Mahrattas never contem.-
plated is now an established fact of history.

The next five decades were occupied with the task of cvolving
a machinery for controlling the States. This was duly accomplished,
A Political Department was sct up under the direct charge of ihe
Governor-General. It had at its disposal a service known as the
Indian Political Service, manned by oflicers taken {rom the Indian
Civil Service and the Army. It had a police force which was main-
tained partly by the revenues of the Central Government and partly
by contributions made by the Siates. The Political Department
had Residents and Political Agents in all important $tates and
groups of dtates. The Secretary of State kept a close coutrol over the
activities of the Political Department, mainly because of the interest
of the Grown in matters affecting the rights and privileges of the rulers.

Constitutionally the States were not part of British India nor were
their inhabitants British subjects, Parliament had no power lo legis-
late for the States or their people. The Crown’s relationship with
the Indian States was conducted by the Governor-General in Coun-
cil. since the Governor-General was in charge of the Political
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Dcpartment, his Ixccutive Council tended in practice to lcave
States’ aflairs {o him and the Political Department; so that the
Political Depariment came gradually to assume the position ol a
government within a government,

The Political oflicers in the various Staies had comprchensive,
though unwritten, authority. In the casc of the smaller States, these
officers [rankly adopted the attitude of a superior towards a sub-
ordinate. Iiven in the case of bigger Siates and the States which
had well-known administrators they had much their own way. Dis-
sensions and jealousies among the rulers were sysicmatically sustain-
ed. The States were 1solated from British India in the same manner
as India as a whole was isolated {rom the rest of Asia. Even high-
ranking Government oflicers were required to take permission from
ihe Political Department belore visiting the States,

Along with the building up of a strong Political Department, the
Crown started asserting rights and prerogatives ncver claimed by
the Past India Company and cven at times culling across ireaty
rights. The most outstanding example, and at the same time onc of
far-reaching consequence, in the relations of the paramount power
with the rulers was the prerogative assumed of recognizing succession
in the case of natural heirs. The first ruling in this behalf was laid
down by the Government of India in 1884 in a letter addressed to
the Chiel Commisstoner of the Central Provinces in which it was
stated that ‘ the succession to a native State 18 invalid uniil it receives
in some form the sanction of the British authority.” As regards the
connectled right to settle disputed successions, ‘it 15 admittedly the
right and duty of Government,” wrote the Seceretary of State on
24 July 1891, © Lo scitle successions in the protected States of India.’
This right, it was claimed, flowed essentially {rom the position of the
British as the supreme power responsible for maintaining law and
order throughout the country, That power alone had the necessary
sanctions o cnforce decisions regarding disputed successions. The
alternative to this arrangement was civil war,

As a matural corollary, the Government of India assumed the
guardianship of minor princes and also arranged for the adminis-
tration of the State during a minority.

The ruler thus did not inherit his gaddi as of right, but as a gift from
theparamountpower, This,coupled withtherightof the Crown toregu-
late the status and salutes of the rulers and to confer titles and decora-
tions, had the effect of binding the rulers more closely to the Grown.

F\©
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The political and cconnomic consolidation of India ncccssimti‘d
further encroachments on the internal sovereignty ol the rulers: {or
example, in the casc of railway and tclegraph construction, the
limitation of armaments, coinage and currency, the opium policy
and the administration of cantonments. The rulers’ cousent o
these mengures was not sought, partly because they were often evol-
ved piccemeal (rom precedents allecting individual States and parily
beeause, under the policy ol isolation, it would have heen dillicult to
sccure their joint assent to them within a reasonable period. The
result was that a body of usage influencing the Government’s rela-
tions with the States camc into force through a process which, how-
ever bencvolent in intention, was nevertheless arbitrary.

Successive viceroys laid emphasis upon the duties and responsibil-
ities of the rulers. The classic instance was the speech of Lord Curzon
at the installation ol the ruler of Bahawalpur. He exhorted the
Indian ruler to be “the scrvant as well as the master of his people 3’
cmphasized that ‘his revenucs arc not sceured to him lor his own
selfish gratification but for the good ol his subjects ;> avowed that
“his internal administration is only exempt [rom correction in pro-
portion as it is honest ;> advised him that “his gadd: 1s not intended
to be a divan of indulgence but the stern seal of duty ;” pointed out
that “his figure should not be werely known on the playground or
on the race courscorin the Buropean hotel” and that ‘his real work,
his princely duly, lies among his own people ;” and warned him lastly
that ‘by this test will he, 1n the long run, as a political instilution
perish or survive.” These were undoubtedly very laudable senti-
ments, but little was done to translatc them into practice.

A definite pattern of the Government of India’s relationship with
the States in all its details had been developed by the time the fitst
World War broke out in August 1914. The rulers rallied o fight
for the Empire in tts hour of peril, offering both their personal ser-
vices and the resources of their States. Nol only did they help
Britain lavishly with men, material and money, but some ol thew
even served as officers in different theatres of war,

The organization of the war eflort involved closer co-ordination
of administrative activity in the States as well as in the provinces.
Lord Hardinge, as well as his successor Lord Chelmsford, held periocl-
ical conferences of the leading rulers with a view to furthering the
war effort. In welcoming this new development a few of the lea{ding
rulers stressed the essential identity of intercsis between the two
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halves of India and cxpressed the hope that what had now become
an annual conference would develop into a permanent Council or
Assembly of Princes.

Throughout the country the tide of national aspirations was rising
{fast. Though the Congress was not yet the popular organization it
was to bc under Gandhiji’s leadership and had not, {or instance,
resorted (0 any mass movements, it was slowly cutting itself loose
from the leadership of the moderates, The emergence of leaders
like Talak broadened the hold of the organization upon the people
at large,

Britain claimed to be fighting a war to defend {reedom and democ-
racy; but the system of government by which she continued to hold
India in nnperial thrall was clearly at variance with her professed
aimg, LThe British Government recognized that the situation needed
new handling and that there was an imperative and urgent need for
ancw policy. Accordingly, Edwin Samucl Montagu, the Secretary of
state for India, made the historic announcement of 20 August 1917:

The policy of Ilis Majesty’s Government, with which the Govern-
ment of India are in complete accord, is that of the increasing association
of Indians in every branch of the administration and the gradual develop-
ment of self-governing institutions with a view to the progressive realisa-
tion of responsible government in India as an integral part of the British
Empire.

Soon alier making ihis announcement, Montagu came to India
and the Viceroy and he together toured the country. In the course
of their itinerary they met not only the leaders of public opinion in
British India, but also several leading rulers, The Conference of
Ruling Princes appointed a committee which presenied a memoran-
dum. In the summer of 1918, Montagu and Chelmsford published
a joint report on Constitutional Reforms. Though the joint inquiry
did not hring aboutl any far-reaching changes in the position of the
States, it was ol historical importance in so far as it was the first major
investigation into the relations of the States with the rest of India
and with the paramount power. That the inquiry was conducied
jointly by the Viceroy and the Secretary of State gave it added signi-
ficance.

The authors of the joint report paid glowing tributes to the princes
for the part played by them in the war, which had demonstrated
their immense value as part of the policy of India. They observed

that the political stir in British India could not be a matter of
4
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indifference to the princes, since hopes and agpiralinns were f}.pl to
overleap frontier lines like sparks across a strecl. Reforms in the
Siates could not be brought about as a dircct result of constitutional
changes in British India; they could come only through the permea-
tion of ideas. It was stressed that the rulers of the States and the
noliticians in British India should respect cach other’s hounds.

Looking ahead to the future, the authors ol the report pictured
India as presenting only the external semblance of some form of
federation. They visualized that the provinces would ultimalely
become self-governing units, held together by a Gentral Government
which would deal solely with matters of common coucerns 1o all of
them, But the matters common to the provinces were also to a great
extent those in which the States were intcresied, namcly, delence,
tariffs, exchange, opium, salt, railways, and posts and tclegraphs.
The gradual concentration of the Government ol India upon such
matters would thercefore make il easier for the States, while retaining
their autonomy, to enter inio closer association with the Central
Government if they wished to do so.

The report next dealt with the feeling expressed by some rulers
that the mecasure of sovereignty and independence guaranteed to
them by the British Government had not been accorded in {ull and
that in course of time their individual rights and privileges would
probably be whittled away. This feeling was ascribed o two causcs,

In the first place, the expression ‘Native States” was being applied
to a collection of about seven hundred rulerships with widely different
characterisiics, ranging from States with full autonomy {o those in
which the Government of India excrcised large powers ol internal
control, down to the owners of a few acres of land. Uniformity of
terminology tended to obscure distinctions of status and a practice
appropriate in the case of lesser States might inadvertently be applied
to the greater ones also. The authors were convinced that it would
assist and improve relations between the Crown and the States il a
definitc line could be drawn separating rulers who enjoyed full
powers of internal adminisiration from others who did not. Indeed,
their proposals were based on this assumption and were expressed
to relate only to rulers of the former class.

In the second place, there was the fact that the provision in many
of the treaties guaranteeing the internal sovercignty of the rulers did
not preclude the Government of India from interfering in the adminis-
tration of the States. Such interference, the authors remarked, hacl
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not been employed in wanton disregard of treaty obligations. Duaring
the carly days British agents found themselves compelled, ofien
against their will, to assume responsibility for the wellare of the peo-
ple, to restore order [tom chaos, Lo prevent inhuman practices, and to
guide the hands of a weak or incompctent ruler as the only alternative
io the termination of his rule, So, too, had the Government of India
to acknowledgc, as trustee, a responsibility for the proper administra-
tion of States during a minority, and also an obligation for the pre-
vention or correction of flagrant misgovernment. Moreover, a posi-
tion had been taken up by Government thal the conditions undcer
which some of the treatics were executed had undergone malctial
changes and theliteral fulfilment of particular obligations had become
impracticable. Practice was based on the theory that treatics must
bc read as a whole and that they must be interpreied in the light of
relattons cstablished between the partics not only at the time when
a particular treaty was made, but subsequently. The result was that
around the treaties there had grown up a body of case-law, for a
proper appreciation of which one would have to explore Governs-
ment archives and relevant text-books. The position caused uncast-
ness 1o some rulers who fearced that usage and precedent were exer-
cising a levelling and corroding influcnce upon the treaty rights of
individual States,

The authors concluded that there was some ambiguity and mis-
undersianding as to the cxact position. They suggested that the time
had come when ‘it would be well 1o review the situation, of course
only by consent of partics, not necessarily with a view Lo any change
of policy, but in order to simplily, standardize, and codify existing
practice for the future.” They felt, too, that the rulers should be
assurcd in the fullest and freest manner that no constitutional changes
that might take place would impair the rights, dignities and privi-
leges sccurcd to them by treatics, sanads and engagements, or by
established practice.

Indecd, the authors of the Montagu-Chelmsford report felt that
the time had come to end the isolation of the rulers and thal steps
should he taken for joini consultations and discussions by them
for the [urtherance of their common interests. Lord Lytton had at
one time suggested the formation of an Imperial Privy Council
which should comprise some of the great rulers, but his suggestion
found no accepiance with the then Secretary of State. Lord Gurzon’s
plan for the formation of a Council of Ruling Princes had also been
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brushed aside by His Majesty’s Government; and Lord 'Minm’s
subsequent scheme for an Advisory Council of ‘r}ders and h}g land-
holders to combat the political discontent prevailing at the time ‘mct
with the same f(ate. But during the viccroyaltics of Loid Hardinge
and Lord Chelmsford, confercnces ol rulers became a regular fealute,
The joint authors suggested that these ad foc co:;fcrenfzcs S}lOll'ld he
replaced by a permancni body known as the (Iounfnl ol .Pruu:.vs,,
which would give the rulers ‘the opportunity ol mforming the
Government as to their sentiments and wishes, of broadening their
outlook and of conferring with one another and with the Govern-
ment.’

Another recommendation was thal the Council of Princes should
annually appoint a small Standing Committee to advise the Political
Department on matters affecting the States, particularly matters
of custom and usage. It was also recommended that, in the case of
disputes between States, or between a State and a provincial govern-
ment or the Government of India, the Viceroy in his discretion
should appoint a commission composed of a High Court Judge aud
one nomince of each of the parties to advise him. Further, should a
question ever arise of depriving the ruler of a State of his rights,
dignity or powers or of debarring from succession any member ol his
tamily, the Viceroy should appoint a commuission of cnquiry consist-
ing of a High Court Judge, two ruling princes and two persons ol
high standing nominated by him,

A still further recommendation was that all States possessing full
internal powers should be placed in direct relations with the Govern-
ment of India and that ‘relations with States’ was a subject which
should be excluded from transfer to the control of the provincial
legislatures. Finally, the report rccommended that arrangements
should be made for joint deliberation and discussion between the
Council of Princes and the Council of Stale (the proposed Upper
House of the Central Legislature) on matiers of common interest,

The Government ol India consulted the rulers in regard to thesc
recommendations. The report had, as alrcady stated, suggested
that a definite linc should be drawn separating the rulers who
enjoyed full powers of internal administration [rom the others and
that the Council of Princes should consist only of rulers in the
[ormer category. The Conference of Ruling Princes and Chicfs,
which met at Delhi in January 1919, recommended that the rulers
ol States having full and unresiricted powers of civil and criminal
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jurisdiction tn their States and the power to make their own laws
should be termed “Sovereign Princes’ as against those who lacked
such powers. The Government of India thought that the application
of the term Bovcrmgn Princes’ to a selcct class of rulers would be
inappropriale since, on the one hand, it would suggest that they
possessed complete sovercign powers which was not the case and,
on the other, it would imply that the powers exercised by rulers in
the lower class were nof sovereign powers—a theory which would
cxcite much justifiable indignation, It was finally decided that there
should nol be any line of demarcation between the rulers and that
both classes of rulers should find representation in the proposed
Chambcer of Princes.

The Chamber of Princes was brought into being by a Royal
Proclamation on 8 February 1921, The ceremony of inauguration
was performed by the Duke 9f Connaught, on behalf of the King-
Emperor, in the Dewan-i-am of the Moghul Red Fort in Delhi, The
Chamber was to be a deliberative, consultative and advisory body.
The Proclamation defined 1ts limits:

My Viceroy will take 1its counsel freely in matters relating to the
territories of Indian States .generally and in inatters that affect thesc
territories jointly with British India or with the rest of my Empire. It
will have no concern with the internal affairs of individual States or
their Rulers or with the velations of individual States with my Govern-
ment, while the existing rights of these States and their freedom of action
will in no way be prejudiced or impaired.

The Viceroy was to be the President of the Chamber and the
members were 1o elect annually a Chancellor and a Pro-Chancellor
from among themselves. The Chamber! was to contain, in the frst
place, 108 rulers who were to be members 1n their own right, These
were rulers enjoying permanent dynastic salutes of eleven guns and
over, togcther with rulers of other States who cxercised such full
powers as, in the opinion of the Viceroy, qualificd them for individual
admission. By a system of group voting, the Chamber was to include
12 additional mcembers elccted by the rulers of 127 non-salute States.

The most important recommendation of the Montagu-Chelms-
ford report was that relating 1o the codification of political practice.
This roused much controversy and discussion among the rulers.
Some of them accepted the position that, in the matter of the main-
tenance of treaty obligations, the relations of the Government of

1 Some important States like Hyderabad and Mysore stood aloof from the Chamber,
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Tudia with the rulers were necessavily subject to variation through
constant development of constitutional doctrine and that the literal
fulfilment of an obligation might become impossible, cither thfqugh
change of essential circumstances or by the mere passage of tume.

But there were others who held it to be in the interests of both the
British Government and the States not to swerve an inch [rom the
pravisions of the treatics unless they were modificd by 111111,1.1;1,1
consent. They believed that the tide of usage and political practice
had already undermined the foundations of the treatics and they
saw no reason why it should not eventually engull them, unless some
barrier could be interposed. The Government of India, recognizing
the justice of some of these arguments, [elt that they were no longer
entitled to exclude the rulers from a sharc in the framing ol any
practice which might have a bearing upon their prerogatives. The
policy hitherto followed was that the superintendence, direction and
conirol of the development of constitutional doclrine must remain
in the hands of the paramount power; that any rules which the para-
mount power might frame for the guidance of its represcniatives i
matters not provided for by treaties or otherwise were 1n the nature
of scl-denying ordinances which, however morally binding, were
not suitable for promulgation and which, i’ codificd, would tend to
restrict unduly its inherent freedom of action. But times and cir-
cumstances had altered; many of the States had made considerable
progress in administration, and the cstablishment of the Chamber
of Princes, in which the rulers could voice their collective needs and
aspirations, had ended the phase of isolation, Further, it would be
obviously to the advantage of the Government that the concurrence
of the rulers should be secured, so far as possible, 1o the application
of doctrines which were outside the treaty framework, since this
would allay unjust suspicions and rclieve the Government and their
officials of charges of despotic and capricious interference. Thus, the
Government of India were convinced that it was necessary, on grounds
of fairness and expediency, to take the rulers into confidence un-
reservedly in regard to the revision and development of that portion
of political docirine which was capable of being expressed in the
lorm of general principles, in so far as it was based on considerations
other than treaty rights. Accordingly, they accepted a proposal
made by some of the rulers for the appointment of a Committee,
comprising six rulers, the Law Member and the Political Secretary,
to investigate the matter, This Committee did some useful work.
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Later, in 1921, its work was taken over by the Standing Committee
of the Chamber of Princes. The Standing Committce maintained a
close liaison with the Political Department and discussed various
igsues. The conclusions reached from iime to time were published
as resolutions of the Political Department.

The Government of India aceepted the procedure recommended
by the Monlagu-Chelmsford Report for the settlement of dis-
putes between otates, or between a State and a provincial govern-
ment or the Government of India; also the procedurce 1o be followed
on the question of deposing a ruler or debarring from succession
members ol his family. In both cases, it was decided that a com-
missiont ol inguiry should be appointed by the Viceroy lo advise
him, unless the ruler himself desivred that the case should be decided
by the Viceroy petsonally.

The process ol placing the States in dircct relations with the
Government of India iook considerable time to complele and,
indeed, was not finished until well inte the ’thirties. Some of the
provincial governments were against the change; Sir George Lloyd,
Governor of Bombay, {or instance, opposed il in language reminis-
cent of ithe minutes of Sir Philip Francis and Warren Hastings. It
must be stated, lowever, that the isolation of States consequent on
their being brought into direct relations with the Government of
India militated against their administrative standards keeping pace
with those of the neighbouring provinces.

But no attempt was made to have joint deliberations of the Cham-
ber of Princes and the Gouncil of State. The gradual bringing toge-
ther of the States and British India remained a pious hope. The
paramount powcr continued io be paramouint and paramountcy
remaincd as vague and undefined as ever.
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SPOKES IN THE WHEEL

=¥ H L introduction of the Montagu-Chelmsford Reforms was
| preceded by a tremendous national upsurgence throughout the
L country. The severity of the martial law regime in the Punjab
and the holocaust of Jallianwalla Bagh hadinflamed the masses gener-
ally. The Muslims in particular were deeply agitated over the terms
of the draft Treaty of Sévres, which threatencd dismemberment ol
the Caliphate. Gandhiji preached non-violent non-co-operation not
only to redress the Punjab and Khilafat wrongs hut to win swaraj,
which by 1929 came to be defined as complete independence, The
Clongress accepted Gandhiji’s programme. It became a revolution-
ary body pledged to the triple boycott of the new legislatures, the law
courts and educational inslitutions, with a vicew to launching mass
civil disobedience. The Government had an anxious time in the face
of this campaign of dircct action.

In 1923, following the suspension of the non-co-operation move-
ment and the arrest and conviction of Gandhiji, a section of Congress-
men led by Chiltaranjan Das and Pandit Motilal Nchru lormed with-
in the Congress the ‘Swarajist Party’, with the object of wrecking the
legislatures, both central and provincial, from within. This parly won
considerable success in the general elections of that year. It made the
working of dyarchy impossible in Bengal and the Central Provingces.
In the Central Legislative Assembly the Swarajists, who made their
presence felt in more ways than one, put lorward a demantl for the
immediate grant of Dominion Status. In the course of the debate, Siv
Malcolm Hailey, who was Home Member at the time, enquired of
the Swarajists whether they contemplated extending Dominion Status
to the Indian States as well and, if so, whether the States had
agreed to the proposition and on whalt terms, Pandit Motilal Nehru

replied unequivocally that if the States wanted to come in lheir
representatives would be welcome; otherwise not.
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The Swarajist leader’s pronouncement was altogether in con-
sonance with the Congress attitude towards the States. At the Nag-
pur session held in December 1920, the Congress had clearly laid
down its policy as being one of non-intervention in the iniernal
aflairs of the States. In January 1925, Gandhiji while presiding
over the Kathiawar Political Conference, declared that ‘just as the
National Congress cannot have any effcclive voice in the rclations
between Indian States and the British Government, even so will
its interference be ineffective as to the relations between the Indian
States and their subjects” He even went so far as to say that all
would be well if British India became self-governing, The Congress
did not want a fight on two fronts; and it had no organization worth
menlioning in the States.

Lord Irwin was appointed as Viceroy in April 1926, He felt
that the political situation in the country demanded some gesture
on the part of His Majesty’s Government, His Majesty’s Govern-
mecnt were in agreement with his view, Accordingly in March 1927
they announced their decision to appoint a Statutory Commis-
sion to enquire into the working of the Government of India Act
of 1919 and (o make recommendations regarding turther constilu-
tional advance. The personnel of the Commission under the chair-
manship of Sir John (later Viscount) Simon and its tecins of reference
were announced in November 1927,

The States were not going to be left oul of the picture. With
reference to certain published correspondence which had passed
between the Viceroy and the Nizam of Hyderabad with regard to
Berar, the late Maharajah of Patiala, in November 1926, made a
statement on behalf of the rulers that they had € perused with deep
concern certain phrases employed and doctrines cnunciated”’ in the
corrcgpondence. This was followed by a demand, made at a con-
ference of rulers convened by the Viceroy at Simla in May 1927, for an
impartial inquiry into the whole relationshipbetweentherulersand the
paramouni power, The Secretary of State, Lord Birkenhead, thought
the appointment of the Simon Commission a good opportunity for
acceding to the rulers’ demand and on 16 December 1927 appointed
a Commitiec of three members, headed by Sir Harcourt Butler and
including Professor W. S. Holdsworth and the Hon’ble 8. C. Peel,
to inquire into the relationship between the States and the paramount
power and to suggest means for the more satisfactory adjustment of
the existing economic relations between the States and British India.

5
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Siy Harcourt Butler and his two colleagues came to India 1n
January 1928 and visited sixtcen of the States. The Committee’s pro-
ceedings were held i camera, On the pleca that it was outside their
terms of reference, they did not examine the representalives of the
States’ subjects. They did however accept a written stalement from
the All-India States People’s Conference which had been formed in
December 1927 with the object of attaining ‘responsible government
for the people in the Indian States through representative institu-
tions under the aegis of their rulers.’

The bulk of the Committee’s work in hearing the case for the rulers
was done in England., The rulers had engaged cminent British con-
stitutional lawyers headed by Sir Leslic Scott, x.c. to argue their
case,! which they did with great skill. Sir Leslie Scott urged that
in the analysis of the relationship belween the States and the Crown,
legal principles should both be enunciated and applicd. It was con-
tended that the Stiates possessed all original sovereign powers except
those which had been transferred with their consent to the Crown;
that such transfer could be effected by the consent of the States and
in no other way; and that paramountcy existed and gave {o the
Crown definite rights and imposed on 1t definite duties in respect
of certain matters only —those relating to foreign aflairs and exter-
nal and internal security—and did not confer upon the Crown
any authority outside thesc spheres. It was held that usage could
not be alleged where agreement was absent; that therc might be
certain cases in which the paramount power would be clearly entitled
to interfere, but that therc was no general digcretionary right on the
part of the paramount power to interfere with the internal sover-
eignty of the States. The relationship between the Crown and the
states 1nvolved mutual rights and obligations. Counsel avowed
that ‘the duties which lic upon the Crown to ensure thc cxternal
and intcrnal security of the States and 1o keep available whatever
armed {orces may be necessary for these purposes are plain.’

Sir Leslie Scott’s crowning achicvement lay in evolving a new
theory. He argued that “the paramount power is the British Crown
and no one else; and it is to it that the States have entrusted their
loreign relations and external and internal sccurity.” He asserted
therefore that ‘the agency and machinery used by ithe Crown for

* Hyderabad, Mysore and Travancore and cerlain Kathiawar States declined to
be represented by Sir Leslie Scott and preferred to state their case directly, in writing.
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carrying out its obligations must not be of such a character as to
make it politically impracticable for the Crown to carry out its
obligations in a satisfactory manner.” He concluded that the obliga-
itons and duties which the States and the paramount power had
undertaken required mutual [aith and trust and entailed a closc and
constant Intercoutse between the parties; therefore the States could
not bc compelled to transfer to a third party their loyalty to the
British Crown.

On the question of the limitation of paramountcy, the Butler
Committee disagreed with the views propounded by Sir Leslie Scott.
The Committee held that the relationship of the paramount pewer
with the States was not merely a contractual relationship resting
on treatics made morc than a century ago, but that it was a living,
growing rclationship shaped by circumstances and policy, resting
on a mixture of history, theory and modern fact. It was not histori-
cally correct to assume that when the States came into contact with
the British power they were independent, each possessed of full sover-
eignty and of a status which a modern international lawyer could
hold to be governed by the rulers of international law. In fact, none
of the States had cver had international status. Nearly all of them
were subordinate or tributary to the Moghul Empire, the Malratta
Conlederacy or the Sikh Kingdom, and were dependent on_them,
Some were rescucd by the British and others were created b, them.
The Committee refused Lo define paramountcy but asserted that
‘paramountcy must remain paramount; it must fulfilits obligations,
defining or adapting itself according to the shifting necessities of the
time and the progressive development of the States.’

At the same lime the Butler Committee showed itself only too
ready to accept the ingenious suggestion of Sir Leslie Scott that the
rulers should not be handed over without their prior agreement Lo
an Indian Government in British India responsible to an Indian
legislature, The Commitiee siated:

If any government in the nature of a Dominion Government should
be constituted in British India, such a government would clearly be a
new government resting on a new and written constilution, The contin-
gency has not arisen. .. We feel bound, however, to draw attention to
the really grave apprehension of the princes on this score and to record
our strong opinion that, in view of the fact of the historical nature of the rel-
ationship belween the paramount power and the princes, the latter should
not be transferred without their agreement to a relationship with a
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new government in British India responsible to an Indian legislature.

Thus was laid the foundation of a policy whereby, in later years, a
wedge was to be effectively driven belween the States and British
India.

The Butler Committee also proposed thatl the Viceroy, not Lhe
Governor-General in Council, should be the agent of the Crown
in all dealings with the States. Such a change, it was argued, would
gratify the rulers. The Committce showered encomiums on the work
of the Political Department and suggested that ‘the time has come
to recruit separately from the universities in England [or scrvice in
the States alone’ instead of the prevailing practice of recruiting for
political service from the Indian Civil Scrvice and the Indian Army.

With regard to the financial and economic relations between
British India and the States, the Commitiee merely expressed some
pious platitudes and broke no new ground.

The rulers were certainly disappointed with the finding of the
Butler Committee with regard to their main hope of being {reed from
the unfettered discretion of the Political Department to intervenc
in their internal affairs. The disappointment was all the greater
because no etlort or expense had been spared in preparing and pre-
septing their case to the Committee. At the same lime, they were
relieved that the stafus guo was to be maintained and that there was
to be no immediate danger to their position.

Nationalist opinion in the country viewed the recommendations
of the Butler Committece with grave apprchension. An emphatic
protest was entered in the report! of the Commitiee (presided over
by Pandit Motilal Nehru) which had been appointed by the All
Parties’ Conference in 1928 to frame a Dominion Constitution [or
India. The report stressed the historical, religious, sociological and
economic affinities between the people of British India and of the
otates and uttered the warning:

It 18 mconceivable that the people of the States who ave fired by the
same ambitions and aspirations as the people of British India will quictly
submit to existing conditions for ever, or that the people of British India
bound by the closest ties of family, race and religion to their brethren

on the other side of an imaginary line will never make commmon causc with
them,

The report stressed that the matter should have heen discussed at a

t'Thaugh the Butler Committee’s report was published some time after the Nehru
report,y Sir Leslie Scott’s memorandum had already found its way to the press,
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Round Table Conference of the representatives ol the British Govern-
ment, the rulers, their subjects and the people of British India. The
Nchru Commiilce had no doubi that ‘an attempt is being made to
convert the Indian States into an Indian Ulster by pressing consti-
tutional thecries into service.’

The report declared that the Government of India as a Dominion
‘will be as much the King’s Government as the present Government
of India 1s, and that there is no constituiional objection o the Domi-
nion Government of India stepping into the shoes of the present
Government of India.” The rulers were warned that if they decided
to take their stand upon the position so ingeniously argued for them,
British India would substantially discount their profession of sym-
pathy with its aspiration to Dominton Status. It was pointed out
that the acceptance of Sir Leslie Scott’s theory would mean that
Dominion Status for India was ruled out for all time. The Nehru
report concluded with the words: “The natural and legitimate aspira-
tions of India cannot and will not be allowed to be delcated or
checkmated by ingenious arguments which have no application to
facts.”

The Nchru Committee was limited under its terms of reference
to the framing of a constitution embracing Brilish India alone.
In the course of its work, it rcalized that it was necessary that the
otales should also be brought into the picture. It finally accepled
the ideca of an all-India federation which had been suggested as a
solution of the problem. It assured the Stales that, if they were will-
1ng 1o join such a federation, ‘we shall heartily welcome their deci-
sion and do all that lics in our power to secure o them the full enjoy-
ment of their rights and privileges. But it must be clearly borne in
mind that it would necessitate, perhaps in varying degrecs, a modi-
fication of the system of government and administration prevailing
within their terrvitories. We hope and trust that, in the light of experi-
ence gained, the Indian States may make up their mind to join
formally the Tederation.’ The Commitlee accordingly provided
in its drafl constitution that all treaties made between the East India
Company and the States, and any subsequent treaties still in force,
should be binding on the new Government of British India and
that the ncw government should exercisc the same rights in relation
to, and discharge the same obligations towards, the States as the
Government of India had exercised and discharged hitherto.

In the meantime, the Simon Commission was carrying on its

FEh E?h:
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enquiry. All the leading Indian political paities had decided not to
co-operate with the Commission since not a single Indian hacd been
included in it. The Central Legislative Asscmbly refused to appoint
a committee {o assist it. Its proceedings were rigidly boycotted; and
the Commuission encounteicd hostile demonstrations all over the
couniry. The situation in the spring of 1929 looked disturbing and
bleak, In Octoher 1929 Sir John Simon wrote to the Biitish Prime
Minister that the Commuission had entered upon the final stages of
its work and hoped to be able to present its report carly the following
year. o1ir John emphasized that in considering the direction which
future development of India was likely to take, it was of immense
importance to bear in mind the relations which might develop bet-
ween British India and the Indian States. He suggested a scheme of
procedure to follow the publication of the Commitiec’s report, under
which the Indian States would be brought into consuliaiion, along
with the British Government and representatives of different partics
and interests in British India, with a view to sceking a full solution of
the Indian problem as a whole.

The Viceroy, Lord Irwin, left for England at the close of Junc
1929 to confer with the British Government. There had been a gen-
eral election in Britain and a Labour Government had come into
power with Ramsay MacDonald as Prime Minister. On his relurn,
Lord Irwin made an oflicial pronouncement to the effect that ¢ the
natural issue ol India’s constitutional progress is the attainment of
Dominion Status.” He also announced thal the British Government
had accepted the suggestion made by Sir John Simon for a Round
Table Conference.

This announcement killed whatever interest there had heen in
the Simon Commission, whose report when published evoked little
or no cnthusiasm. In order to complete the picture, however, a
summary of its main recommendations regarding the Indian States
is necessary. The report agreed with the recommendations of the
Butler Committee that the exercise of paramountey should be in the
hands of the Viceroy as distinguished from the Governor-General.,
I quoted profusely from the development of federation in Canada
and stressed the need for cautious advance in India. It made three
concrete proposals, Firstly, it recommended that a serlous and busi-
nesslike effort should be made to draw up a list of those ‘ matters of
common concern’ hetween British India and the States so ollen
referred to bul scldom defined. Secondly, it proposcd that the
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prcamble to any new Government of India Act should put on record
the desire Lo develop closer association between the Staties and British
India. Thirdly, 11 suggested the setting up of a standing consultative
body containing represenlatives from both British India and the
States, to be called the Council for Greater India, with powers of dis-
cussion and of reaching and recording deliberative results on topics
falling within the list of “maiters of common concern’, The Council
was to be a beginning which might one day lead to Indian feder-
ation. ‘What we arc proposing,’ said the Commission, ‘is merely a
throwing across the gap of the first strands which may in lime mark
the linc of a solid and enduring bridge.’

The report of the Simon Commission was submitted in May 19350,
The Government of India’s recommendations thercon were sent 10
the Secretary of State in September. There was, they said, an cssen-
tial unity embracing the whole of India, which they hoped would at
some future time [ind cxpression in certain joint political inslitutions.
But they agreed with the Gommission that the federal idea was at
present distant, and that the {ederation of Greater India, to which
they looked forward, could not be artificially hastencd. In the
Government of India’s view, the time had not yet come when the
gencral body of the States would be prepared to take a step so far-
reaching in its character as entering inlo any formal federal relalions
with British India. Therefore, they saw the immediate problem
as one relating (o constilutional development in British India
alone.

The first Round Table Conference was held in London in the
winter of 1930. The Congress had refused the invilalion to attend,
The Lahore session of the Congress in December 1929 had voted for
complete independence; and in April 1930 the Congress, under
Gandhiji’s leadership, had launched a mass campaign of salt satya-
graha and civil disobedience, The maintenance of law and order was
seriously threatened, and it was against the background of an India
seething with discontent that the first Round Table Conference met
in London,

The three British political parties were represenied at the Round
Table Gonlerence by sixteen delegates; and the Prime Minister,
Ramsay MacDonald, presided. There were fifty-seven political
leaders from British India and sixteen delegates from the States,
including the rulers of Kashmir, Baroda, Patiala, Indore, Bikaner,
Bhopal, Rewa, Alwar, Nawanagar, Dholpur, Korea, Sangli and
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Sarila, besides Sir Akbar Hydari (Hyderabad), Sir Mirza Ismail
(Mysore) and Colonel (later Sir) Kailas Narain Haksar (Gwalior),

The delegates from India arrived in London by the end of Octlober
1930 and the formal opening of the Round Table Gonlerence by the
King took place on 12 November. The actual work of the Gonlference
began only on the 17th. In the interval, numerous informal discus-
sions took place between the British Indian delegates and represen-
talives of the States.

On the first day of the plenary scssion of the Gonference, Sir Tcj
Pahadur Sapru, one of the chief spokesmen of the delegates from
British India, declared himself decisively for a federal, not a unitary,
system of government at the centre and invited the rulers to agree
forthwith to the creation of an all-India federation. The rulers would
furnish, he said, a stabilizing factor; their adherence would enable
the process of national unification to begin without delay; and British
India would benefit from their experience in madtters of defence.
Sir Muhammad Shafi for one wing of the Muslim League and M. A.
Jinnah for the other were in {ull agreement with dir Tej Bahadur;
both welcomed an all-India federation.

The Maharajah of Bikaner, the lale Sir Ganga Singh, identified
himself and the princely order with the aspirations of British India
and with “that passion for an equal status in the cyes of the world,
expressed in the desire for Dominion Status which is the dominant
forcc amongst all thinking Indians today.” e agreed that India
must be united on a federal basis and gavc an assurance that the
rulers would come in provided their rights were guaranteed. The
Nawab of Bhopal, Sir Hamidullah Khan, went one step further and
avowed: ‘We can only federate with a sclf-governing and [ederal
British India’ This virtually created a common Indian {ront.

Therc were several reasons which prompted this response from the
rulers. Few States were entircly untouched by the mass awakening
in British India. In some of them, disturbances had taken place
and authority had been challenged. Few of the rulers had any
illusion as to what would happen if a campaign of civil disobedicnce
were launched in their States, Morcover, the rulers were convinced
that it would be more difficult to drive a good bargain if they waited
till they were faced with a united and self-governing British India.
Some of the leading rulers who controlled the Chamber of Princes
were actually under the impression that their States would derive
financial benefits by joining the federation. A few were actuated by
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personal ambition and looked forward to cxercising a great influence
in the adminisiration and possibly to holding high offices in the new
government. That a Labour Government was in power was also an
important [actor in determining their attitude.

Not all the rulers, however, were united in welcoming the federal
idca. While the federationists were led by the Maharajah of Bikaner
and the Nawab of Bhopal, there was another group led by ihe late
Maharajah of Patiala, Sir Bhupindar Singh. This group regarded a
confederation of States, or ‘Indian India’ as it was called, as a neces-
sary prcliminary to any association with British India. This view
commanded good support especially {from the rulers of smaller
States who saw in this scheme their only chance of avoiding federal
control in their internal affairs,

A Federal Structurc Sub-Commilttee was appointed with Lord
Sankey as Chairman and representatives both from the States and
British India. Iis report, presenied on 15 January 1931, conlained a
comprechensive series of provisional decisions on matters on which
the members of the Sub~-Commitiee were more or less agreed, The
States and the provinces were to be united in a federation. There
would be certain agreed safeguards for a transitional period. The
federal legislature would include members {rom British India and
representatives from the States nominated by the rulers. The central
cabinet would be chosen from amongst the members of the federal
legislature; but there would be only limited responsibility at the
Centre for the transitional period. No attemptl was, however, made
to secure a formal acceptance of the report by the Conference,

The general tone of the speeches at the conclusion of the Confer-
ence was harmonious and optimistic. The agreement on an all-India
federation was hailed as a great achievement.

“A Round Table Conference to evolve a constitution for India
without the participation of the Congress was like enacting
Hamiet without the Prince of Denmark, A week after the adjourn-
meunt of the first Round Table Conf ercncc_, Lord Irwin ordered the
unconditional release of all the members of the Congress Working
Committee including those who had been acting as such since
civil disobedience started, Ultimately an understanding was reached
between the Congress and the Government, The Gandhi-Irwin
Pact, as it was called, was signed on 5 March 1931, By this Pact the
Government agreed to release all the political prisoners and the
Congress to suspend the civil disobedience movement, The Congress

6
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agreed to participate in the Round Table Conference and, at the
Karachi session of the Congress on 30 March Gandhiji was appoint-
ed to represent the Congress “with the addition of such delegates as
the Working Committee may appoint to act under his leadership.’

The second session of the Conference opened on 7 Scptember 1931
and included, besides Gandhiji, ncw-comers like Pandit Madan
Mohan Malaviya, Mrs Sarojini Naidu, Sir Ali Imam, Sir Muhammad
Ighal and G. D. Bitla. Most of the leading personalities of the first
scssion wete back in their places and the composition of the British
dclegation was much the same as hefore. Towards the end of Oclober,
a general election took place in Britain and a Coalition Government
came to power, with Ramsay MacDonald continuing as Prime
Minister but with the Conservatives as the dominant party. Sir
Samuel Hoare replaced Wedgwood Benn as Sccretary ol State for
India,

The session was almost entirely dominated by Gandhiji, who was
not opposed to the federal idea. He was, however, against dyarchy at
the Centre even for a transitional period. He claimed complete con-
trol over defence and external affairs. He insisted that responsible
government at the Centre must be established in full and at once.
The British Government did not accept Gandhiji’s demand. At the
end of the Conlference, the Prime Minister announced His Majesty’s
Government’s policy in the following words:

The great idea of an all-India federation still holds the field. The
principle of a responsible federal government, subject 1o cerlain reservations
and safeguards through a transition period, remains unchanged. And
we are all agreed that the Governors’ provinces of the future are to be
responsibly governed units, enjoying the greatest possible measure of
freedomn from outside interference and dictation in carrving out their
own policies in their own sphere.

This session was overshadowed by the communal problem, for
which Gandhiji tried hard to find a solution. In the end ‘ with decp
sorrow and deeper humiliation’ he had'to admit ‘utier failure to
secure an agreed solution of the communal question.’

‘There were divisions in the princely ranks too. The main lines of
cleavage were in regard to represeniation of the States in the federal
legislature and the financial liabilities of the federating States, As
regards representation, there were three main divisions, The major
wtates, notably Hyderabad, Mysore and Baroda, demanded represen-
tation in proportion to their importance and population. The
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Maharajah ol Bikaner favoured an upper house of two hundred and
fifty, with a filty per cent representation for the States, so that all
the members of the Ghamber of Princes might have a seat; he was
ready to offcr one or two addilional scats to the major States as a
sop. The Maharajah of Patiala continucd to sponsor a scheme for a
confeceration ol the States as a first step towards federation,

As regards {inance, the Federal Structure Sub-Clommittee’s find-
ings killed any hope that rulers could gain any financial profit by
joining the federation. The apprchension that the States mght pro-
bably have to contribute more, and not less, towards all-India ex-
penditure, that federal agencies might function in the Stales, and that
the Federal Supreme Court might gradually extend its jurisdiction
over States’ subjects disillusioned the rulers of any fancy that they
would be gamers by joining the federation. Sir Mirza Ismail in-
formed the Conference that Mysore would not join the federation
unless relieved ol its tribute; Sir Akbar Hydari suggested that unless
the Nizam’s wishes mn regard to Berar were satisfied, Hyderabad
would stand out; Baroda demanded satisfaction on the Port Okha
and Salt questions before business could be done, and so on. The
rulers gradually started turning their backs on federation and the
oullook at the conclusion of the second Round T'able Conference
was [ar from roscaie. Somc of the rulers now began to hope that
nothing would come out of the Conference and that they would be
able to continue their sheltered existence while Hindus and Muslims
pursued their differences in British India.

The third and last session of the Round T'able Conference assems-
bled on 17 November 1932, It wassmaller than its predecessors; only
foriy-six delegates attended. Sir Akbar Hydari and Sir Mirza Ismail
were there, as were most of the British Indian delegates, but none of
the important rulers was present, Moreover the Opposition Labour
Party refused 1o take part in the Conlerence. The serious gap at this
session, as at the first, was the absence of the Congress, for the Con-
gress had in the meantime launched another campaign of civil dis-
obedience. The important question considercd at this short session
was the composition of the federal legislature. The form of the States’
instrument ol accession to federation was also discussed., Anxiety
was expressed by the British Indian delegates at the delay in deciding
the terms on which the States would join the federation. It seemed,
said Sir Tej Bahadur Sapruy, as if no progress had been macde since
the rulers’ very generous and patriotic response to their invitation in
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1930. Was it certain, he asked, that the rulers were still willing to
come in if their rights were protected ? Sir Akbar Hydari replicd that
the greater the difficulties appeared, the greater also was the States’
determination to overcome them and attain the goal. But the
Conference could not rid itsell of the uneasy impression thatl the
enthusiasm of 1930 had waned and that, in fact, the rulers were now
marking time,

The Third Round Table Conference could not scttle ihe size of
the federal chambers, the proportion of British Indian and States’
representation and the allocation of States’ seats. The Viceroy was
therefore requested by the Secrelary of State to bring about an
agreement on these matters. He was asked to give adequate explana-
tion of the federal scheme to individual rulers well in advance and to
secure some indication of their views in order to prepare a favourable
atmospherc for the reception of the contemplated While Paper
containing His Majesty’s Government’s proposals for constitutional
acvance.

After consuliing some of the leading rulers and leaders of non-
Congress parties, the Viceroy suggested to the Secrciary of State
that the States should have 90 seats in an upper house of 225 and
125 seats in a lower house of 375, This was subscquently modified
by His Majesty’s Government. The allocation of the seals reserved
for the States was further discussed with the rulers. The Viceroy
finally suggested that all States with a salute of not less than seventcen
guns (there were 24 such States) should have the right of separate
representation 1n both the houses of the federal legislature. Such
scparate representation might also be given to a few populous fifteen-
gun and thirteen-gun States. The others werc to be grouped
regionally for the purpose of representation in the federal legis-
lature.

A conferencc of Political Officers was held in Delhi on 7 March
1933, when they were briefed on the proposed constitutional changes,
particularly with regard to the federal provisions. These officers
were to explain the implications and thefdvantages of an all-India
federation to individual rulers and to ascertain their attitude. The
Chamber of Princes met at about the same time and asked for a
number of safeguards, the grant of which, they maintained, was
essential before they could join the federation. They demanded that
the constitution should respect their ireaty rights; that therc should
be no interference in their internal affairs, and that a provision
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should be made for the States joining the federation collectively
through a confederation.

In March 1933, the proposals of His Majesty’s Government, in
the light of the three sessions of the Round Table Conference and
subsequent negotiations, were published in a White Paper; and in
April a Joint Sclect Committec of both Houses of Parliament was
appointed, with the Marquess of Linlithgow as Chairman, to consider
the [uture government of India with special reference to the White
Paper proposals. The Committee was authorized 1o call into consul-
tation dclegates from British India and the States. The Congress
was still in the wilderness and did not participate in these discussions.
The Joint Select Commiltice submitied its report in October 1934
aller an almost unbroken session of eighteen months.

On 12 December 1934, a motion that a Bill bascd on the Commit-
tec’s Report should be submitted to Parliament was carried in the
Housc of Commons; and on 19 December the Government of India
Bill wasintroduced. The Chamber of Princes appointed a Gommittee
of fiftcen otatcs’ ministers under the chairmanship of Sir Akbar
Hydari to examine the Bill, The Committec observed that ‘in some
important respects the Bill departs from the agreed position arrived
at during the meetings of the States’ representatives with His Majes-
ty’s Government,” It suggested a number of amendments and alter-
ations and declared that ‘without satislactory amendments on the
Iincs indicated, 1t would not be possible for them 1o recommend to
theiwr rulers and to the States generally the acceptance of the pro-
poscd scheme.’

A further conference of rulers and States’ representatives was held
i Bombay in February 1935 when it was resolved that ¢ the Bill and
the instrument of accession do not secure those vital interests and
tundamental requisites of the States on which they have throughout
laid great emphasis.’” The resolution added that ‘in their present
form and without satisfactory modification of, and alteration to, the
fundamental points, the Bill and the instrument of accession cannot
be regarded as acceptable to the Indian States.” The rulers of Patiala,
Bhopal and Bikaner addressed a nole to the Viceroy detailing
certain amendments, They pointed oul that the success of further
negotiations in relation to the scheme of federation would depend
entirely upon the extent Lo which the British Government were pre-
pared to accept those modifications.

The Secretary of State gave careful consideration to the views
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of the rulers and circularized, through the Viceroy, 2 memorandum
cxamining in detail the spccific points raised. It was made clear
that it was not the intention of His Majesty’s Government at that
stage 1o seek from the rulers an undertaking to enter federation or o
discuss new matters which had no bearing on the lorm of the Bill,
It was agreed, however, that the legal advisers of the rulers could
mect the parliamentary draftsmen and discuss any points at issue.
The debate on the Bill lasted for forty-three days in the House of
Commons and for thirtcen days in the House of Lords, Tts passage
was resisted at every stage by dichard Conservatives like Winston
Churchill in the House of Commons and Lord Salishury in the House
of Lords. The second and third readings were, however, carricd by
big majorities. On 4 August 1935, the Bill received the Royal assent.
The Government of India Act of 1935 provided [or a constitu-
tional relationship between the Indian States and British India on a
{ederal basis. A special feature of the scheme was that, whercas in
the case of the provinces accession to the federation was to be auto-
malic, in the case of the States it was to be voluntary. 1'he reasons
for treating the provinces and the States differently are cxplained
in the following extract from the Joint Select Commitice’s report
The main difficulties are two: that the Indian States arc wholly dif~
ferent in status and character from the Provinces of British India, and that
they are not prepared to federate on the same terms as il is proposed
to apply to the Provinces, On the first point the Indian States, unlike the
British Indian Provinces, possess sovereignty in various degrees and they
are, broadly speaking, under a system of personal povernment. Their
accesslon to a Pederation cannot therefore take place otherwise than by
the voluntary act of the Ruler of each State, and afler accession the
representatives of the acceding State in the Federal Legislalure will be
nominated by the Ruler and its subjects will continue 1o owe allegiance
to him, On the second point the Rulers have made it clear that while
they are willing to consider Federation now with the Provinces of British
India on certain terms, they could not, as sovereign States, agrec to the
exercise by a Federal Government in relation to them of a range of powers
identical in zall respects with those which that Govermnent will exercise
in relation to the Provinces on whom autonomy has yet to be conferred,
A State was considered to have acceded when its ruler executed
an instrument of accession and afier it was accepted hy Hig Majesty,
This instrument would empower the federal government, the federal
legislature, the federal court and any other federal authority (o exer-
cise in relation to the State such functions as might be vested in them
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by or under the Act; but the authority to perform such functions was
to be excrcised only in respect of those matters accepted by the ruler
as {eceral in Ins instiument of accession and subject to such limita-
tions as might be specified in it, Though accession was Lo be volun-
tary, rulers weie expected to accede on the first forty-seven items of
the fedeiral legislative list, including the item relating to fees in res-
peet of malters so accepled, and the content of accession was to be as
uniform as possible for all States. An instrument of accession would
become operative only when His Majesty had signified his acceplance
of 1.

The States” representatives in the upper and lower houses of the
federal legislatuie were 1o be appointed by the rulers and not clected.
The Council of State, or ihe upper chamber, was to consist of 156
members from British India and notl more than 104 from the federat-
ing States. The lower chamber, or the House of Assembly, was to
consist. of 250 representatives of British India and not more than
125 of the States.

It was only when a sufficient number of States had acceded (1)
Lo occupy 52 out of the 104 scats allotted to the States in the upper
house ol the federal legislature and (2) to make up halt the tolal
population of all the States, that His Majesty’s Government would
approach Parliament with a resolution to present an address
to His Majesty to declarc by Proclamation that, as from the day
therein appoinied, there should be united in a federation under the
Crown, by the name of the Federation of India, the Governors’
provinces and the Staies which had already acceded or which might
accede later,

The relationship of the rulers with the paramount power was
safeguarded by crealing a Crown Representative in addition to the
Governor-General. In the conduct of their affairg as members of the
federation, the States were 1o deal with the Governor-General as head
of the {ederal government; but in their relations with the paramount
power, they were to deal with the Crown Representative. The Act
permitied the same individual to hold both offices; and, in fact, the
same person was so appointed —with the style and title of * Vice-
roy’; but he had different secretarial and other agencies for his dual
functions,

The Government of India Act of 1935, other than the part relating
to federation, came into force on 1 April 1937, From that date, the
functions of the Crown in its relations with the States were entrusted
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to the Crown Representative; those functions included negotiations
with the rulers for their accession to the {federation.

The Viceroy who succeeded Lord Willingdon in 1936 was the
Marquess of Linlithgow, who had been the Chairman of the Joint
Select Committee on the Government of India Bill. He came to India
fired with the ambition to inaugurate the federation during his tenure
of office and the first thing to which he directed his attention was
how best to accomplish this expeditiously. He thought that a direct
personal approach to the rulers would induce many of them Lo accept
it. His plan was to send his own pcrsonal emissaries to the various
States to clear the rulers’ doubts so that they could make a final deci-
sion without delay, The emissaries he chose were Sir Couricnay
Latimer, Sir Francis Wylie and Sir Arthur Lothian, all of whom
belonged o the Political Service,

The Seccrctary of State viewed this procedure with a ceriain
amount of misgiving. Inthe end, however, he agreed to the Viceroy’s
proposal.

The emissaries were provided with draft copics of the mstrument
of accession, which had already bcen sent to the rulers, as well as
with written insiructions from the Viceroy. The draft instrument,
it was stated, represented the result of lengthy discussions in the
Government of India, in the India Office and between representa-
tives of the rulers and of His Majesty’s Government. The emissarics
were told that the draft constituted a balanced whole and, having
regard to the Government of India Act and to the history of the
federal scheme, the Viceroy hoped that any difficulties which the
rulers might experience in connexion with it would prove to be of
such a nature that, with the assistance and advice of the emissarics,
they could be dissipated without delay,

The three emissaries toured the various States in the winter of
1936-37 and met the rulers and their advisers. It became apparent
in the course of these discussions that the picture which the rulers
and their advisers had drawn in their own minds was of a consider-
ably less organic federation than that which was embodied in the
Government of India Act. The rulers made it clear that in their case
the urge to unity was not dominant, nor were they suppliants asking
to come in, The question that agilated them was not whether federa~
tion would enable them to contribute to the benefit of India as a
whole, but whether their own position would be better and safer
inside the federation than gutside it, In effcct, their attitude could be
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bricfly summed up thus: ‘We are being given the opportunity of
entering a [ederation [rom which, when once we are in, there is no
cscape. Nor, since the ultimate interpreter of the federal constitution
is the Federal Gourt, can the Government of India or anyone else
predict the course of future events or anticipate the use which federa~
tion will make of its powers. We owe it therefore to ourselves and 1o
our successors to saleguard to the utmost our own position inside the
federation. That is the light in which you must regard the limitations
which we have proposed, and if they scem unduly numerous and too
widely drawn, remember that we have good reason for making them

3

50.

The limitations proposed by the rulers could, in the main, be
traced 1o a desire to safeguard two things: firstly, their sovereignty
and secondly, their financial position; and although the relative
importance assigned to one or the other varied from State o State,
both were regarded as vital by the Staies as a whole.

Early in 1937, the emissaries submitted their reports to the Viceroy.
They indicated that the rulers were in a bargaining mood and sugges-
ted many far-reaching concessions to induce them to join the federa-
tion. Therulers also sent their replies to the Viceroy stating the terms
on which alonc they were prepared to come in. The next few months
were spent mn an exhaustive examination of the points raiscd in the
reports of the emissaries and in the replies of the rulers,

In May 1937 the Sccretary of State (the Marquess of Zetland)
had informal talks with a number of rulers and Indian politicians
who happened to be in England. It was his impression that the
rulers generally were unwilling to enter the federation; that the
Viceroy was dealing with unwilling sellers and in consequence was
templed {o pul his offers high; that the position would be different if
the rulers were able to see that they would be safer inside the feder-
alion than out of it. Moreover, there was a risk in negotiating with
individual States on particular items. A concession on an individual
item 1o a particular State might have comparatively small impor-
tance, but the cumulative effect of granting it all round might be
highly prejudicial to the interests of federation, The Secretary of
State suggested therefore thal it would be better first to decide pro-
visionally under each item the maximum concessions which conld
be offcred consistently with a real federation and then-o settle (in
ihe case of major Siates whose accession would be necessary for the
federation) all the concessions under the main heads which could

7
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be offered to cach of them. The right time for making such an
agoregate ofler would, he thought, require careful consideralion.

Lord Linlithgow, on the other hand, was most keen that no slack-
ness in the negotialions should be allowed to creep in or any distur-
hance made in the plan for securing federation at the earliest possible
moment. The [celing among the general run of the States was onc of
morc or less reluctant acceptance of the inevitable, whilst, among
the ‘dichard’ minority, opposition to the fedcration scheme and a
desire to infect wavercrs with their intransigent attitude was as
strong as cver. It was therefore most essential that ncgotiations
should not be held up. He considered that the hest course would be,
as soon as agrcement was reached with the India Oflice on any
particular issue, to communicate the substance of the conclusions
recached to each State through the local political officer.

Apart from details of procedure, the most difficult issuc which
presented itsclf {or consideration related to certain fiscal rights en-
joyed by States which would be lost to them if they joined the federa-
tion. Clertain States were deriving considerable revenue from items
of taxation included in the Federal List; e.g. the Kathiawar Stales
and Kashmir! in regard to customs and States like Mysorc and
Rampur in regard to sugar cxcise, while almost all Slates to some
cxtent shared in the malch excise pool. Other items of revenue
derived by States were in respect of corporation tax and salt,

In the course of the tour of the emissaries, the rulers (including
those of all the major States) demanded recognition of their right to
retain their existing revenues from these sources. This demand led
the emissaries to enunciate the principle of stafus quo, which meant
that, in return for full accession on thesc subjects, the rulers would
be assured permanenily of the revenue they obtained from those
sources, Lord Linlithgow felt that, if federation meant an immediate
sacrifice of revenue, it would have no attraction for the States; that
the principle of stafus quo in regard to such fiscal items should there-
forc be conceded even if an amendment of the Government of India
Act of 1935 was found necessary for the purpose.

The Scerctary of State, on the other hand, was opposed to the
proposal as it would involve a permanent and material alleration
in the interests of the States to the prejudice of British Indja. Such
concessions were incompatible with the general scheme of federation

_* The State of Jammu and Kashmir was entitled to a rebate on all goods transmitted
mx hond [rom seaports in British India to that Siate,
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and would arousc most damaging controversy both in Britain and in
India. Though the Sccretary of State was alive to the difficulty of
persuading the rulers to come in under the Act as it stood and was
prepared for a temporary alleviation of the conditions designed to
bridge the States in the transition from their present position to the
scheme ol federation, he was emphatic that any such amendment
musl leave the scheme of the Act inviolate. Nor was he prepared to
move such amendments unless he could be assured that,if made, they
would bring in the rulers. Indeed, he was certain that no amendment
of the Act, or of the instrument of accession, could maintain the States
in an unduly preferential position in the federation indefinitely or
mdeced (or very long,

When they lound that the Sceretary of Statc was not prepared Lo
go to the extent of amending the Act to maintain the principle of
status quo, the Political Department proceeded to examine how best
the rulers’ demands could be met within the four corners of the Act.
There were further discussions and consultations, the course of
which it would be tedious to follow in detail. Most of the States
continued to put forward extravagant demands. Hyderabad wanted
satisfaction on the question of Berar and, while refusing to accede on
several important items, was prepared to accede on others subject
only to severc limitations. Mysore and Indore, which were levying
corporation tax, were apxious to continuc 1o do so permanently, and
not for ten ycars only as provided in the Act. States having agrce-
menlts on salt refused to accede on that subject. One of the limita-
tions suggested, with particular reference to the match excise, went
s0 [ar as to proposc an amendment of Section 140 of the Government
of India Act (which ecmpowcred the Federal Legislature in the
imposition of excise duties, to determine the amount and Lo lay down
the principles of distribution of such dutics) so as to guarantec the
States the stalus quo position, under which all States got a share of the
procceds of match excise whether malches were produced in the
State or not and, even where matches were produced, the payment
made bore no relation to the quantity of matches produced in the
State. There were some rulers who even suggested that the Federal
Government should not directly cxercise any administrative functions
in their States, but that all such functions should devolve on State
governments or authorities as agents of the Government of India.

Instead of putting a brake on the never-ceasing demands of the
rulers and stressing the advantages to be gaincd by their entering the
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{ederation, the Political Depariment seemed to spend its time morce in
cmphasizing the loss the rulers would suffer if they were to federate
and in instituting a search for expedients wherewith to make good
or mitigate that loss. The resull was a tendency to give in to the
rulers all along the line.

Little or no progress could be achieved in the negotiations with
the rulers and the position threatened to become stagnant. The
Secretary of State was naturally anxious. He suggested 1o the Vice-
roy that progress could only be made by confronting the rulers with
the full terms of the offer in a published form so as to lcave them
in no doubt that it was in fact a final offer in respect of essentials.
Sir Hawthorne Lewis, then Reforms Commissioner, welcomed this
suggestion. He held that the publication of the offer and the public
comment that was likely to follow might convince the rulers, as
private negotiations could hardly do, that the terms olfercd were not
to be despised; and the result might well be to make themn hasten
to accept where otherwise they might hesitate. The Political Depart-
ment, however, was opposed to the proposal and it was fnally
dropped.

The rulers and their ministers met in confercnce at Bombay in
November 1938. While reiterating their faith in the idea of an all-
India {edcration, they stressed the need for specific and cffective sale-
guards without which ‘the rulers and their successors would find
themselves unable, in the fast changing circumsiances of the country,
to duly discharge their duties to the Grown, to their dynastics and to
their peoples.’

The Viceroy at last decided to confront the rulers with the final
offer. Accordingly, in January 1939, he addressed a circular lelier
to the rulers of all the salute States, enclosing the revised drafis of the
general clauses of the instrument of accession, the three schedules Lo
the mstrument and the draft acceptance of His Majesty. The letier
emphasized that therc was no prospect of any substantial variation
of the terms indicated in the direction of allowing a lesser measure
of accession than that which was shown therein, or of modifying or
adding to the limitations specificd. The rulers were asked to inform
the Viceroy within six mo nths whether they would be prepared to
execute instruments of accession within those terms.

The reply came sooner than was expected. At a second conference
of rulers and States’ ministers held in Bombay, the following resolu-
tion was passed:



The Bombay Conference and After 41

The Conlerence of Princes and Ministers assembled at Bombay, hav-
ing considered the revised draft of the instrument of accession and con-
nected papers, resolves that the terins on the basis of which acccssion
is offcred are fundamentally unsatisfactory in the directions indicated in
the 1eport of the Hydail Committee of Ministers and confirmed by the
recommendatjons of the Gwalior Conference and are thereflore unaccep-
{able. At the same time, the Conference records its belief that it could
not be the mtenton of MHis Majesty’s Government to close the door on
all-Incia federation.

The attitude of the rulers at the Bombay Conference did not come
as a surprise. 'The methods adopted by some of the States’ representa-
tives are worthy of note. In the formal meetings of the rulers and
States’ representatives, they would not take a definite stand one way
or the other; but subsequently, they would run up to the Political
Depariment and plead for further concessions so that they could
‘bring round the rcasonable section of the rulers.’” The Political
Department would then get busy to convert the Viceroy to these
demands; and there was thus a merry-go-round of demands and
concessions.

Afier the Bombay Conlerence, the States” representatives followed
their usual tactics, The Dewan of a prominent Siate went to the
Political Adviser and told him that, if a guarantee could be given
in respect of the customs rights of Baroda and the maritime States
of Kathiawar, as well as Kashmir, there was cvery likelihood that
those States would agree to join the federation. 1t was suggested that,
i{ they came in, others would follow suit. This new proposal was
seized on with alacrity and Lord Linlithgow suggested to the Sceret-
ary of State that it was cssential that some major States should be
encouraged to give a definite lead in the matter of accession; that
Hyderabad and Mysore had more or less turned their backs on
federation, hut that he had good reason to believe that both Kashmir
and Baroda would be ready to accede if only they were allowed to
safeguard in their inslruments of accession their rights in respect
of customs and other financial matters., With Kashmir and Baroda
and the maritime Stales of Kathiawar reassured on this particular
1ssue, his [irm opinion was that the tide would turn strongly in favour
of {ederation.

The Secretary of State found much to object to in these proposals,
He wanted to know whether it was the Viceray’s intention to protect
by limitation certain selected treaty rights of only certain selected
States and otherwise to maintain refusal to this method of protecting
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Statcs’ rights in general. And how precisely was this to be done?
Apart from practical and tactical difficultics the task of redraliing
many of the treaty rights of the rulers in such a manncr as to make
them justiciable by the Federal Court would be almost impossible.
One had to consider the cffcct on the attitude of British India of
embedding permanently in the constitution provisions which would
be regarded as distinctly anti-federal. Morcover, legal protection of
that kind could not in the end withstand the play of political lorces,
and the maximum of friction would be gencrated if those [orces could
cstablish equilibrium only by breaches of the constilution. Finally
he enquired whether, assuming the feasibility ol the plan, the Viceroy
was satisfied that the result would be to ensurc a suflicient proportion
of States to enable federation Lo be established.

No such assurance was forthcoming. Federation was still as distant
as evel. Such was the position towards the beginning ol August
1939,

In the meantime, the provincial part of the Government of India
Act of 1955 had been put into operation and elections to the provin-
cial legislatures had been held in 1937. The Congress had swept the
polls in six provinces and in July of that year had formed ministrics.
A little later, with the support of a {ew independent members,
Congress ministries were also formed in two other provinces, viz.
Assam and the North-West Frontier Province.

The overwhelming success of the CGongress cncouraged States’
subjecls {o agilate for civil liberties and responsible government.
There was unrest in Mysore, Travancore, Kashmir, Hyderabad,
Jaipur, Rajkot and the Orissa States, to namc only a few. In the
Orissa States, there was an outbreak of lawlessness, and in Rampur
the Political Agenti, Major Bazalgette, was murdered. In Mysore,
the agitation reached a high pitch. In October 1937 the All-India
Congress Commiitee, meeting at Calcutta, censured the Mysore
Government in the sharpest terms for its policy of repression and
appealed to the people of Indian States and British India ‘1o give
all support and encouragement to the people of Mysore in the
struggle against the State for the right of sclf~-determination.’

Gandhiji was not happy over this resolution and criticized it in the
columns of the Harijar as going against the Congress creed of non-
interference with States. Gandhiji’s view was welcomed by Govern-
ment circles; but in January 1938, he threatened to make Jaipur
an all-India issue when Jamnalal Bajaj, one of his close associates, was
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arrcsied. Gandhiji declared that the Congress would be neglecting
its duty if it allowed the spirit of the people of Jaipur to be crushed
for want ol support from the Congress. In February 1938, atl the
Haripura scgsion of the Gongress, a fuller though more moderately
worded resolution was passed. The Congress reiterated its objective
of standing [or the same political, social and economic {reedom in
the States as in the case of the rest of India, and of considering the
States as integral parts of India. The Congress, the resolution con-
tinued, was not yct able to obtain the liberation of the States’ sub-
jects by itself operating within their borders. In the existing condi-
tions, ‘the burden of carrying on the struggle for freedom must fall
on the people of the States.” Only falsc hopes would be raiscd if they
relied on cxtrancous help or assistance or on the prestige of the
Congress name. The Congress as an organization could only offer
moral support and sympathy. Individual Gongressmen would be
frec to render further assistance in their incdividual capacities, but Lhe

wongress committees which had come into cxistence in the Stales
‘must submit to the control of the Working CGommittce and must not
engage in politics under the Congress name.’

This resolulion was intended to sofi-pedal the agitation in the
States. But it was not easy even for Gandhiji to draw a khadi curtain
screening the States from the general mass awakening. A radical
left-wing had by this time developed within the Congress; and it
pleaded for a revolutionary policy in regard to the States, Meanwhile
individual Congressmen started leading the agitation in the States
themselves. The All-India Congress Commitiee mecting in Delhi in
September 1938 condemned repression in Travancore, Hyderabad,
Kashmir and the Orissa States, The Congress ministries of provinces
adjoining States declined to use their statutory powers to prevent
agitation being organized within their provinces and launched
beyond them. The sitnation was comparcd to the form of ‘non-
intervention® practised in the civil war in Spain. On 3 December
1938, Gandhiji acclaimed the simultaneous awakening in the States
as due to the ‘time spirit” and declared that there was no half-way
house between total extinction of the States and full responsible
government, Referring to a rumour that the British Government
would go back on astatement made by Lord Winterton in Parliament
about the right of rulers to grant responsible government to their
people, he announced that any such recantation would ‘preci-
pitate a first-class crisis whose magnitude it is difficult to {oretell.’
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Alluding to the excesses commitied by the States’ police in suppress-
ing agitation, he claimed thal ministers in the provinces had the
moral right and duty to take notice of gross misrule in the States,
and to advise the paramount power on what should bc done. He
then gave warning that the Congress policy of non-interlerence might
be abandoned ; and he advised the rulers to cultivate friendly relations
‘with an organization which bids fair in the future, not very distant,
to replace the paramount power—Ict me hope, by friendly arrange-
ment,’

Lord Linlithgow realized that unless some radical reforms were
brought about in the States, it would only be a question of time
before they succumbed to the Congress agitation. The bigger
States were capable of looking after themsclves; it was the future
of the middle-sized and small States about which he was anxious.
He felt thal, with regard to the latier, the policy of abstention from
interference which the British Government had {or some years pur-
sued could no longer be defended and should be abandoned; that
active pressure should be brought Lo bear on these States to cffect
administrative reforms, such as improving the quality of the officials;
removing obsolcle and vexatious imposts; limiting the privy purse
to ten per cent of the total revenue of the States; ensuring that the
finances were maintained on a sound basis, and the publishing of
an annual budget and administiration report. On the constitutional
level, Lord Linlithgow wanted to bring stronger pressure {o bear on
the rulers than had hitherto been the case in the matter of sponsoring
representative institutions and eslablishing some form of constitu-
tional government within the States. But these proposals were
not to the taste of the Political Department. They were doubtful
about the case for representative forms of government in the States
and felt that something on the lines of the panchayat system devised
in Jodhpur and elsewhere would adequately meet the case. They
were against the rulers being hustled in the matter of constitutional
advance; and were of the opinion that the question should be left
to the Chamber of Princes,

The Secretary of State was in agreement with Lord Linlithgow’s
proposals as regards administrative reforms. Bul on the vitlal issue
of constitutional advance he considered that, on both political and
practical grounds, the initiative and onus of responsibility must
continue to rest with the rulers themsclves. He felt that constitutional
development in the States once begun could not in the nature of
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things be regulated and limited in the same way as administrative
advance and that no policy conceived by the British Government
could by itself maintain the rulers or ensure againsl their cventual
capitulation to Gongress agitation,

it was at Lhis stage that the second World War broke out. The
position then was that, owing to the unyielding attitude of the rulers,
as well as of the major political parties in British India, the federal
scheme was at its last gasp. The Hindu Mahasabha was the only
political organization which had all along supported it. The Congress
and the Muslim League were opposed to the federal scheme for
different reasons. The Congress wanted radical changes to be made
in the scheme of the Act. For instance, it was dissatisfied with the
cdegree of regsponsible government at the centre and it urged that the
States’ representatives in the federal legislature should be elected
and not nominated. There was a small section of Congressmen who
were not unwilling to give federation a trial; but they were powerless
against the majority.

The sccond World War had come and the Empire needed the
help of the rulers in men, money and material. It was not the time to
rub them the wrong way. On 11 September 1939, Lord Linlithgow
announced in his address to both Houses of the Central Legisature
that, while federation remained as before the objective of His Majes-
ty’s Government, ‘the compulsion of the prescnt international
situation and the fact that, given the necessity for concentrating on
the emergency that confronis us, we have no choice but to hold
suspense the work in connexion with preparations for federation.’
This marked the close of a crucial chapter in the modern history of
India. What a colossal waste of money and energy expended over
a period of twelve years! But as in a Greek tragedy, events were
inexorably shaping the climax.
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THE PARTING GIFT

" H E weeks following India’s entry into the war werc full of
i feverish activity, Lord Linlithgow had inlerviews with leaders
#. of the various political parties in the country. On 18 October
1939 he issucd a statement repeating the ‘clear and positive’ policy
of His Majesty’s Government that Dominion Status was the natural
issue of India’s progress. He announced that at the cnd of the war
consultations would be held with representatives of the several
communities, parties and interests in India, and with the Indian
rulers, with a view to securing their aid and co-operation in the fram-
ing of such modifications in the details of the plan embodied in the
Government of India Act of 1935 as might seem desirable. He also
announced his intention to set up a consultative group, representative
of all major political parties in British India and of the rulers, to
bring about a closer association of India with the prosecution of the
war. Nothing came of this declaration as both the Congress and the
Muslim League rejected the Viceroy’s offer. The Congress ministries
in scven provinces had already resigned and the administration had
been taken over by the Governors. In Assam, too, the Congress
ministers resigned but an alternative ministry was formed,

‘The implications of the Viceroy’s statement, so [ar as the Statcs
were concerned, were discussed with him by the Standing Committee
of the Chamber of Princes on 25 January 1940. The rulers demand-
ed that no commitment affecting their rights or interests should be
made without their consent. Lord Linlithgow undertook to honour
mn full the treaty obligations of His Majesty’s Government. Subse-
quently, at a meeting of the Chamber of Princes held in March
1940, the rulers declared their determination to render every possible
assistance to His Majesty’s Government in the prosecution of the
war and thewr complete approval of the war aims of the Allies, At

.y
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thc same time, they demanded the preservation of their autonomy
and the protection of their rights in any future constitution of
India,

The communal situation by this time had considerably deteriora-
ted and no understanding could be brought about between the two
major communilies. In January 1940, Jinnah declared that the
Hindus and the Muslims formed two separate nations, and that
both mustshare the governance of their common motherland. Three
months later, at the Lahore session of the Muslim League, he declared
that the Muslim nation must have a separate independent State of
Pakistan. In all subsequent discussions on constitutional advance
this attitude on the part of Jinnah and the Muslim League was the
dominant factor.

The war entered its acute phasc with the fall of France. Neville
Chamberlain resigned and Winston Churchill formed a National
Coalition Govermment in which L. 5. Amery became the Secretary
of State for India. On 8 August 1940, Lord Linlithgow advanced
some ncw proposals on behalf of His Majesty’s Government. He
offercd a certain number of seats in the Governor-General’s Exccutive
Council to representative Indians, He also proposed that a War
Advisory Council should be established containing representatives of
the States and of British India. Lastly, he promised that after the con-
clusion of the war, a body representative of the ‘principal clements
in India’s national life’ would be called upon to devise the frame-
work of a new constitution. This offer was subject to the proviso
that ‘they could not contemplate transfer of their present respon-
sibilitics for the peace and welfare of India to any system of govern-
ment whose authority is directly denied by large and powerful
clements in India’s national life.” The Congress rejected the offer;
the Muslim League followed suit. Nevertheless on 22 July 1941
the number of members of the Governor-General’s Executive Council
- was increased from seven to twelve. The members of the Executive
Council till then had been four Europeans and three Indians. In
the new Council, the number of Indian members was eight, chosen
from among British Indian politicians who owed no allegiance either
to the Congress or the Muslim League. The same day, a National
Defence Council consisting of twenty-two members from British
India and nine represcntatives of the States was set up, but it attract-
cd little or no attention.

After therejection of the *August Offer’, the British Government

&
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for over eighteen months made no further overtures to the political
parties, Buttowards the close of 1941, the war situation had changed
for the worse. Germany was knocking at the gates ol Stalingrad,
On 7 December Japan entered the field of war and within the mncred-
ibly short period of twelve weeks won remarkable success against
what the Japanese propagandisis called the A.B.G.D. Powers—
America, Britain, China and the Dutch, Singapore surrendered on
15 February 1942, By then Japancse naval units were already haras-
sing British shipping in the Bay of Bengal. On 7 March Rangoon {cll
to the Japanese and with their troops fanning across Burma, India
was brought direct into the zone of war,

On 11 March 1942 Churchill declared in the House of Gommons
that “the crisis in the affairs of India arising out of the Japanesc
advance has made Britain wish to rally all the forces of Indian life
to guard their land [rom the menace of this invader.” He announced
that the War Cabinet was sending out Sir Stafford Cripps, then
Lord Privy Seal, to India with a set of proposals approved by the
Cabinet in order to remove the doubts and apprchensions in the
minds of the Indian parties and to convince their leaders how those
proposals constituted a far-reaching advance towards satisfying
Indian aspirations. Churchill made it clear however that the pro-
posals which Sir Stafford Cripps was bringing werc ‘to be accepted
as a whole or rejected as a whole,

oir Stafford Cripps arrived in India on 22 March and on 29
March revealed his proposals at a press conference. The Cripps
offer consisted of two parts. The long-term plan postulated that
immeciately after the cessation of hostilities a constitution-making
body would be set up to frame the constitution of 2 new Indian Union
which would have the full status of a Dominion with the power to
secede, if it chose, from the British Commonwealth. This body
would be elected by an clectoral college consisting of the members
of the lower houses of the provincial legislatures for which fresh
clections would be held. The British Government undcrtook to
accept and implement forthwith the constitution framed by this
body on {wo conditions. Firstly, any province or provinces which
were not prepared to accept the new constitution would be entitled
to frame by a similar process a constitution of their own giving them
the same full status as the Indian Union, The second condition was
that a treaty should be negotiated between the British Government
and the constitution~-making body to cover all matters arising out
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of the transfer of responsibility, particularly the protection of racial
and rcligious minorities.

Until the new constitution was framed the British Government
“desire and nvite the 1mmediate and cflective participation of the
leaders of the principal sections of the Indian people in the councils
of their country, of the Gommonwealth and of the United Nations.’

So far as the States were concerned, the Cripps declaration was
very bricf. It staled ‘whether or not an individual State clects to
adhere to the constitution, it will be necessary to negotiate a revision
of its treaty arrangements so far as this may be requiredin the new
situation.” The States were to appoint representatives to the constitu-
tion-making body in the same proportion to their total population
as in the case of representatives of British India as a whole and with
the same powers as British Indian members. The States would be
free 1o adhcre or not to the new constitution.

The rulers were not associated with the Cripps discussions in the
same way as the representatives of British India, 1he immediate
object of Sir Staflord Cripps was to make possible the formation of a
war-time government at the centre consisting of representatives of
British Indian parties, The rulers, though interested,were not direct-
ly aflected; but the scheme for making a new constitution after the
war applicd to all-India and with that they were decply concerned.

The rulers met Sir Stafford Cripps on 2 April 1942, The Jam
saheb of Nawanagar, then Chancellor of the Chamber of Princes,
the late Maharajah Sir Sadul Singh of Bikaner and Maharajah
Sir Yadavindra Singh of Patiala represcnted the rulers and the
Nawab of Chhatari represented the Nizam. The rulers raised several
points for elucidation.

The first point raised was whether in the event of a number of
States not finding it feasible to adhere to the Union, such dtates or
groups of States would have therightto form a Union of their own
with full sovereign status. Regarding this Sir Stafford said that
personally he did not see any fundamental difficulty in the suggestion
but as that situation had not been considered in connexion with the
present scheme he was not able to give a definite reply. Some search-
ing questionswere then asked regarding the implications of adherence
to the Union, such as whether the people of the State would become
subjects of the Union; whether the Union would acquire para-
mountcy over the States; and whether it would be possible for a

State to join the Union while rescrving the dynastic and personal
%

"w.
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affairs of the ruler to the exclusive junisdiction of the Grown. The
replies given were to the effect that everything would depend upon
the nature of the arrangcments actually made. In any case, 1t was
definite that the British Government did not contemplale transferring
the paramountey of the Crown to any other party. The adherence
of a State to the Union would have the effect of automatically dis-
solving the Crown’s obligations to it. On the other hand, paramount-
cy would continue to be in force in the case of States which did not
join the Union.

Another point raised was whether in the casc ol non-adhering
States the Crown would continue to retain its obligations towards
them and would enforce them through the usual sanclions. Sir
Stafford Cripps replied that this was so; the British Government
would provide {or everything necessary o implement their treaty
obligations 1o those States which did not join the Union. This would
include the use of force in the last resort, although he was not willing
to commit himself about the conditions under which such sanctions
would be operated.

Some of the rulers were not clear why 1t was said that whether a
State jolned the Union or not, its entire treaties with the British
Government would have to be revised. Sir Stafford Cripps explained
that the intention was to revise the treaties only so far as might be
required in the new situation. The provision was primarily intended
to deal with those economic matters of common concern to British
India and the States which were likely to be aflccted by the transfer
of power io British India, Treaties aflecting paramountcy and pro-
tection of the States would not be revised without the consent of the
States concerned. Sir Stafford proposed to make this clear in a letter
to the Chancellor. The question was then asked whether the pro-
posed Union would be limited to geographically contiguous units.
The reply given was that ordinarily it should be so, unless some
practical arrangement was madc with the intervening Union or
unit; the British Government could not, however, be expecled to
coerce any party into such arrangements although their good oflices
would he available to resolve differences.

Replying to another question Sir Stafford Cripps said that il was
the intention to give full frecdom to all provincial units and the States
to come into the new Union or to stay out, The British Government
did not desire to stay in India unless the Indian peoples wanted them
in their interest to stay and except to the extent that it might be
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unavoidable {or the fulfilment of the British Government’s treaty
obligations to the non-adhering States.

One of the rulers asked whether in view of the impending deve-
lopments the Indian Princes should make contact with the major
political parties in British India. Sir Stafford replied that this was
a malter for the Viceroy, but he himself thought that the Princes
would be well advised to make such contacts, He had discussed
the maiter informally with the Viceroy, who was sympathetic to
that view.

Sit Staflord emphasized that if the Indian pcoples were sufficiently
reasonable and broadminded it should be possible for them all to
come into a single Union. Otherwise they could have separate
Unions and suffer the inconvenience involved. He suggested that
the first step for the smaller States should be to get into groups or
into federal relations amongst themsclves and that for this purpose,
the spirit of the scheme for co-operative grouping should be extended
to wider units, particularly in matters of common industrial and
economic intcrests, so that the States were not left behind British
India and might pull their full weight in the development of India
as a whole. This was a matter which the rulers would be well advised
to discuss with the Viceroy.

Subscquently, 1n a letter written on 3 April, the Nawab of Ghhatari
raised some important issues on behalf of the Nizam. To these, Sir
Stallord Cripps replied on 5 April as follows:

{ have received your letter of the 3rd April in which you are kind enough
to convey to me the views of His Exalted Highness in regard to the pro-
posals which I have been discussing with the leaders of Indian opinion.
I fear, however, that there are some points on which there appears to
have been some misunderstanding at our interview. It 1s the case that
His Exalted Highness will be free to decide whether Hyderabad should
adhere or not adhcre to any Indian Union which might be set up under
these proposals if they are given effect, If, however, His Exalted Highness
decided that Hyderabad should not adhere, the relations at present sub-
sisting between the Crown and His Exalted Highness would remain une.
changed and His Exalted Highness would not be free, as suggcested in
your letter, 1o cease to maintain them, Any revision of the existing treaty
arrangeraents which might be required as a result of the creation of a new
Indian Union would be by negotiation between the paramount power
and His Fxalted Highness and clearly might involve modification of parti-
cular treaty rights in the light of the new sitnation, The question whether
any particular point which might be difficult to resolve by negotiation
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should be submitted to arbitration would be for the paramount powe
to decide and I can give no assurances at this stage in regard to it.

The rulers were watching the reactions of the British Indian partic
to the Cripps offer. By 9 April it was generally known that bott
the Congress and the League were about to reject if. The rulers dic
not want to embarrass His Majesty’s Government. The Indiar
States” delegation met on 10 April and adopted the following resolu-
tion which was conveyed to Sir Stafford Cripps:

The [ndian States will be glad as always, in the materest of their mother
land, to make their contribution in cvery reasonable manner compatibl
with the sovereignty and integrity of the Statcs, towards the framing of
constitution for India. The States should be assured, however, that in thi
event of a number of States not finding it feasible 1o adhere, the non-adher
ing States or groups of States, so desiring, would have the right to form :
union of their own, with full sovereign status in accordance with a suitabl
and agreed procedure devised for the purpose.

The Cripps offer was rcjected by both the Congress Working
Committee and by the Muslim League on 10 April. On 12 Apri
Sir diafford Cripps left for London, his mission a failure. The
rulers heaved an almost audible sigh of relicf. The Prime Ministe:
of a major State wrote to Sir Henry Craik, then Political Adviser
‘I sec a lot of expressions of deep sorrow 1n the press on the failurc
of the mission which has been described as a great tragedy. Personal:
ly I feel that we escaped one vecry narrowly.’

The Cripps mission hrought home to the rulers the discomforting
realization that if the interests of British India and the S{ates came
into conflict His Majesty’s Government would almost cerlainly Iei
down the States. Also, atabout this time Jawaharlal Nehru declared
in the course of a speech, that treaties with the States must be
scrapped and he dubbed those who talked of them as ‘lunatics
knaves or fools.” The rulers thercfore started devising ways 1o pro-
tect their own position and to get a positive assurance from His
Majesty’s Government that they would not be sacrificed on the altas
of British Indian interests. The Chancellor of the Chamber of Princes
wrote 1o the Political Adviser on 1 June 1942 raising this and othe:
important points concerning the position of rulers in the futurc
constitutional set-up.

This letter was the subject of prolonged discussion between the
Viceroy and the Secretary of State. A reply was sent by the Political
Department in January 1943, The Chancellor had requested His
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Majesty’s Government for an authoritative statement that they
stood true to and firmly by their treaty obligations to the States and
would continue o protect them according to their solemn ohligations.
In their reply, the Political Department pointed oul that the literal
intcrpretation ol trcatics had long been affecied by usage and suffer-
ance and must become increasingly related to the manner in which
the States adapted themselves to the necessities of the changing times,
morc particularly in the matter ol pooling of powers and resources
for the purpose of raising the quality and stability of their public
services. Subject to this consideration the rulers were assured that
the fulfilment of the fundamental obligations® arising out of their
ircaties and sanads remained an integral part of the policy of His
Majesty’s Government.

The sccond point raised by the CGhancellor in his letter related
to the suggestion of Sir Staflord Cripps thal an eflective machinery
should be cstablished in the States for ventilating the legitimate
wants and gricvances of the people. The Chancellor had pointed out
that the suggestion of Sir Stafford Cripps was in direct conflicl with
the unequivocal declaration on this subject made on bchalf of His
Majesty’s Government by the Viceroy, at the session of the Chamber
of Princes held in 1939, that the decision as to the constitution best
suited to the needs of his people and his State rested with the ruler
himsel{ and that no pressure would be brought to bear on him in
this respect by the paramount power, The rulers wanted to be re-
assured that the suggestion of Sir Stafford Cripps did not in any way
atlect this solemn assurance made on behalf of His Majesty’s Govern-
ment. The Political Department replied that His Majesty’s Govern-
ment cndorsed Sir Stafford Cripps’ suggestion not so much in their
own interests as in the interests of the rulers themselves. But it was
for the lalter to devise the precise form of machinery best suited to
achieve that object.

The Chancellor had pointed out that, according to the Cripps
declaration, provinces were given the option to form a Union of
their own, but that the States were not accorded the same privilege.
The reply emphasized that the reason for it was to be found in the fact
that the direct responsibility exercised by His Majesty’s Government
in regard (o the administration of British India found no parallel

t The Crown’s undertaking to the States covered broadly (a) protection of their
territories against external aggression; (b) proteciion of their dynasties against internal
disruption and (¢) protection of certain rights of a primarily economic character
respect e.g. of salt, posts and telegraphs, qustoms, currency.

9
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within the territories of the rulers. The suggestion presented con-
siderable practical difficultics; the recognition of any such Union
would fundamentally affect the nature of the present relationship of
individual States with the Grown.

The reply concluded with the observation that the Cripps declara-
tion, which was in very general terms, had, [or reasons with which
the rulers were familiar, proved abortive; and that though the main
principles of that offer stood, the form and nature of their applica-
tion was a matter for the future.

Lord Linlithgow had always taken a consistent attitude towards
the rulers. He was against doing anything that would alarm or
dishearten them. The rulers, 1in his opinion, were the only solid and
dependable element so far as the British relationship with India was
concerned. He gravely questioned the wisdom of antagonizing for
no good purpose the only elemcent in which the British Government
could fcel any substantial confidence, particularly when they were
under binding obligations to that clement.

Much adverse criticism had appeared al the time in a gsection of
the Indian press about the demand of the rulers that the non-acced-
ing States should be allowed to form a Union of their own. It was
alleged that the rulers had been instigated to make this demand by
the Political Department with the connivance of the Viceroy. When
the matter came up for consideration, the Secretary of State felt
at first blush that the question was one which must be faced, however
reluctantly, and that the rulers’ suggestion deserved sympathetic
consideration. H. V. Hodson, my predecessor as Reforms Commis-
sioner, and later I myself, opposed the proposal. Lord Linlithgow
accepted our advice and told the Secretary of State that a separate
Union of States was just not practical politics and that it was not
worth wasting tirne considering it. e was emphatic that it would be
disingenuous 1o encourage the States to go on thinking along those
lines,

Before we take leave of Lord Linlithgow, I should mention one
particularly important matier, namely the problem of the small
States. Apartfrom the Western and the Central India Agencics, the
problem was most acute in the Eastern States Agency and to a some-
what less degree in the Deccan States Agency and the Punjab Hill
States, These States were all lumped together in Division XVII of
the Table appended to the First Schedule to the Governmentof India
Act of 1935, The federal offer which the Crown Representative
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sent to the bigger States was not sent to the rulers of these States,
The objective at the time was to eslablish an all-India fedcration
with provinces and viable States first, and to deal with the small
States subsequently,

The Secrctary of State thought that there were three obstacles
to the inclusion of these States in a federation as separatc units. In
the first place, their cconomic resources were insufficient to meet the
cost of an administration attuned to the standard which the inhabi-
tants would expect from comparison with that obtaining in British
India or in the larger States. Secondly, their officials (who were
poorly paid and inadequately trained) would be incapable of ad-
ministering federal law. Lastly, it was in the interest of important
political elements in British India to associate with the people of the
States mn the constitutional struggle and to procure for them a deci-
sive voice in their own Siate’s administration as well as direct re-
presentation at the Gentre. In the bigger States, such as Hyderabad
and Mysorc, it might be possible to conirol such agitation and keep
it within constitutional limits, but in the smaller States, particularly
wherc the people were primitive (as in the Orissa States included
in the Fastern States Agency), violence was apt to call for repressive
measures which were beyond the unaided resources of the State
adminisiration and would necessitate the intervention of the para-
mount power, Such intervention would inevitably be misrepresen-
ted in British India as an attempt to buttress oppression.

"The solution proposed by the Secretary of State, in brief, was that,
where smaller States could not be merged in bigger States (a process
to which there were obvious limitations), the separate jurisdiction
of individual rulers should be replaced by the single administration
of the Viceroy. Hesuggested that the Orissa States should be selected
for this experiment in the first instance,

The Secretary of State thought that it was unnecessary {o consider
what would be the ultimate political status of any such newly formed
units. Itwas conceivable that they might continue for some time to
be administered by the Viceroy and it did not seem unlikely that
their ultimate destiny would be merger with British India.

Lord Linlithgow felt that even if the scheme was free from objec-
tions, he would still hesitate, in war conditions and at a time when
the larger constitutional questions were postponed by common
consent till after the conclusion of hostilities, to embark upon far-
reaching changes in the relations of the Crown with the rulers of the
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small States involving large-scale reactions throughout the entire
princely order and in British India. In Lord Linlithgow’s vicw,
the best plan for the solution of the problem was to continuc to
carry out the policy that he was pursuing. The two methods he had
been adopting were (a) the administrative absorpilion of a small
entity in a large ncighbouring State; (b) the combination of smaller
units for administrative purposes. The first of these two solutions
was particularly suitable for insignificant entitics, largely non-juris-
dictional or scmi-jurisdictional, such as those which existed in large
numbers in the Western India Stales Agency and the Gujarat States
Agency where the Viceroy was doing all he could to bring this
process of absorption into effect. The same expedicnt was being
pursued in the case of a very few small States in Rajputana and
Central India. The second method furnished the only possible
solution for such States as the majority of the Fastern and the
Deccan States and certain small States in the Central India and
the Punjab Agencies which, though small and unimportant, were
definitely of a much higher calibre than the minute entitics of
Kathiawar,

The ultimate result of all these discussions was the Attachment
Scheme of 1943, under which certain semi-jurisdictional States in
Kathiawar and Gujarat were atlached to the neighbouring States.
Collectively the area covered about 7,000 square miles, with a
population of 8 lakhs and an annual revenue of about Rs 70 lakhs.

In the meantime, on 8 August 1942, the Congress had passed the
"Quit India’ resolution and been outlawed in consequence, On
24 October 1943, Lord Linlithgow retired and Lord Wavell came
in hig place. ,

By the end of 1944 events had taken a different shape. The epic
defence of Stalingrad had halted Hitler, and his armies were thrown
on the defensive, Japan had been effectively checked, It looked as
though victory was only a question of time. There was intense
frustration in the country and a complete lull in political activity.
Ahout this time the Nawab of Bhopal was elected Chancellor of the
Chamber of Princes, He infused new life into the Chamber and
torged that body into an effective instrument for developing the rulers
into a “Third Force’ in Indian politics. He was an advocate of a
loosc centre with residuary powers in the States. With such a centre
and with the Congress and the Muslim League pitted against ecach
other, the States would occupy a key position and hold the balance.
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The Nawab of Bhopal now starled taking vigorous steps with the
Political Department (o safeguard the position of the States in any
future constitutional changes. At a meeting of the Standing Commit-
tee held on 18 Sepltember 1944, the Chancellor gave notice of his
intention to move the following resolulion at the session of the
Chamber to be held carly in December:

The Chamber of Princes considers it necessary to reiterate in ithe most
uncquivocal and emphatic terms that the Crown’s relationship with the
States and the Grown’s power in respect of the States cannot and should
not be transferred to any third party or other authority without the con-
sent of the States concerned. The Chamber requests His Excellency the
Crown Representative to be pleased to convey to His Majesty’s Govern-
ment the grave misgivings and apprehensions aroused in the States, by
the recent tendency to alter the Stalces’ relationship with the Crown
and to qualify the observance ol the Crown’s obligations, by unilateral
action without the consent of the States, notwithstanding the solemn
Rovyal pronouncements that these Treaty Riglhits shall be maintained un-
impaired and the recent assurance conveyed to the Indian Princes by
His Majesty’s Government that the {ulfilment of the fundamental obliga-
lions arising out of their treaties and sanads remains an integral part of
His Majesty’s Government’s policy.

On 26 November 1944 Lord Wavell, as the President of the
Chamber, disallowed this resolution on the ground that it would be
undesirable at any time to ventilate in public the subject matter
of the vesolution with the very delicate issues which arvose oul of it,
morc so at a time when the maticer had already come under discussion
between the rulers and the Viceroy. This, coupled with the replics
which the Chancellor had received from the Political Department
with regard to some other points which he had raised, gave dissatisfac-
tion to the Standing Commitiee, Early in Dcecember, they resigned
in a body as a protest against the ‘gradual deterioration of the
position of the States and the disregard ol {heir legitimate interests.’
On 4 December, cighty rulers met informally at Delhi under the
chairmanship of the Maharajah of Gwalior and enclorsed the stand
taken by the Standing Committice. Lord Wavell, who was anxious to
placale the rulers, met the Chancellor and had long discussions with
him, Finally, on 25 June 1945, Lord Wavell gave an assurance
that there would be no future transference of relationship of the
States with the Crown 1o any other authority without their consent,
provided thec rulers on their part gave the assurance that their con-
senl to any changes which emerged as a result of negotiations would
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not be unreasonably withheld. The Chancellot had no hesitalion
in declaring that the rulers had no intention of withholding their
congent to any adjustment which might be required under the future
constitutional arrangements in India and which “wec consider recas-
onable in the wider interests of India.” The sStanding Commiltee
thereupon decided to withdraw their resignation.

In Maich 1945 Lord Wavell {lew to London for consultations
with the British Cabinct. He returned at the end of May. In the
mecantime, history had taken a flying leap and a serics of cxplosive
events had rocked the world. On 1 May, the Hamburg Radio
announced the death of Adolf Hitler and within a weck General
Jodl signed the unconditional surrender of Germany. On the eve
of Lord Wavell’s departure from England, the Secretary of Siate
informed the House of Commons that the British Government had
empowered Lord Wavell to make new proposals on the composition
of an interim government, In a broadcast on 15 June Lord Wavell
disclosed a fresh plan designed 1o ‘ease the present political situation
and to advance India towards her goal of self~government.” He
added that the measures proposed were provisional and wercintended
to mobilize the forces of India against Japan and to drafl a new
constitution. Meanwhile the Cripps offer, it was stated, remained in
the field. Simultancously with the announcement of his plan, Lord
Wavell invited the leaders of the Cangress and of the Muslim Leaguc,
as well as others to dBimla [or further discussions. The members of
the Congress Working Committee who were then in detention were
released so that the Congress could take part in the talks. The
Conierence met on 30 June but failed to reach agrecement, The
negotiations hroke down finally on 14 July.

The Labour Party withdrew from the Coalition Government in
Britain after V. E. day, thus forcing an carly general clection, in
which the Ceonservatives wcre defeated. On 26 July 1945 the
Labour Party was mvited to form a new government, Attlce became
Prime Minister and Lord Pethick-Lawrence assumed the duties of
decretary of State for India, In September of the same year, Lord
Wavell went again to England and on his return announced his second
plan. The announcement reaffirmed the Government’s determin-
ation to do their utmost in conjunction with the leaders of Indian
opinion 1o promote the early realization of full self-government for
India; and expressed the hope that political leaders would assume
ministerial responsibility in all the provinces afler the elections
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which had alrecady been announced. It declared that His Majesty’s
Government intended to convene as soon as possible a constitution-
making body to drafl the future constitution of India but, as a
preliminary step, the Viceroy had been authorized to consult the
represcniatives of the provincial assemblies as 10 whether the concrete
proposals in the Cripps declaration required any modification. ¢ Dis-
cussions will be undertaken with the representatives of the Indian
States with a view to ascerlain in what way they can best take their
part in the constitution-making body.” The question arose as to
who should represent the States. The Congress insisted that only
popular representatives who had been elected on a wide franchise
could represent them, while an 1mportant ruler went to the length
of asserting: ‘We fought and sacrificed our blood to win power and
we mean 10 hold it. If Gongress wants to rob us, if the British should
let us down, we will fight.’

It was against ihis background that the annual session of the
Chamber of Princes was held on 17 January 1946. Lord Wavell
presided over this meeting, In his address, the Viceroy assured them
that no changes in their relationship with the Crown or the rights
gnarantced to them by {rcatics and engagements would be initiated
without their consent, Al the same time, he expressed his confidence
that the States would take their {full part in the constitutional dis-
cussions, which were 1o be held later in the year, as well as in the
proposed constitution-making body. He impressed upon them the
necessity of placing their administration on modern lines for the wel-
fare of their subjects, which could be done only by cnsuring that
all States fulfilled the threc fundamental criteria of good govern-
ment: political stability, adequate financial resources and cffective
association of the people with the adminisiration. In the case of
the smaller States, Lord Wavcll urged them to pool their resources
and form political enlitics of a sullicient size. For its part, the
Chamber of Princes affirmed that the States fully shared the general
desire of the country for the immediate attainment of its political
stature and their intention to make every possible coniribution
towards the settlement of the constitutional problem. The Chancel-
Jor declared that it was the policy of the Chamber that the funda-
mental principles of sound administration should be followed in
every State and that there shonld be popular institutions with elected
majorities to ensure close and effective association of the people with

the governance of the States.
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The Labour Government had now been in power for eight months
and so had ample time to take stock of the Indian situation. It also
had the benefit of the views of a British Parliamentary deleeation
which had recently tourcd the country. On 19 Fcbruary 1946,
Attlee announced the decision of the British Cabinet to send three
cabinet ministers to India to settle with the Indian leaders, in asso-
ciation with the Viceroy, the procedure of framing a new constitu-
tion for the country. Speaking in Parliament on 15 March, he
said, referring to the States:

I hope that the statesmen of British India and of Princely India will
be able to work out a solution of the problem of bringing together, in one
sreat policy, these disparate constituent parts. There again, we must
sce that the Indian States find their due place; there can be no positive
veto on advance and I do not believe for a moment that the Indian
Princes would desire to be a bar Lo the forward march of India. But, as

in the case of many other problems, this 13 a matter that Indians will scttle
themselves.

The Mission, consisting of Lord Pethick-Lawrence, Sir Staflord
Cripps and A. V. Alexander, arrived in New Dclhi on 24 March
1946. Lord Pethick-Lawrence, at a press conference held the next
day, said that they had come in the hope of enabling Indians {o
produce, orsetup a machinery for producing a constitutional structure
for India as a whole. On being asked whether the representatives
of the States would be represcntatives of the rulers or of the people,
Lord Pethick-Lawrence declared that the Mission would take the
position as it was. ‘We cannol create new siructures. We have to
take the position as we find 1t.” To a question whether the co-opera-
tion of the States was cssential or mandatory, he replied: ‘What we
plan is to invite Indian States to take part in discussions for the
setling up of machinery for framing the further constitutional
structure. If I invite you to dinner, it 15 not obligatory for you to
come.’

It was decided that the Mission should interview (1) the Chancel-
lor, (2) the rulers of Patiala, Bikaner and Nawanagar joinily as
representing the middle-sized States, (3) the rulers of Dungarpur
and Bilaspur jointly as representing the smaller States and (4) the
Nawab of Ghhatari (Hydcrabad), 5ir G, P. Ramaswami Aiyar (Tra-
vancore) and Sir Mirza Ismail (Jaipur) individually. A suggestion
that the Mission should interview the representatives of the States’
subjects was uot accepiable either to the Political Dcpartment
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or 1o the Chancellor of the Chamber of Princes. Nor did the Mission
itself pursue the question,

On 2 April, at his interview with the Cabinet Mission and the
Viceroy, the Nawab of Bhopal made it clear that the Indian States
wished (o continuc their cxistence with the maximum degree of
sovercignty. They desired no interference in their intcrnal affairs
by British India. He suggested the formation of a Privy Council
of the States and British India on the lines contemplated in the
Stmon Report. The Nawab said that the general view of the rulers
was that if there were to be two States in India, there was no reason
why a third India composed of the States should not be recognized,
He was definite that none of the rulers wanted a constitutional set-up
of the kind contemplated in the Government of India Act of 1935,
On the other hand, he was in favour of a ‘loose federation® at the
Centre. Lastly, he pleaded that paramountcy should not be trans-
ferred to an Indian government.

That same afternoon, the Mission met the representatives of the
Standing Gommittee of the Chamber of Princes, which comprised
the rulers of Bhopal, Patiala, Gwalior, Bikaner and Nawanagar,
Answering the points raised that morning by the Nawab of Bhopal,
Lord Pethick-Lawrence said that if British India became indepen-
dent, paramountcy would come to an end; that the British Govern-
ment did not contemplate keeping any troops in India for the main-
lenance of internal order; and that, therefore, as the Grown would
become unable to carry out its part of the treaty obligations, the
States would naturally in their turn be released from their obli-
gations under those trcalics, The Mission felt il neccssary to
make this position clear Lo the rulers butl they did not propose to
cimphasize, or, unless it became nccessary, even to mention this
matier to the representatives of British India because it seemed to
them that the position of the States in any conversations with the
British Indian represeniatives might be somewhat weakened by a
positive statement to that effect. The people of Great Britain would
naturally wish, if possible, to retain their {riendly relations with the
Indian States which had subsisted so long, but any such relationship
must depend on the States’ position in the new India. If the States
surrendered any of their sovercignty to a federation, there could not
be direct relations with those States except through that federation,

Lord Pethick-Lawrence, on the guestion of a confederation of
States, said that this was a new idea as far as the Mission was

10
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concerncd and that they had not been able to consider 1t in detail,
I{ seemed 1o him an interesting and apparently {easible suggestion
and he did not wish to rule out the idea. Sir Staflord Cripps thought
that there might be geographical difficulties.

The Nawab of Bhopal enquired whether the existing trealies
would continue during the interim period. The Secrctary of State
said that they would; but his conception was that trcatics and
arrangements in the financial and economic fields as well as in
communications might continue for an additional standstill period
pending revision. The Nawab of Bhopal said that there were no
separate agreements on such matters and that the treatics could not
be divided up. Sir Stafford emphasized that, whatever the technical
position, there must clearly be some arrangement to prevent a
sudden disruption of existing economic arrangements on the day
when authority was handed over to the new Indian government.
Such a disruption would be damaging both to the States and to
British India and might be used as a lever against the States. The
interview lerminated after the Mission had consented to the request
of the Jam Saheb that the States’ representatives should be
consulted again when the future sct-up of British India had bcen
settled,

The rulers of Dungarpur and Bilaspur, as representatives of the
smaller States, were interviewed on 4 April, The Maharajah of
Dungarpur read out a memorandum in the course of which he said
that only about half a dozen States could stand comparison with
the provinces of British India and that it was therefore necessary
for the smaller ones to group themselves into larger units by pooling
sovereignty on a regional and linguistic basis. The smaller States
feared that the larger States were attemptling Lo absorb them; they
wanted satisfactory guarantees. It was wrong to suggest that the
smaller States had no future; they were prepared to make greater
sacrifices than the larger ones. He suggested that with the exception
of Hyderabad, Kashmir and Mysore, the rest of the States should
be grouped into nine regional units.

The Rajah of Bilaspur did not agrce with this idea of grouping.
He said that each State must be allowed {o regain its {former in-
dependence and be left to itself to do as it wanted. He recognized
that this was not a view which had wide support, but he considered
that the States had just as much right to independence as had
British India. Bilaspur would, if need be, fight to protect itself,
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Incidentally, this State was less than 500 square miles in arca and
had a total population of a little more than a lakh!

sir G, P, Ramaswami Aiyar, who was interviewed on 9 April,
did not regard the treatics as of any particular value to the States
and was not disposed to lay too much emphasis on them. But on
the issue of paramountcy, he was of the uncquivocal opinion that
it could not be transferred to a successor government. During the
Interim period, paramountcy would have to be preserved, but the
machinery of the Political Department would have to be revised if
there was {o be no undue friction. He suggested the appointment
ol an Adviscr {o the Viceroy chosen by the States and working in
conjunction with a committee or advisory council selected in con-
sultation with the States. He felt that it was impossible to conceive
of 601 States being effective factors in the future unless they grouped
themselves. He thought that the smaller States should be told that,
i they did not group themselves, they would be left to their fate,
in which case they would acquiesce.

The Nawab of Chhatari, representing Hyderabad, reiterated a
demand that Hyderabad had made at the time of the Cripps nego-
tiations, lor retrocession of the territories ceded to the East India
Company, and added a new claim for a free outlet to the sea.
Lord Wavell asked him what port Hyderabad had in view. Chhatari
said that they had thought of Goa. He added that they would
not require a corridor of territory but only an ‘easement’ 1o enable
them to import by rail across British Indian territory goods recerv-
ed at their own port. Sir Stafford Cripps said that this was
a matler for subsequent discussion with British India. Sir Walter
Monckion, Constitutional Adviser to the Nizam, who had accom-
panied the Nawab of Chhatari, said that the Nizam wanted the
assistance of the British Government in these negotiations. The
Nawab of Chhatari suggested thai, for the interim period, the Vice-
roy in his capacity as Crown Representative should be assisted by
an Advisory Council of States’ representatives capable of voicing
the opinion of the States on any proposition put forward by British
India affecting the States. He made it clear that in the event of the
partition of the country, it would he impossible for Hyderabad, for
geographical reasons, to join Pakistan or, for ideological reasons,
to join India. Hyderabad would therefore remain an independent
otate. If, on the other hand, there were a united India and the
ceniral government were limited to foreign affairs and defence and
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if therc were communal patity in the central government, it would
be casier for Hydcrabad to join. The Nawab raiscd the question
of Berar. Sir Staflord Ciipps replied that there was a de facto as well
as a de juwie position to be taken into account and that the matler
would have to be deferred for later consideration.

Sir Mirza Ismail devoted the greater part of his inleiview with
the Cabinet Mission to his views on how the differences between the
Congress and the League could be resolved. As regards the States,
he suggested that in the interim central executive, there should be
two representatives of the States, a Muslim and a Hindu, He said
that the problem of the States was the problem of preserving their
ruling dynastics. He was in favour of doing everything to maintain
the position of the ruling families as he considered that they embodied
a valuable tradition of Indian culturc and civilization. Sir Mirza
concluded by emphasizing that it would not be right for the British
to leave India with all her problems undecided.

Broadly, the position taken up by the State representatives was
that paramountcy should not be transferred to a successor govern-
ment, but that it should lapse; that the States should not be forced
to join any Union or Unions; that there should be frima facte no
objection to the formation of a confederation of States if the rulers
so desired ; and that there should be no interference in their internal
affairs by British India,

In the meantime, the Gabinet Mission had also met the leaders
of Indian political parties and communal groups. The opinions
expressed by them made a veritable cacophony. In consequence,
the Mission and the Viceroy decided on-27 April to hold a tri-
partite conference, with four delegates respectively of the Congress
and the Muslim League, at Simla; whereupon the scene of activities
shifted to the bracing climate ol that hill-station.

‘The Nawab of Bhopal was inviled on 9 May for further dis-
cussions with the Cabinet Mission and the Viceroy on ‘suggested
points of agreement’ between thc representatives of the Congress
and the League, He expressed disappointment and dissatisfactiou at
the fact that, while the other parties concerned had been invited [or
consultation, the States had not heen so consulted with regard to
the suggested points. The Nawab asked for clarification on a number
of points and the Mission cleared his doubts,

On 16 May, the Cabinet Mission and the Viceroy in consul-
tation with His Majesty’s Government, issued a statement embodying
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their own suggestions and recommendations towards a solution of
the Indian problem. The announcement began with a survey of
facts and concluded with recommendations for the ‘best arrange-
ment to ensurce the speedy setling up of a new constitution for India.’
This was subsequently known as the “Cabinet Mission Plan.’
Referiing to the States, the Mission said that 1t was quite clear that
with the attainment of independence by British India, whether
within or without the British Gommonwealth, the relationship which
had hitherto existed between the States and the British Crown would
no longer be possible. Paramounticy could neither be retained by
the British nor transferred to the new government. The statement
went on to say that the rulers had assurcd the Mission that they
were ready and willing 1o co-operate in the new development of
India, But the precise form which that co-operation would take
must be a matter (or negotiation during the building up of the new
constitutional structure and it by no mcans followed that 1t would
be identical for all the States.

Under the proposed plan the States were to retain all subjects
and powers other than those ceded to the Union, namely foreign
affairs, defence and communications. In the preliminary siage,
they were to be represented 1n the Constituent Assembly by a nego-
tiating committec. In the final Constituent Assembly they were
to have appropriate representation not exceeding 93 seats. The
method of selection was to be determined by consultation between the
parties concerned. Alflier the provincial and group constitutions had
been drawn up by the three sections of the Gonstitnent Assembly,
the representatives of the sections ‘and of the Indian 5States would
reassemble for the purpose of settling the Unton constitution,

In their broadcasts on 16 May both the Secretary of State and
Sir Slaflord Cripps made only casual references to the States, They
asserled that paramountcy could not be handed over to anyone and
must ccase; they left the future relationship between the States and
British India to negotiations.

Lord Pethick-Lawrence, addressing a press conference the next
day, admitied that His Majesty’s Government’s relations with ihe
States were quite different from their relations with the provinces.
He refused to go beyond what had been laid down in the plan, He
said that the Mission did not think it would be in the interests either
of the people in the States or the people in the provinces to make
any rigid proposals with regard to the States, He was satisfied that
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the rather vague and loosc way in which they proposed to deal with
them was at the moment the method which was most likcly to bring
in the results which they all desired. Asked about the status of the
States in the interim period, he said that it would remain as it was.
He evaded questions as to whether the States’ representatives would
reflect the communal strength in the States; whether the interim
government which was proposed to be set up at the centre would
help the rulers to put down agitation by their subjects for responsible
government; whether the Political Department would sabotage the
plan, and so on.

On 22 May the Cabinet Mission published a ‘Memorandum
on States’ Treaties and Paramountey.” This had been handed over
to the Chancellor of the Chamber of Princes on 12 May; so that
it came to be known as the ‘ Memorandum of 12 May 1946, though
it was actually released to the press only on 22 May. The memo-
randum aflirmed that when a new fully self-governing or indepen-
dent government or governments came into being in British India,
His Majesty’s Government’s influence with these governments
would not be such as to enable them to carry out the obligations of
paramountcy; nor did they contemplate the retention of British
troops in India for that purpose. Thus, as a logical sequence, and
in view of the desire expressed to them on behalf of the States, His
Majesty’s (rovernment would cease to exercise the powers of para-
mountcy. This meant that the rights of the States which flowed
from their rglationship to the Crown would no longer exist, and that
all the rights surrendered by the States to the paramount power
would return to them. Political arrangements between the States
on the one side and the British Crown and British India on the other
would thus be brought to an end. The void would have to be filled
by the btates entering into a federal relationship with the successor
government or governments in British India, or by entering into
particular political arrangements. The memorandum also referred
to the desirability of the States, in suitable cases, forming or joining
administrative units large enough to enable them to be fitted into the
constitutional structure, as also of conducting negotiations with
British India in regard to the future regulation of matters of common
concern especially in the economic and financial fields.

On 17 May the Nawab of Bhopal wrote to Lord Wavell asking
for further clarification of certain points in the Cabinet Mission
plan, He wished to be sure that the authority of the proposed Union
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Government and legislature in respect of defence would not in any
way aflect the right of the States to maintain their own armed forces,
The finances of the Union, he demanded, should be limited to speci-
fic and agreed sources of revenuc and there should be no power
by implication to raise taxation by any other means. The cxisting
rights of the States in respect of communications should not be
affected. The method and manner of representation of the States in
the Union legislature should rest with the government of the
States or groups of States concerned, Any question raising a
major issuc in the Union legislature specifically affecting the
States should be dealt with on the same basis as a major com-
munal issuc? requiring a majority of States’ representatives present
and voting in 1its favour. FFurthermore, he asked to be assured
that the States so desiring would be frec 1o form a group or groups
amongst themselves on such terms and for such purposcs as might
be mulually agreed upon. The States should have the right to call
for a reconsidceration of the constitution of the Union after an initial
period of ten years and at ten-yearly intervals thereafier. The con-
stitution-making body should not discuss or make any recommenda-
tiong in respect of the form of government in the States or the reigning
dynasties. The decisions or recommendations of the constitution-
making body should not apply to any State without ratification. He
was definite that the representatives of the States to the Constituent
Assembly should be nominated by the State governments and
entered a caveat against the clause in the Cabinet Mission plan that
the method of sclection ‘will have to be determined.by consul-
tation.’

On 29 May, Lord Wavell sent a non-committal reply in which
he said that most of the questions raised by the Nawab were matters
for negotiation between the States and the British Indian members
of the Constituent Asscmbly. He admitted that the arguments addu-
ced by the Nawab ol Bhopal to show that the method of selection of
States’ representatives must lie in the unfettered discretion of the
States’ governments carried weight, But he fell that any categorical
pronouncement by the Gabinet Mission in the sense desired would
render not easier, but more difficult, that free association between
the States and British India which it had been the object of ihe

t Any question raising a major communal issue in the legislature should require forits
decision a majority of the representatives presentand voting of each of the two major
communilies as well as a majority of all the members present and voting.
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Mission to promote. Lord Wavell concluded that the seitlement of
most of the matters raised by the Nawab of Bhopal did not rest with
him or the Cabinect Mission since they related to the terms which the
States were free to negotiate for their own association with the new
constitutional structure,

The Nawab of Bhopal found Lord Wavell’s letter ‘ disappointing’.
He wrote again to the Viceroy on 2 June asserting that the States
were entitled to claim that the Grown should not leave them at the
mercy of British India and that, at least, they should not be placed
in a worse position in the Constituent Assembly or the Union legis-
lature than that accorded to the major communities. He specifically
wanted that any question raising a major issue particularly affecting
the States in the Union Constituent Assembly should be dealt with
on the samc basis as a major communal issue, and that the final
decision in regard to the method ofselection ol States” representatives
to that body must resi with the States themselves., The Nawab
cxpressed the beliel that 1t could never have been the desire of His
Majesty’s Government to leave the States as ‘a sort of no man’s
child’ without any effort on the part of the Crown Lo protect their
legitimate and reasonable demands and their established and accep-
ted rights as sovereign bodics. He concluded by appealing to the
Viceroy not to be party to such a deal in the case of friends who had
been faithful to their word and their promiscs both in [air weather
and foul. This plea was followed by yel another the following day.
In his reply of 4 June the Viceroy stated that he appreciated the
anxieties the Nawab had expressed on behalf of the rulers; but he
thought the Nawab might take a different view aftcr he had talked
over the background with Sir Conrad Corfield, the Political Adviser.
Lord Wavell suggested that the Nawab of Bhopal should do this
before the Standing Committee met in Bombay.,

I do not know what passed between Sir Conrad Corficld and the
Nawab of Bhopal. But when Sir Conrad addressed the Constitu-
tional Advisory CGommitiee of the Chamber of Princes on 8 June in
Bombay, the Gommittee of State Ministers on the 9th and the Stand-
ing Committee of the Chamber of Princes on the 10th, he stated that
the dccision regarding the lapse of paramountey at the end of the
interim period placed the States in the best bargaining position pos-
sible for the purpose of fitting themselves into the future constitutional
struclure. He advised the States to set up a Negotiating Commitiee
to sefile the terms on which they would be prepared to participate
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in the discussions of the Constituent Assembly, His idea was that
such a Negotiating Gommittee should be given a detailed brief,
which should include instructions in regard {o certain conditions
such as the method of selection of States’ representatives; exclusion
of dynastic questions and discussion as to forms of government;
final ratification of individual States, and Union finance by contri-
bution rather than by direct levy., He appealed to the rulers to de-
velop the local patriotism of their subjects. He promisced that during
the interim period the Political Department would assist the States
in arranging and pursuing negotiations and in the making of practical
plans for grouping and affiliation; that it would continue to protect
the Stales, pursue the revision of existing agrecements of individual
Stiates mainly in the economic sphere, and discuss arrangements for
minority administrations afler the lapse of paramountcy, He finally
suggested that if the rulers would maintain continuous personal
touch with their subjects, a considerable degree of mnternal support
would be forthcoming and that the emergence of real constitutional
monarchies in units of suitable size might be of the greatest value to
the future development of India.

The points madce by Sir Conrad Corfield provided material for
the resolution adopted by the Standing Committee of the Chamber
of Princes on 10 June 1946. The resolution expressed the view
that the Cabinet Mission plan provided the necessary machinery for
the attainment by India of independence, as well as a fair basis
for further negotiations. It welcomed the declaration of the Gabinet
Mission in regard to paramountcy, but pointed out that certain
adjustments for the interim period would be nccessary; that there
were a number of points in the plan which still required elucidation;
and that there were also several matters of fundamental importance
which had been left over for negotiation and settlement.

The Standing Committee set up a Negotiating Gommittee and
authorized the Chancellor to arrange discussions with the correspond-
ing body of the British Indian Constituent Assembly as contemplated
by the Cabinet Mission,

11



1V
PRELUDE TO GHAQOS

“*B 1 E Cabinet Mission plan of 16 May 1946, though expressed
E  in the form of a recommendation, was really in the nature of an

.. award, as the Mission had been unable to bring about a general
agreement between the Congress and the Mushim Leaguc. The
Congress agreed to participate in the Constituent Assembly to be
convened under the plan for the framing of a new constitution. The
Muslim League at first accepted the plan while reiterating that the
attainment of a sovereign Pakisian still remained its unalterable
objective; but afier a somewhat acrimonious controversy belwceen
the Congress and the League over the interpretation of the plan,
the Council of the Muslim League revoked its acceptance.

On 12 August, the Viceroy invited Nehru (who had become
Congress President) to form an interim government which he did on
2 September. Subsequently, on 15 October, the League represen-
tatives also joined the Government.

In the meantime, elections to the Gonstituent Assembly were
held in accordance with the procedure laid down in the plan. The
Muslim Leaguers who were elected to that body refused to join it.
However, the Constituent Assembly with all the other members
met, for the first time, on 9 December, It elected Dr Rajendra
Prasad as the President and appointed various commitices to drafl
the different sections of the Constitution.

On 21 December the Constituent Assembly passed a resolution
appointing a Negotiating Committee to negotiate with a similar
body which had already been appointed by the Chamber of Princes
to deal with the representation of the States in ithe Constituent
Assembly. Nehru, spcaking on the resolution said: ‘I rcgret, I say
frankly, that we have to meet the rulers’ Negotiating Committce.
I think that, on the part of the States, there should have been on the
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Negotiating Gommitice representatives of the people of the States.
I think cven now that the Negotiating Committee, ifit wants to do the
1ight thing, should include some such representatives; but I feel that
we cannot insist upon this at this stage,” This was a rather inaus-
picious start,

The rulers, in the meantime, had been giving careful attention 1o
the Cabinet Mission plan in so far as it affected their position and
rights, The Standing Committec ofthe Chamber of Princes held many
meetings, and also sought the advice of the Political Department on
various points. Ultimately, the Committce drvew up a lengthy
resolution which was adopted al a Conference of Rulers in Bombay
on 29 January 1947. This emphasized certain fundamental proposi-
tions, which formed the basis of the States’ acceptance of the plan,
The entry of the States into the Union, the resolution stated, should
be on no other basis than that of ncgotiation and the final decision
should rest with each State. Their participation in the constitu-
tional discussions in the meantime would imply no commitments
in regard to their ultimate decision, which could only be taken after
consideration of the complete piclure of the constitution. The States
would retain all subjects and powers other than those ceded by them
to the Union. The lapse of paramountcy was stressed. The consti-
lutton of cach State, its territorial integrity and the succession of
its reigning dynasty should nol be interfered with by the Union, nor
should the existing boundaries of a State be altered except by s
{ree consent. The Constituent Assembly was not to deal with ques-
tions affecting the internal adminisiration or constitutions of the
States. The resolution reiterated that the States’ Negotiating Com-
miitec was the only authoritative body competent under the plan to
conduct preliminary negotiations on behalf of the States and the
Commitiee was authorized to confer with the corresponding body
of the British India portion of the Constituent Assembly 1n order
to negotiate the terms of the States’ participation in the Gonstituent
Assembly and in regard to their ultimate position in an all-India
Union. As a further safeguard, it was provided that the results of
these negotiations would be subject to the approval of the Consti-
tutional Advisory Gommillee and ratification by the States.

The publication of this resolution provoked a good deal of contro-
versy. Public opinion was considerably agitated over the slatemendi
made by some rulers that if the fundamental propositions were
not accepted by the Congress, they would boycott the Constituent
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Assembly. Among the rulers there was a small group which did not
see eye to eye with the resolution passed at Bombay. Sir B. L. Mitter,
Dewan of Baroda, under instructions from his ruler, announced
on 8 February that he was ncgotiating direct with the Negotiating
Committee of the Constituent Assembly and that he was not bound
by the resolution. Accordingly, Baroda decided to join the Consti-
tuent Assembly. As carly as 30 July 1946, the Maharajah of Cochin
had announced his intention of participating in the Constituent
Assembly and sending to it only popular representatives clected by
the Legislative Council of the State.

The majority of the States still stood by the Negotiating Commilttce
of the Chamber of Princes. This body met the British Indian counter-
part for the first time on 8 February. Material diflerences with
respect to the scope of the discussions manifested themselves at the
outset. Nchru and Vallabhbhai Patel* suggested that though there
was no specific agenda, the question for the joint meeling to consider
and decide was the manner in which the representatives of the btates
could enter and participate in the work of the Constituent Assembly ;
that the meeting should leave aside other matters which were largely
academic and in respect of which there might be differences of
opinion., The States’ representatives, however, did not accept this
position. The Chancellor, thec Nawab of Bhopal, said that the
Chamber of Princes by its resolution of 29 January had laid down
certain fundamental propositions on which thcy wanted satisfac-
tory assurances before they could cnter the Constituent Assembly,
Each side adhered to its own point of view and the first joint mect-
ing ended without producing any result,

The procecdings of the second sitting on 9 February were open-
ed by the Nawab of Bhopal, who repeated his previous day’s stand
that his CGommitiee was bound under its instructions to secure a saiis-
factory settlement of the fundamentals. He was prepared to discuss
these points either forrnally or informally with somebody competent
to do so; and in the meanwhile proposed a postponement of the dis-
cussions, When things were again hcading towards a deadlock, Sir
Yadavindra Singh, the Maharajah of Patiala, intervencd and asked
for a clartfication of the position as it had emerged {rom the previous
day’s meeting. On behalf of the Congress, Nchru made a persuasive
approach to the rulers. He said that the meeting was procceding,

! Vallabhbliai Patel was affectionately known as *Sardar’. That is how I used to
address him and that is how I propose to refer 1o him hereafter,



Attee’s  Declaration 99

as it must, on the basis of the Cabinet Mission plan which had been
accepled by the Congress in full with all its implications. He wenl
on Lo say that the issuc of a monarchical form of government in the
States did nol arise out of the plan; bul it had been made clcar by
the British Incdian representatives that they did not wish to come in
the way of this form ol government. The Congress had no idea of
changing the States” boundaries. Such change must have the consent
of the parties and would not be forced on them. He added that the
schemc under the plan was a voluntary one and there would be no
compulsion at any stage. After this conciliatory statement, the at-
mosphere became more friendly and the meeting went on Lo consider
the question of filling the 93 seats allotted to the States. It was
decided that a scheme of distribution should be worked out jointly
by the Secretaries of the Constituent Assembly and of the Chamber
ol Princcs and the mecting adjourned ill 1T March.

In the meantime, open dissension between the Congress and the
Muslim League blocs in the interim Government had come to a head.
The Government of India was a house divided against itself. This
was the situation when, on 20 February 1947, Prime Minister
Attlee made a declaration in the House of Commons in the course
of which he set a dale not later than June 1948 by which
Britain would transfer power to responsible Indian hands. It was
also announced that Viscount Mountbatten of Burma would replace
Lord Wavell as Viceroy. With regard 1o the States, the declaralion
stated:

As was explicitly stated by the Cabinet Mission, His Majesty’s Govern-
ment do not intend 10 hand over their powers and obligations under para-
mountcy to any government of British India, It is not intended o bring
paramountcy, as a system, to a conclusion earlier than thc date of the
final transfer of power, but it is contemplated that for the intervening
period the rclations of the Crown with individual States may be adjusted
by agreement.

This announcement had a considerable influence on the iwo
Negotiating Committees at their joint meeting on 1 March, Nehru
contended that the British Government’s declaration had introduced
an additional element of urgency and it would be greatly to the ad-
vanlage of the States, no less than of the British Indian represen-
tatives in the Constituent Assembly, if the States’ representatives could
join the Assembly during the April session. The Chancellor replied
that he appreciated that the time factor was the essence of the matier,
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but pointed out that discussions among the bSlates had revealed
certain differences in regard to the secretarialt proposals for distri-
bution of seats among the States. After some discussion, the meeting
approved the distribution proposed by the two secrelariatls subject
to minor adjustments which might be made subscquently, The
meeting then turned to the method of sclecting representatives. A
sub-committee consisiing of Dr Pattabhi Sitaramayya, Sir N.
Gopalaswvami Alyangar, Sir V., T. Krishnamachari, Sir SultanAhmed,
SirB. N. Rau, Mir Maghbool Mahmood and H. V. R. Icngar, 1.c.s.,
was appointed to consider the question. The sub-commitice presented
its proposals the next day. The general proposition was accepted
that fifty per cent of the States’ representatives should be clected
and that cndeavours would be made to increasc the elected quota as
much as possible.

Nehru invited the States’ representatives to function forthwith
on some of the commiitees sct up by the Constituent Assembly,
particularly the Union Powers Gommittee and the Fundamental
Rights Committee; but the Chancellor again took up the attitude
that he could not reach any decision on this point without consulting
the general conference of rulers, which he promised to convenc at
an early date.

Lord Mountbatten, the new Viceroy, arrived in India on 22
March and took charge two days later, In the course of his first
speech, he said that his was not a normal viceroyalty. The British
Government were resolved to transfer power by Juune 1948 and a
solution had to be found in a {few months’ time. His earnest deter-
mination to carry out the decision of His Majesty’s Government
to transfer power to Indian hands smoothly and speedily created a
deep impression.

The general conference of rulers was summoned for the first week
of April. The Chancellor’s secretariat had circulated a memorandum
for the meetings of the Standing Commiltee and the general con-
ference. The approach in this memorandum was not acceplable
to an influential section of the rulers, and the Maharajah of Bikancr,
the late Sir Sadul Singh, declared his opposition to the policy
recommended by the Chanccllor. He questioned the advisability
and wisdom of an attitude of * wait-and-sec’. In a very ably worded
statement which he circulated to the rulers, the Maharajah argued:

The CGabinet Mission plan had been originally accepted by the Congress,
the Muslhim League and the Siates and even though the Muslim League
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subsequently decided not 1o co-operate, it is felt that, il the States also
took up such an attitude, it would give an impression that the States were
playing into the hands of certain political parties in British India,

Even il the Muslim League ultimately decided not to participate in
constitution-making, it is beyond question, in the interests of the States
as a whole, interspersed as they are with territories in British India, that,
by June 1948, a strong central government should be created which can
take over power. The only safe policy for the States, therefore, is to work
fully with the stabilizing clements in British India to create a centre at
least for as large a section of India as possible to start with, leaving it open
for any other parl to come in at a later time, which would safeguard hoth
the States and British India in the vacuum that would be created by the
withdrawal of the British Government.

The united {ront that is required to he put up by the States is, thercfore,
not by adopting a policy of ‘ wait-and-sec’ but by fully co-operating with
the Consiituent Assembly with all the benefits that will accrue on such
a step,

It is a fact which brooks no argument that it is essential for the States
to carry their own people with them and nothing must he done which
would 1mpair their loyalty and support. It is, therefore, most strongly
felt thal a decisive step taken with a broad vision and in the larger interests
of India is not only in the interests of the States themsclves but becomes
imperative., Neither can the Princes alford to lose the support of their
people, nor can they ignore the resultant adverse repercussions in British
India. British India is keenly watching the attitude of the States but it
is perhaps not sulliciently appreciated, or I fear some quarters deliberately
choose to ignore the fact, that the people of the States are equally keenly
watching the attitude of the Princes.

The interests of the people of the States obviously lie in joining hands
with British India in establishing a strong centre. And they are keenly
alive to that necessity, I[the Princes were to help in attaining that object,
then the interests of the people and the Princes would continue to remain
identical. But, if for any reason, the Princes were to decide otherwise,
they would be putting themselves in opposition to the very strong wishes
and inierests of their people.

There seems to be a school of thought among the States which holds
that they need not take part in the Constituent Assembly at all, but can
reach political agrecments with the Union or central government when,
it is established. If they do not enter the Constiluent Assembly and later
on enter into political agreements with the central party, the paosition of
those States will substantially be the same as at present in regard to the
existing Government of India,

The Maharajah of Bikaner’s lead was followed by the Maharajah
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of Patiala, who also issued a public statement deprecating the policy
of ‘sitting on the fence’.

The Maharajah of Bikaner saw no point in taking part in the
deliberations of the general confercnce or of the Standing Commitiee,
His repeated advocacy in favour of the States’ entering the Consti-
tuent Asscmbly and its commitiecs did not, however, affect the
cencral opinion of the majority of the rulers. As all attempts on
his part to persuade the GChancellor and the other rulers to parti-
cipate in ithe Gonstituent Assembly proved ineffective, he had no
alternative but 1o say clearly on behalf of the Bikaner State that it
dissociated itself from the majority view. As his group had decided
to join the Constituent Assembly and its committees, the Maharajah
considered it unnecessary to attend either the meeting of the Standing
Committce on 1 April or the general conference following it. He
showed up at the meeting of the Standing Committce in order only
to approve a lettcr that was to be issued to Nehru and walked out
after this had been done,

Public attention was now focusscd on the firm stand taken by the
Bikaner-Patiala group and this had its cffect on the gencral con-
ference of rulers and States’ ministers which met on 2 April 1947,
As a result, the original draft resolution was watered down and
anothcr adopted in its stead. By this resolution, the conferencc
reiterated the willingness of the States to render the fullest possible
co-operation in framing an agreed constitution and towards facili-
tating the transfer of power on an agreed basis. It re-defined
ithe general understanding reached between the two Negotialing
Committees and demanded that ratification of that understanding
by the Constituent Assembly should precede the participation in the
work of the Constituent Assembly of the representatives of such
States as might desire to do so at the appropriate stage. The resolu-
tion notcd that Attlee’s statement of 20 February 1947 further
confirmed that paramountcy would cease at the close of the interim
period and that the States would be in a position as independent
units 1o negotiate freely in regard to their future relationship with
others concerned. In view of the element of urgency introduced
by Attlee’s statement, the conference authorized the Chancellor
and the Standing Commitiee 1o conduci negotiations with the
Crown Representative in regard to matiers relating to the
lapse of paramounicy and the transfer of power. The States’
Negotiating Committee was authorized to negotiate with the interim
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Government and the competent British Indian authorities, provided
that these negotiations would he conducted in accordance with
the resolutions adopted by the general conference of rulers on 29
January 1947, and that the results of the negotiations would be
subject to the approval of the Constitutional Advisory Commiilee
ol the CGhamber of Princes and final ratification by the States.

The compromise served as a formal face-saving device and post-
poncd an open split, although group alignments had now become
crystallized, The Nawab of Bhopal insisted that the Constituent
Assembly should ‘ratify’ the understanding reached between the
two Negoliating Gommittees before the States could enter the Consti-
tucnt Asscmbly. Nehru, when approached, took the stand that a
formal ratification by the Constituent Assembly was unnecessary
and all that was required of his Committec was to report the results
of its negotiations to the Assembly. In view of Nehru’s attitude,
the Chancellor advised the States not to join the Consiiluent
Asscmbly or its committces. The Maharajah of Patiala declared
thal Nchru’s view that his commitiee was required only to report
results 10 the Constituent Assembly was borne out by the proceed-
ings. In any case, he thought that it was for Nehru and his colleagues
to place joint decisions before the Constituent Assembly in such
manner as ihey deemed fit. He therefore urged that the States
should join the Assembly and nominate representatives 1o the various
commitiees withoul {urther loss of time,

The Nawab of Bhopal madc one final cffort to dissuade the rulers
from entering the Constituent Assembly by addressing a personal
appeal Lo them to adhere to the decisions of the general conference,
He suggested to the Maharajah of Patiala, for instance, that rulers
who held offices in the Chamber should implement its recommenda-
tions on such vital matters notwithstanding any personal differcnces
of opinion. The Maharajah of Patiala promptly replied that ihe
fact that he happened to hold the office of Pro-Ghancellor imposed
no special obligations on his Government, nor did it detract from his
discretion to adopt such policy about vital matters as he considered
necessary in the interests of his State. The Maharajah pointed out
that there were no precedents indicating that any resolutions had
ever been treated as particularly binding on the States whose
rulers held any office in the Chamber. He told the Ghancellor that
he was sending his representatives io the Constituent Assembly,
because he felt that the stage for the States’ participation in the

13



28 Prelude to Chaos

Constitution-making processes had definitely come, and that any
delay in doing so would be prejudicial not only (o his .own interests
but also to the wider intercsts of the country. The Maharajah of
Bikaner, and other rulers who followed his lead, fully supported
the stand taken by the Maharajah of Patiala and decided to send
representatives to the Constituent Assembly.

On 18 April, addressing the annual session of the All-Incia
States People’s Conference, Nehru declared that any State which
did not come into the Constituent Assembly would be treated by
the country as a hostile State. Such a State, he added, would have
to hear the consequences of being so treated. This speech provoked
a prompi rejoinder from Liaqat Ali Khan, the leader of the Mushim
Tcague Party in the Central Legislature and the Gabinet, who in
a press statement declared that the Congress had no right to cocrce
the States; and that, according to the Cabinet Mission plan and
the clarifications issued by His Majesty’s Government from time to
time, the States were perfectly within their rights in refusing to have
anything to do with the Constituent Assembly. Liagat Ali Khan
appealed 10 the States to ‘disregard the idle threat’.

On 28 April 1947, the representatives of the States of Baroda,
Bikaner, Cochin, Jaipur, Jodhpur, Patiala and Rewa took their
scats in the Constituent Assembly. This was the beginning of the
cnd of the united front put up by the Chamber of Princes. There-
after, representatives from other States started trickling one afler
another into the Constituent Assembly,

We musl here notice another development. The rulers and their
advisers had for some time been thinking of regional federations of
States. The Jam Saheb of Nawanagar and the Maharajah of Dhran-
gadhra took considerable interest in the formation of a union of the
Kathiawar States. Some of the rulers of Central India had appointed
a special committee to frame a draft constitution for their region.
In regard to the Punjab States two draft schemes prepared respective-
ly by the rulers of Bahawalpur and Mandi were discussed, The Rajah
of Baghat had drawn up a scheme for a Punjab Hill States Union,
The rulers as well as the ministers of some of the States in Rajasthan
had proposed a scheme for the union of all the Rajput States. Some
of the rulers of the Deccan States had agreed to form a single union,
The rulers of the Orissa and Chattisgarh States were discussing
the idea of an Eastern States Union.

The attitude of the Congress towards the idea of the States
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grouping Lthemselves into unions was not favourable. Gandhijt person-
ally was averse to the suggestion, for he had a suspicion that the pro-
posal had becen instigated by the Political Department. When the
rulers of the Decccan States approached him, he advised them to
consult Nehru. The latter was not opposed to the idea of their
grouping themsclves into a Union, but he said that the first step
was for cach ruler to grant responsible government to his people.
Later, in a specch at the all All-India Statcs People’s Conference,
Nechru said that States which could not possibly form economic units
should be absorbed into the neighbouring provinces and not with
other States.

However, except {or the short-lived Unions of the Deccan States,
the Simla Hill States and the Eastern States, none of these schemes
ever came into being,

Meanwhile the Political Department was busy devising measurcs
for 1ts own liquidation. As a first step, a cohference of Residents and
Political Officers was held in the second wecek of April 1947 to con-
sider steps for the contraction of paramountcy and its eventual
lapse. The Secretary of State had given the Viceroy maximum dis-
cretion in carrying out the policy of relaxation of paramountcy with
a view to the greatest possible devolution by the end of 1947, subject
to the avoidance of any step which might prejudice the future unity
of India in regard to defence and communications, The object, as
explamed by the Political Adviser to the conference, was to enable
the States to stand on their own feet, to encourage them to hold
together and at the same time to co-operate fully with British India.
The programme was to withdraw Political Agents by the Autumn
and Residents by the end of 1947, while the main duties of the Poli-
tical Department were to be wound up by the end of March 1948.

I is interesting to note that onc of the steps proposed by the Poli-
tical Department at this conference was to hand over the Grown
Represcntative’s forces to the various Siates, e.g. the Malwa Biul
Corps to Indore. The Crown Representative’s Police force' was
maintained by the Political Department from the revenues of the
Government of India. The intention was not that this force should

I When I took over the States Ministry we stopped the disintegration of this force and
changed its name from the Crown Representative’s Police to the Central Reserve Police.
1t was one battalion in strength at that time. We increased it to two battalions, "This was
the only effective force which the States Ministry had at its disposal, It was very well
trained and but for the discipline, efficiency and devotion to duty of its officers and
men, we would not have heen able to maintain order, particularly in the small States
and in the border areas, during the ¢rucial peripd following the transfer of power,
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be handed over to thc successor Government but that 1t should
be distributed piecemeal among various States or groups of States,

The confeience did not come to any definitc conclusions with
respect to agrecment in the cconomic and financial ficlds between
tlie States and British India in such matters as customs, salt, opium,
cxcise, posts, telegraphs and so on.

It was about this time that Lord Mountbatien announced the
plan of 3 Junc 1947, according to which His Majesty’s Govern-
ment would be prepared to relinquish power to two Governments,
India and Pakistan, on the basis of Dominion Status, and this relin-
quishment of power would take place much earlier than June 1918.
In regard to the States, the plan laid down that the policy of His
Majesty’s Government towards the Indian States contained in the
Cabinet Mission memorandum of 12 May 1946 recmained un-
changed, This announcement introduced a maximum degree of
urgency into the situation.

On the 3rd evening Lord Mountbatten met the members of the
States’ Negotiating Commitiee and explained the plan to them.
Sir Conrad Corficld, Political Adviser, was present at the meeting,
along with Lord Ismay and Sir Eric Mieville. Lord Mountbatten
gave an account of the negotiations leading to the decision to par-
tition the country. He cxplained that the main consequences to the
slates of the new plan would be twofold. First, it was improbable
that the two new Dominions would have such loose cenlres as had
originally been contemplated. Secondly, the [act that two scparate
Dominions would be voluntarily accepted into the Commonwealth
would, he hoped, represent a measure of compensation to the States,
who were the old allies and friends of Britain.

Copies of the plan were then distributed and there was a general
discussion. Sir G, P. Ramaswami Aiyar (Travancore) appealed to
the Viceroy for paramounticy to be loosened or allowed to lapse in
advance of the date of the transfer of power. Such a course would
cnable the States to negotiate on equal terms with the prospective
Governments of the two Dominions. He felt that there might be
Stales which were not likely to join up with either Dominion and it
was cven more essenlial {or the bargaining powers of thesc to be
improved.

Lord Mounitbatten replied that, in his opinion, the fact that
paramountcy was aboutl to lapse rendered it possible even at that
time {or negotiations by the States to be made on a basis of complete
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frecdom. His instructions werc thal paramountcy should lapsc on
the {ransfer of power. He would, however, consider the premature
lapse of paramountcy in special cases if 1t would be proved to him
that its continuation constituted a handicap to ncgotiation.

oir Gonrad Corlicld gave it as his opinion that a number of Stalcs
would be glad (o sec paramountey continuc to [unclion until the
transfcr of power. The Nawab ol Bhopal confirmed this view, sub-
ject Lo any opinion that might be expressed by the Standing Gommit-
tee of the Ghamber., Sir Conrad Corfield pointed out that para-
mounticy was already in process of retraction,

Sir B. L. Mitter (Baroda) asked what would happen (o economic
and commercial agreements when paramountcy lapsed. Lord
Mountbatten said that, in order thatl there might be no adminis-
trative vacuum, interim arrangements would be required for the
period between the lapse of paramountcy and the conclusion of
fresh or modified agrecments. These intcrim arrangements could
best be made on a standstill basis with such modifications as were
necessitated by the reversion to the States of the rights surrendercd
by them to the Crown. In negotiating these interim arrangements,
the Viceroy and the Political Department would give all the assis-
tance they could during the short remaining period.

The Nawab of Bhopal pointed out that, apart from negotiations
in regard to agreements, there were also certain claims which would
have to be settled in advance of the lapse of paramountcy. He
suggested that an ad hoc organization should be set up to deal with
these,

sir A. Ramaswami Mudaliar (Mysore) stressed that the need {or
agrcement on all these matters was as essential from the point of
view of the two new Dominions as from that of the States.

Sir Gonrad Corfield gave some cxamples of the manner i which
interim arrangements on a siandstill basis could be made. He said
that, when the central Government decided to abolish the salt duty,
they had also decided to continue to observe the terms of existing
agreements and to make payments due under those agreements until
such lime as new ones were entered into. That was one example of a
standstill interim arrangement. He next quoted the example of posts
and telegraphs, When paramountcy lapsed, the States would, for
instance, be free to imprison the postmaster of an imperial post office!
If they did so, however, they would run the risk of cutting them-
sclves off from all-India communications. Presumably,therefore, they
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would agree to trecat post offices with sufficient consideration to
cnsure their continued functioning. Another example was railways
and cantonments in those States where the Crown Representative
stll had jurisdiction. These would revert to the Slates on the lapse
of paramountcy. But elforts were being made to persuade the interim
Government to negotiate arrangements wherchy the reversion of
jurisdiction would not cffcct the working of the railways and
the accommodation of the Indian army pecnding the conclusion
of fresh agreements. Sir Conrad said that he was not clear to what
claims the Nawab of Bhopal was referring. Claims arising out of
the lapse of paramountcy would be a matter for negotiation, and
any decisions by the Viceroy in such matters would have no sanction
behind them after the lapse of paramountcy.

Sir C. P. Ramaswami Aiyar pointed out that there were a
certain number of agreements into which the States had cntered
to which the Viceroy was not a party. He suggested that it
would be necessary for some machinery to be set up to deal with
them. Sir Gonrad said that efforts had been made to establish an
all-India consultative committee for such purposes, but that the
interim Government had not agreed to this, He stated that cxisting
contractual agrecements would be a matter for discussion with the
opposite party. There had already been a number of conferences
with the relevant departments of the central government regarding
‘paramountcy’ agrecments; and he bad cxplained to these depart-
ments that the jurisdiction was about to revert to the States and had
suggested that theyshould make interim arrangements based on that
assumption,

Sir V. T. Krishnamachart (Jaipur) advocated the necessity for
seliing up machinery for joint consultation in regard to existing
agreements. Sir Conrad said that efforts had been made to find a
formula which would embody a general standstill agreement. If these
were successful, joint consultation for fresh agreements could be
arranged either within each Gonstituent Assembly or by ad foc nego-
tialing committees,

The Rajah of Bilaspur asked whether the entry of States into cither
Dominion Constiluent Assembly was a matier of frce choice. Lord
Mountbatten confirmed that it was. The Rajah then asked whether
constitutions were likely to be drafied by the respective Constituent
Assemblies before or after the lapse of paramountcy. Lord Mount-
batten replied that the broad outlines of the constitution drafted by
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the existing Constituent Assembly for India were likely 1o be ready
before the date fixed for the lapse of paramountcy. In the case of the
Pakistan Constituent Assembly, he believed that Jinnah had been
working on ‘heads of a constitution’, but these would probably
only be a guide and nothing concrete would have appeared belore
the lapse of paramountcy. In any case, paramountcy would lapse
as soon as the new self-governing Dominions came into being: these
would be set up under the Government of India Act of 1935 (amen-
ded for that purpose).

The Rajah of Bilaspur then asked what was likely to happen to
States which decided to join neither Constituent Assembly. Did His
Majesty’s Government envisage further relations with them? Lord
Mountbatien stated that until it was known what shape the two
Dominions would take, this was a hypothetical question which he
was not prepared, at that stage, to refer to His Majesty’s Govern-
menti; but it was clear that the first step should be for these States
to enter inlo negotiations for administrative arrangements with one
or other, or perhaps both, of the successor Governments in British
India. Whether a State actually joined cither Dominion or not,
it was obvious for geographical and economic reasons that such
arrangements would be csscntial,

Lord Mountbatten suggested that the States’ Negotiating Commit-
tec should continue for the next two or three months to consider
the various broad principles of the problems which were bound to
arise.

Sir G, P. Ramaswami Alyar said that there was a practical diffic-
ulty in this suggestion. Such a committee had been suggested to
the interim Government, but the objection had becn raised that the
present States’ Negotiating Committee was unrepresentative as the
States’ people were not represented on it. While all the members
present at the meeting were ready and willing lo place their exper-
lence at the disposal of the Viceroy, the reaclions of the authorities
of the two Dominions which it was proposed to set up should first
be ascertained,

Lord Mounthatten pointed out that the greater demand would be
for a committec of the representatives of the States which were
likely to adhere to the Indian Constituent Assembly. Perhaps two
committees might be set up to negotiate with the two Constituent
Assemblies, With this view thcre was general agreement, provided
the interim Government agreed {o such a proposal. The Nawab
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of Bhopal said that he would put up the suggestion before the Stand-
ing Clommittee of the Ghamber ol Princes and inform the Viceroy
of their opinion,

Finally, Lord Mountbatten said that, whereas he did not wish
to give any official advice on what steps should be taken by those
Staies which were doubtful whether or not to join cither Constituent
Assembly, he would be willing to give personal advice to anybody
who came and asked for it. He had however one suggestion to make
now. In coming to their decisions, the representatives of the States
should cast their minds forward ten years and consider what the
situation in the country, and in the world as a whole, was likely to
be at that time,

Lord Mounthatten clucidated the plan next day at a press confer-
cnce. No fresh ground was covered so far as the States were concern-
cd. But 1o a question whether it wag the intention of His Majesiy’s
Government to confer dominion status on any State which declared
itself independent, he replied emphatically in the negative. It was
al this conference that he gave the first public indication that the
cdatc of * the transfer of power could be about 15 August 1947

With the announcement of the plan, the Nawab of Bhopal resigned
his Chancellorship of the Chamber of Princes. In his letter of resig-
nation he stated: )

Now that Your Excellency has indicated to us the policy of His
Majesty’s Government in regard to the future of the Indian States, and
Bhopal State would, as soon as paramountcy s withdiawn, be assuming an
idependent stalus, I consider it desirable that I should tender my resig-
nation of the office of Chancellor of the Chamber of Princes with clleet
from today. Another reason for my resignation is that the Chamber, as
now constituted, formed part of a constitulional machinery which, in my
opinion, will now become funclus officio.

In another letter to the Viceroy, he stated that:

The State of Bhopal does not wish to remain associated in any
manner whatsoever with the Chamber of Princes or any of its subordinate
organmizations. It caunot therefore be represented by the Standing
Committee of that body and will negotiate direct with the successor
Governments of British India in regard to its interests, and its future
political relationship with Pakistan and Hindustan.

On the resignation of the Nawab of Bhopal as Chancellor, the
Maharajah of Patiala, then Pro-Chancellor, took over the Chancel-
lorship, As a matter of fact, the organization was in chaos. The
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Standing Ciommittee later adopted a resolution Lo the effect that,
with the lapse of paramountcy, the Chamber of Princes would
cecasc lo exist. There was however a section of rulers who still {elt
that there was necd for a strong and eflective organizalion of the
states to replace the Ghamber.

The States entitled to separate representation on the Gonstituent
Assembly, known as viable States, were now rcassured that there
was no threat to their separate existence. This development aroused
among them consciousness of a community of interests; and joint
consultations by this group, with the exception of States like
Hyderabad and Bhopal, now became a feature of the princely
parleys. The smaller States, on the other hand, became apprchen-
sive regarding the attitude of the major Stales. This conflict of
interests stood in the way of the establishment ol an organization to
succeed the Ghamber of Princes and, with the crystallization of
oroup alignments, the chances of any concerted action on the part
of the rulers as a body receded.

The viable States then thought of having an organization of their
own. A constitution was drawn up, but there was some delay in
bringing the organization into existence mainly because personal
adjustments amongst the rulers had a way of taking their own time,
In the meantime, events were moving faster than had been generally
anticipated,

The Congress in accepting the lapse of paramountcy did not
foresce all the consequences that would {ollow. A brief experience
of office soon showed the Congress leaders what a stale of confusion
and anarchy the country was heading for as a result of it. Reports
had reached Nehru and Sardar that the Political Department was
destroying all records, winding up residencies and handing over
canlonment areas and the Grown forces to various States.

On 11 June, the Standing Committee of the All-India States
People’s Gonference passed a lengthy resolution in the course of
which they demanded that the Political Department and its agencies
should be handed over to the new Government of India or, in the
alternative, that a new central department should be created
immediately to discharge the functions of the Political Department.

Nehru raised this question al a meeting of parly lcaders called
by Lord Mountbatten on 13 June. The Congress was represented
by Nebru, Sardar and J. B. Kripalani (then Gongress President);
the League by Jinnah, Liaqat Ali Khan and Abdur Rab Nishtar,

19
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and the Sikhs by Sardar Baldev Singh. Sir Conrad Corfield, the
Political Adviser, was also present. Lord Mountbatten inaugurated
the procecdings by stating that his instructions were that paramount-
cy should lapse not later than the date on which the transfer of
power look place. The lapse of paramountcy would automatically
involye the closing down of the Political Department.

Nehru said that, as he understood it, all other functions of the
Political Department except paramountcy had continued, despite
the 1935 Act, to be exercised by the Governor-General-in-Council,
Sir Conrad Corfield said that all functions connected with the
States were exercised by the Crown Represeniative. Nehru said
that, whercas he accepted the position with regard to the lapse of
paramountcy at present, surely all the other matters with which the
Crown Representative and the Political Department had to deal
were Government of India matters and would continue 1o be dealt
with by them.

Sir Conrad stated that no such clear division could he made.
The purpose behind the Crown Representative’s functions was
that neither should the States by their own action prejudice all-
India interests, nor the Government of India by their action pre-
judice the interests of the States.

Nehru said that he had consulted many eminent lawyers and that
the issue was a highly controversial one. In any case, he felt that a
stage was now being reached at which very serious consequences
threatened the country. He pointed out that His Majesty’s Govern-
ment’s statement of 3 June referred back to the memorandum of
the Cabinet Mission of 12 May 1946. He said that he accepted
these documents as they were, but in his opinion the policy of the
Political Department had been contrary to them,

sir Conrad denied the allegation. He said that there had been
full and continuous consultation with the departments of the Govern-
ment of India and that full details had been supplied to them at
inter-departmental conferences,

Nehru said that 1t was one thing to deal with a department on a
specific matter but that the wider policy was quite anoiher thing.
There were many rights and obligations apart from paramountcy.
To deal with each department separately concerning these would
produce adminisirative chaos. He went on to say that he fully
admitted the principle that any State could, if it so wished, join
the Pakistan Constituent Assembly; but there was no trace in the
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Cabinet Mission’s memorandum of any State being allowed to claim
idependence.

Sir Cionrad referred Nehru to the following passage in the memo-
randum on States’ Treatics and Paramountcey:

The void will have to be filled, cither by the States entering into a
federal relationship with the successor Government or Governments in
British India or failing this, entering into particular political arrangemecits
with it or them.

Nehru said that in his opinion this did not signify the possibility
of States becoming independent. Sir Conrad said that in his opinion
the term ‘particular political arrangements’ implied relations with
autonomous units.

Jinnah said that in his view the btates were fully entitled to say
that they would join neither Constituent Assembly, Every Indian
State was a sovereign State. Nehru disagreed with the proposition,

Jinnah reiterated that in his opinion Indian States were sovereign
States for every purpose except in so far as they had entered into
treaties with the Crown. British India could do nothing to them.
The Crown was under certain obligations to them and they 1o it,
according to the terms of treaties and agreements which had been
entered into. To say that the Governor-General or the British
Parliament could lay down that every Indian State was bound to
enter one Constituent Assembly or the other was not according Lo
the law or the constitution. If the States liked to come in, they could
do so by agreement, but there was no way of forcing them in.

Nehru asked what were the tests of sovereignty? One was the
capacity for international relations. The States had notsuch capacity.
Another was the capacity for declaring war. The Stiates had no
such capacity. There were 562 States, Of this number there might
perhaps be a few, but only a few, which could claim semi-sovereignty.
Nehru then read out scveral extracts from the Cabinet Mission’s
memorandum, He said that in his opinion the whole background
of this memorandum was that the States should enter the structure
of one or the other government.,

Jinnah reiterated his view that the Cabinet Mission had never
laid down that every State was bound to come into one or the other
Constituent Assembly, They were free to decide for themselves,
but there were many matters which would require adjustments,
‘These could only be made through the Crown Representative so
long as he continued. It was in the interests of both the Muslim
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League and the Congiess that these adjustments should be
madle.

Nehru said that he entirely agreed with this. He was not intending
to lay down that every State must join one or the other Constituent
Assembly, but that if they did not come in, they would have to come
to some other arrangement. Such other arrangements could not and
should not be preceded by declarations of independence,

Lord Mountbatten referred to the note which had been circulated
for consideration regarding the machinery for dealing with questions
of common concern beiween the States and the successor Governments
in British India. This note proposed two alternatives —that the
States should be given the option of (@) dealing with local represen-
tatives of the successor Governments, or () appointing representatives
of the States at the headquarters of the successor Governments,
Lord Mountbatten said that he felt that the alternatives should be put
before the States. He had discussed in London the question of the
Government of India taking over the residencies in the various
States. His instructions had heen that this was only to be done if the
States agreed. Morcover, it was going to be very difficult to convince
the States that agents of the Government of India, located in
the States’ territories, would nol continue 1o represent a para-
mount power. In his opinion, the alternative thal cach State or
group of States should appoint a representative, or representatives,
to be located at the headquarters of the appropriate Government,
would be the best arrangement. He had discussed this with the
mtates’ Negotiating Committee, the members of which had agreed
with him. He emphasized the fact that he was not entitled Lo force
a dtale o continue to accept an agent of the central Government
in 1ts territory.

Sir Conrad stated that he had discussed this question with a
number of States” Ministers. It seemed to him that 1t would bhe a
mistake 1o set up an organization with which the States were not
hikely to co-operate.

Nehru said that he considered that these suggestions proceeded
from a wrong basis. He insisted that the present arrangemcnts
should continue. To have representatives of the btates at Delhi
would lead to very considerable delays., He did not understand
how His Majesty’s Government could give a ruling on which the
(overnment of India had not even been consulied. This ruling
did not flow from the memorandum of 12 May. The agents of
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the Government of India should continuc in operation until they
were withdrawn. The lapse of paramountey should not lead to
independence. Only certain functions would cease to be exerciscd;
others would remain. It was cssential to have a department to con-
tinue 1o deal wiih the States. He suggesied that the Political Depart-
ment and the Residents should continue to function. The political
and administrative aspects should continuc in opcration. The
choice of what machinery should be set up lay with the Government
ol India. If any State took up a line of opposition to the policy of
the central Government, that would be considered as an unfriendly
act and all the privileges which such a State enjoyed would cease.

Lord Mountbatten said that he recognized the rights of each
of the two new Governments to sct up a new department to deal
with States’ matters, but he suggested that this should not be called
“the Political Department’. A more acceptable name would he
“the States Department’. It should be set up forthwith and be divi-
ded into two sections, ready for the partition of the country. The
existing Political Department would give all possible assistance and
advice in the formation of this new department., Lord Mountbatien
stated that, on the other hand, he was convinced that it was for the
States to decide whether to send representatives to either Delhi or
Karachi or to receive representatives from the successor Governments,

A second note covering a draft formula for standstill arrangements
was then considered. Nehru said that he had not yet had uume (o
study the drafi. He had discussed it in the carly hours of that morn-
ing with lawyers, who had raised many points of difficulty. He
doubted whether the description that it covered only ‘administra-
tive’ arrangemenis was correct. Jinnah gave it as his view that it
was so.

Lord Mountbatten suggested that both parties would wish {or a
longer time to look into this notc in detail. He considered that the
States should send representatives to negotiatc and sign the agree-
ment proposed. Negotiation could be initiated through the States’
Negotiating Committee, but all States would have to send fully
accrediled representatives for the purpose of signature.

The other question discussed was the disposal of the Crown
Representative’s records, The meeting considered the sieps which
were being taken to weed and sort out these documents and to des-
troy those no longer of inlerest.

Nehru said he thought that there could be no doubt that the
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major potrtion of the records was ol concern to the Government of
India. He considercd that there should be a committee of historians
and others to look into the whole question. He could see no reason
for rushing alicad with the destruction. Jinnah said that he agrecd
with this. Hec was opposed to the idcas that the present Political
Department should be the judge of what should be destroyed.

sir Conrad pointed oul that the present processes were being
carticd out in consultation with the Imperial Records Department,
which was a highly skilled body. He was ready to guarantee that
nothing of value would be destroyed. Amongst the documents being
sorted out, there might be some which should not be handed over
to the Government of India. He explained that nearly all the
important documents were 1n the Political Department, although
the residencies might also have some,

I have given a rather full account of this confercnce because
it raised issues of far-reaching importance. The main conclusions
reached were as follows:— It was decided to set up a new department,
possibly called ‘the States Department’, to dcal with matters of
common concern, divided into two sections ready for the partition
of the country. IL was agrced that there should be a mecling
between the Indian leaders and representatives of the States (possibly
the States’ Negotiating Committee) to consider the drafl standstill
formula and any other maittlers of common concern on a date to be
decided, probably in July. It was further agreed that the Residents
should go on with the destruction of cphemeral records and docu-
mcents, but that the Political Adviser should apply to the Member
for Education in the interim Government for the services of experts
to assist in the weeding and sorting out of the Crown Representative’s
records. Those records which contained information regarding the
private lives of the rulers and the internal affairs of States should
be handed over, on the transfer of power, to the United Kingdom’s
High Commissioner,

On 11 June, Sir (. P. Ramaswami Aiyar announced that
Travancore had decided to set itself up as an independent sovereign
State. A similar announcement was made the next day on behalf
of the Nizam of Hyderabad. These events gave rise 1o apprehension
lest other States should adopil a similar attitude and India be split
into fragments., Strong speeches were made at the All-India Congress
Committee which met at Delhi on 14 June protesting againsi the
‘Balkanizalion’ of thc country. A strongly-worded resolution was
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passed declaring that the Congress did not agrec with the theory
of paramountcy as enunciated and interpreted by the British Govern-
menl. It aflirmed that the privileges and obligations as well as the
rights subsisling as between the States and the Government of India
could not be adversely aflected by the lapse of paramountcy. Nor
would the relationship between the Government of India and the
states be exhausted by it. The lapse of paramountcy did not lead
to the indcpendence of the States. The Committee refused to
admit the right of any State to declare its independence and to live
in 1solation from the rest of India. That would be a denial of the
course of Indian history and the objectives of the Indian people.

Jinnah, on the other hand, contested the Congress thesis. In a
statcment issued on 18 June, he unequivocally declared that,
constitutionally and legally, the States would be independent sove-
reign States on the termination of paramountcy and that they would
be firce 1o adopt any course they liked. He was clearly of the opinion
that the Cabinct Mission’s memorandum did not in any way limit
their choice o the extent that they had no option except to join
one or the other Constituent Assembly. In his opinion they were
free to remain independent if they so desired. Neither the British
Government, nor the British Parliament, nor any other power or
body could compel the States to do anything contrary to their free will
and accord, nor had they any power or sanction of any kind to do so.

The Dewan of Travancore went to the extent of announcing his
intention to appoint a Trade Agent i Pakistan,

The general tendency among the rulers was to make the best
of the bargaining position in which the lapse of paramountey
placed them. The fact that during the second World War many
of the major States had strengthened their armed forces could not
be ignored. The decision therefore that, with the withdrawal of
the British, the Indian States comprising two-fifths of the land must
return to a state of complete political isolation was fraught with the
gravest danger to the integrity of the country. And so the prophets
of gloom predicted that the ship of Indian freedom would founder
on the rock of thc States.
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¥ N the last chapter, we have seen how a decision was taken at a
f mecting of Lord Mountbatien with the leaders of the Congress
#_and the Muslim League to set up the new States Department. This
decision was followed by an important communication [rom Nchru
to T.ord Mountbatten sctting out his views with regard (o the [unc-
tions of the proposed new organization. The communication was
the subject of discussion at a mceting of the Viceroy’s advisers, as a
result of which I was charged with the lask of preparing, in consul-
tation with the Political Adviscr, a note which should present definite
proposals. Accordingly, T produced a memorandum in which 1
suggested that the proposed department should function as a single
organization with two ministers, one {rom the Congress and the other
from the Muslim League, and having two secretaries in charge, so
that 1t could be divided into lwo on Lhe partition of the country.
This memorandum was approved by Lord Mountbatten and duly
circulated among the members of the Cabinet. Nehru, on behalf
of the Congress, included the name of Sardar (who was Member for
Home and Information and Broadcasting in the interim Cabinet)
as Minister, while Jinnah on behalf of the Muslim League suggested
the name of Abdur Rab Nishtar.

A few days later, Sardar sent for me and oflercd me the Sec-
retaryship of the States Department, I told Sardar that it was my
intention to take all the leave I had carned and to retirec from
Government service after 15 August. Ever since 1917, I had
beecn dealing with constitutional reforms. I had never ecxpected
that T would see {reedom for India in my lifetime, Since that had
materialized, my life’s ambition was achieved, Further, I had been
overworked and was feeling the strain. I had not taken a rest for
many years, Sardar told me that because of the abnormal situation
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in the country, people like myself should not think in terms of rest
or rctircment, He added that I had taken a prominent part in
the transfer of power and that I should consider it my bounden duty
to work for the consolidation of freedom. I naturally agreed with
him that the country’s interests, and not my personal predileclions,
should be the guiding factor.

since I was the Constitutional Adviser to Lord Mountbatten
and since the appointment was to take cffect immediately, I was
obliged to mention the matter to him. Lord Mountbatten told me
that he was proposing my appointment as Governor of one of the
more 1mportant provinces. I said that from my conversations with
Sardar, I understood that he felt it to be 1n the interests of the country
that I should remain for some time at least with the Government
of India. Lord Mountbatten advised me to accept Sardar’s offer
and later on confirmed our conversation in a charming letter.

Next day I called on Sardar, showed him Lord Mountbatten’s
letter and intimated my acceptance of his offer, I then had a long
anc {rank conversation with him. I reminded him that ever since
I had met him, for the first time on 21 August 1946, I had made it
my purpose to consult him as far as possible on important deve-
lopments in the constitutional field, and I particularly added that
it had been his powerful support that had made possible the transfer
of power. We had indeed got on well together, resolving occasional
cdiflerences of opinion by mutual and amicable discussion. The posi-
tion al that time was that though I consulted Sardar, the final res-
ponsibility for whatever advice I gave to the Governor-General was
minc. Now that we were to work as Minister and Secretary, I was
not quite surc how far we should hit it off together. Sardar replied
that the question did not arise al all and that I should not think
along those lines. When I said that there was a [eeling that Congress
leaders distrusted the permanent Services he replied that my fears
were groundless. He added that, whatever might have been the
attitude of politicians 1o the Services in the past, he was confident
that in future everyone would play the game. For his own part,
he would do everything possible to bring about a most cordial atmos-
phere between the Cabinet and the Services. And he kept his word.,

We then discussed the general situation in the country as a result
of partition and the problem of the Siates in particular, [ told Sardar
that, under Lhe Cabinet Mission plan, the Stales need not join either
of the Constituent Assemblies, but that they could have particular

14
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arrangements with the Government of the Dominion to which they
were geographically contiguous. After the announcement of the
partition, the rulers on our side of the border realized that they
should strengthen the Indian Union and so were gradually coming
into the Constituent Assembly. They were, however, very jealous
about their sovercignty and I felt strongly that they should not be
yubbed the wrong way. At the same time, the attitude of some of
the rulers of the big States was disconcerting and Pakistan was
playing with the idea of getting some of the border States to cast
in their lot with her. Sardar told me that the situation held danger-
ous potentialities and that 1f we did not handle it promptly and
cffectively, our hard-earned freedom might disappear through the
States’ coor.

Sardar nexti referred to the consequences of the lapse of paramount-
cy. I remarked that it was the greatest disservice the British had done
us as well as the rulers, During the course of a century, the provinces
and the States had been welded together. The edifice of ceniral
authority had rested on two pillars, one with foundations in the
provinces and the other in the States. In all-India matters, co-oper-
ation and uniformity of policy so far as the States were concerned
had been enforced through the residencies. Important cantonments
and military installations were located in the States. The Indian
railway system spanned the territorics of the States as well as the
provinces and, in the intercsts of the safety and convenience of the
travelling public, arrangements had been extended to the States
whereby civil and criminal jurisdiction over railway lands had been
handed over to the Crown Representative. One of the provincial
capitals was situated in a minor State. In posts and telegraphs,
control of arms and ammunition, extradition and surrender of fugi-
tives, control of opium and other narcotics, in the overall food policy,
to mention only a few matters affecting all-India security and welfare,
the machinery of the Political Department and the residencies had
acted as a co-ordinating agency, The Ciabinet Mission had announ-
ced the lapse of paramountcy in their memorandum of 12 May
1946. I told Sardar that, though I was Constitutional Adviser to
the Governor-General, T had never becn consulied on this issue,
and that I was unhappy, about the decision. At the same time I
could appreciate the point of view of the Cabinet Mission. The
British public had ever been sensitive about treaties and agreements
and the Labour Party might have had the fear that, if it transferred
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to the successor Government the rights under the treaties entercd
mto by the Crown with the rulers, neither the Conservatives
nor the British public would have stood it. Under the Cabinet
Mission plan, paramountcy would have lapsed only after the consti-
tution had been set up and power transferred to the successor
Governments. Under the June 3rd plan the transfer was Lo take place
on 15 August, and paramountcy was to lapse on that day. There
were hardly two months left, and to negotiate agreements with such
a large number of States during that time was obviously out of the
question. The position of the States themselves was one of great
anxlety, The paramount power had protected them from all internal
trouble, There were only a few States which were organized to deal
with such a threat; the others were without the necessary resources.
Furthermore, the communal situation in British India was already
causing concern, and werc it to deteriorate it would sprecad to the
States as well. The Government of India lacked the means of control-
ling the situation, if this happened. The army was being partitioned
and it would be some time before it would again be an effective
force for maintaining internal security. The situation did, in fac,
appear to be charged with immense potentialities of danger.

At the same time, I suggested to Sardar that the British Govern-
ment’s decision to extinguish paramountcy might prove a not un-
mixed evil and that it was possible thal good might yet come of it.
The biggest advantage was that we would be writing on a clean
slate, unhampered by treaties. I reminded him how the federal
negotliations with the rulers had foundered on the rock of treaty
rights.

I then told Sardar that I was without any ready-made plan for the
solution of the States” problems. In the meantime, we should be
clear in our minds with regard at any rate to the procedure by which
they should be tackled. The problems were altogether peculiar and
in the unsettled statc of things would sometimes demand quick
decisions. It seemed neccssary therefore thal the Prime Minister
and the Cabinel should give a free hand to Sardar in dealing with
them,

At its meeting held on 25 June the interim Cabinel accepted
the proposal for the creation of the States Department and on
27 June a press communiqué was issued allotting the Department to
sardar. I was named as the Secretary.

I was more than ever convinced that in view of the disposition of
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some of the rulers to cast in their lot with Pakistan, of a {ew others
to assert their independence, and the keen desire of all to saleguard
their sovercignty, some sort of organic bond should be {orged between
the Government of India and the States if the 1ntegrity of the country
was to be preserved. The States which were geographically conti-
guous to India musl be madec to feel legally and morally that they
were part of it. Some time back, in December 1942, T had drawn
up a scheme for Lord Linlithgow in which I had suggested
an interim federal government as a solution of the current poli-
tical decadlock. T had made it clear that the federal scheme, as seci
out in the Government of India Act of 1935, was not a practical pro-
position during the war cmergency. Its procedure for accession,
which entailed protracted negotiations for the adjustment of treaty
and fiscal rights, and the creation of the new legislature, which again
involved difficult administrative arrangements, were {ar too com-
plicated to be embarked upon atsuch a time. I had suggested that we
should ask the Siatles {o accede only on ‘defence’ and ‘external
affairs,” without any other commitments. Since both the subjects
were handled by the paramount power and not by the States, the
rulers would not be losing any of the rights enjoyed by them. The
cxisting Central Legislative Assembly and the Council of State could
be enlarged to provide for the States’ nominecs, who would be
appointed by the Governor-General from a pancl of names suggested
by the rulers. It was my contention that once this scheme (which
would facilitate the unification of India’s war eflort) was implement-
cd, a responsible government for the whole of India could be establish-
cd at the centre and as such would attract all the principal political
clements. The unity thus forged might heal India’s internal dissen-
sions sufliciently to provide her leaders with a new outlook for the
future constitution. Lord Linlithgow did not take any action on this
suggestion. When the partition of the country was decided upon,
I could not rid myself of the regretful doubt whether this viviscction
would have been necessary had my scheme of December 1942 been
implemented.

I fell that an analogous scheme should be tried now with regard
to the States. To the two subjects of ‘defence’ and ‘external aflairs’
we could add ‘communications’. The Cabinet Mission had sugges-
ted that these three subjects could be ceded to the Union Government
by the States.

When I next approached Sardar, I started by giving a brief
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outlinc of the plan which I had submitted to Lord Linlithgow. I point-
cd out the advantages if the States were to accede on three subjects,
The basic unity of India would be achicved and, when the new
constitution was tamed, we could thrash out the necessary details
concerning the relations between the centre and the States at our
leisurc. T explained to Sardar how the rulers could be brought in,
‘Defence’ was obviously a matter which no State could conduct
by itself: ‘external aflairs’ was a subject inextricably linked with
“defence’ and, as the States had never handled it before, even the
largest State could not hope to do so effectively: f communications’
was a mcans of maintaining the very life-lines of the country and
without our co-operation, the States could do nothing in this matter.
I also pointed out that the communal flarc-up in north India had
madec the non-Muslim rulers turn away from Pakistan and I sugges-
ted that we should use this development to our advantage. Provided
that we did not demand any financtal or other commitments, the
rulers would not be unwilling to consider our proposal. However,
the time at our disposal was cxtremely short and 1f we planned for
accession wc should get it implemented before 15 August. My
most important consideration was the overall security of the country.,
I the rulers acceded on “delence’, the Government of India ob-
tained right of entry into any State where 1nternal stability was
threatened. ‘Defence’ covered nol only external aggression but
internal security as well. Sardar was inclined to agree with my
proposal. T requested him 1o put it beforc Nehru and get his
approval. T'o put down anything in writing at that stage was in-
advisable as there was likelihood of leakage, and premature publicity
would have been harmful to the plan.

Next day Sardar told me that Nehru was in agreement with in the
proposal ‘if we could see it through.” It scemed to me from »ardar’s
remark that Nehru was probably sceptical about the success of the
plan, Nor was Sardar himsell over-optimistic. For one thing, he was
doubtful whether we could get the accession policy implemented in
the few wecks beforc 15 August; but, as I suggested to wardar,
the very shortness of time might work (o our advantage,

Incidentally, I proposed that the active co-operation of Lord
Mountbatten should be secured, Apart from his position, his grace
and his gifts, his relationship to the Royal Family was bound to in-
fluence the rulers, Sardar whole-heartedly agreed and asked me to
approach him without delay.
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A day or two later, T met Lord Mountbatten and mentioned to
him my talk with Sardar and our tentative plan. I asked f{or his
help in getung the States to accede on threc subjects. I pointed out
that they would not belosing anything in the result and suggested that
it would be a great act of statesmanship on his part il he could bring
it about. I felt that he was deeply touched by my remark that the
wounds of partition might to some cxtent be healed by the Siates
cntering into relationship with the Government of India and that he
would be earning the gratitude of generations of Indians if he could
assist In achieving the basic unity of the country. He told me that
he would think thc matter over. I confess that I was scized moment-
arily by the fear that Lord Mountbatten might be adversely in-
fluenced by some of his advisers. But to my relief and joy, he accepted
the plan. Lord Mountbhatten discussed the matter with Sardar. This
irank talk enabled them to explain and understand cach other’s point
of view, 1 should add (hat Nehru, with the approval of the Gabinet,
readily entrusted Lord Mountbatten with the task of negotiating
with the rulers on the question of accession and also with the task
of dealing with Hyderabad.

Though the main policy was thus settled, I had not yet taken over
charge of the States Department. I was fully occupied at the time
with the Indian Independence Bill, the adaptation of the Govern-
ment of India Act of 1935 for India and Pakistan and the adminis-
trative details connected with partition. We had on an average as
many as scven or eight meetings a day, hesides our own work in the
Dcepartment, and later when the two-way exodus of populations
started, the burden grew heavier. Meanwhile, Sir CGonrad Corfield,
the Political Adviser, had been pressing me to set up the States De-
partment and was asking repeatedly for the agenda and other details
of the forthcoming meeting of the rulers. Sardar and I finally held a
meeting with him., His Department had circulated a preliminary
draft of a Standstill Agreement between individual States and the two
successor Governments. The draft provided [or the discontinuance
ol the paymenis of cash contributions and of the continuance of
existing administrative arrangements in respect of such matlers
of common concern as were specified in the schedule, The schedule
dealt mainly with matters in the economic ficld; it did not include
cven ‘external affairs’. When I told Sir Conrad Clorfield that
the Government of India had decided on the policy of accession, he
literally threw up his hands in surprise. He considercd the policy
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of accession far too ambitious and recalled the tortuous and
infiuctuous negoiiations with the rulers between 1934 and 1939. I
pointed out that those negotiations had been conducted in other
circumstances by the Political Department but that now in the
changed conditions we hoped to succeed. It was made clear to him
that, while we would welcome every assistance from the Political
Department, the ultimate responsibility of negotiating with the
rulers would rest with the new States Department,

I assumed charge of the States Department on § July. On 3 July,
I had mct Sardar and suggested that the first thing to do when the
States Department came into being was to allay any possible sus-
picions on the part of the rulers and that this could be done by
means of a statement defining the attitude and policy of the Govern.-
ment of India towards the States. Sardar agrced that such a state-
ment was neccssary and he asked me to prepare one. This 1 gave
on 4 July 1947. T might mention that the inspiration for some of
the passages 1n 1t came from Lincoln’s first Inaugural Address.

Sardar was well pleased with the statement. He was satisfied that
it was concise and conciliatory in tone. With its issue by Sardar
the next day, the States Department was formally mmaugurated.
The statement appcaled to the rulers to accede on three subjects,
It pointed out: ‘The States have already accepted the basic prin-
ciple that for defence, foreign affairs and communications they would
come into the Indian Union. We ask no more of them than acces-
sion on these three subjects in which the common interests of
the counlry are involved,” The statement went on: “This country
with its institutions is the proud heritage of the people who inhabit
it. It is an accident thai some live in the States and some in British
India, but all alike partake of its culture and character, We are
all knit together by bonds of blood and feeling no less than of self-
intercst. None can segregate us into segments; no impassable
barriers can be set up between us. I suggest that it is therefore better
for us to make laws sitting together as friends than to make trcaties
as alicns, I invite my friends the rulers of States and their people to
the councils of the Constituent Assecmbly in this spirit of fricndliness
and co-operationin a joint endeayour, inspired by common allegiance
to our motherland for the common good of us all.” The statement
stressed that the Congress fare no enemics of the Princely Order,
but, on the other hand, wish them and their people under their aegis
all prosperity, conteniment and happiness. Nor would it be my poliey
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to conduct the relatinns ol the new department with the States in
any manner which savours of the domination of onc over the other;
if there would be any domination, it would be that of our mutual
interesits and welfare.” The statement ended with the appeal: “We
arc at a momentous stage in the history of India. By common endea-
vour we can raise the country to a new greatness while lack of unity
will expose us to fresh calamities. I hope the Indian States will bear
in mind that the alternative to co-operation in the general intercst
is anarchy and chaos which will overwhelm grecat and small in a
common ruin if we are unable to acl together in the minimum of
common tasks.’

The statement had a good press both in India and abroad. A
number of {forcign correspondents told me that it was a slatesman-
like document and atl a stafl’ mecting Lord Mountbatten congra-
tulated me on it, saying that he considered it quite excellent,

On the morning of 5 July I took over charge of the States
Department in addition to my work as Gonstitutional Adviser to the
Governor-General. The Indian Political Service had been the close
and jealously guarded preserve of the British, into which Indian
oflicers only strayed occasionally. The cntire stafl of the Political
Service, with a few exceptions, had cither applied for pension or
had opted [or service in Pakistan, so that both at the centre as well
as the regional headquartiers we were without officers, The first Lask
was to constituic the States Ministry. To start with, G, Q. Desai,
a scnior officer of the I.C.S., was appointed as Additional Secretary
with two junior officers to assist him. We had, of course, inherited
the nucleus of the subordinate stafl from the Political Department.

On 5 July I addressed a press conference in order io explain the
provisions of the Indian Independence Bill which was then on the
parliamentary anvil. Sardar presided. Scveral questions were asked
relating to the States. All I could say with respect to the legal posi-
tion was that the Indian States on 15 August would be neither in
Pakistan nor in India and that their actual position would be difficult
to define. Answering a question on agreements between the States
and the Government of India on matters of common concern, Sardar
saicl: ‘ Whoever denounces such agreements takes the respongibility
for the consequences.’

The clause in the Indian Independence Bill mainly concerned with
the Indian States was clause 7, the first draft of which was in the
following form:
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As from the appointed day —

() His Majesty’s Government in the United Kingdom shall have no
responsibility as respects the peace and good government of any of the
territories which immediately before that day were included in India;

(b) the suzerainty of His Majesty over the Indian States shall cease and
the fiinctions therelofore exercisable by him with respect to the Indian
States and any powers, authority or jurisdiction theretofore exercisable
by him in the Indian States, being functions, powers, authority or juris-
diction incident to or flowing from that suzerainty, shall ccase to be exer-
cisable; and

(¢) any powers, authority or jurisdiction which, at the date of the passing
of this Act, have become exercisable by His Majestv in the tribal areas
by grant, usage, sufferance or otherwise shall lapse,

This was considercd at a meeting of the Viceroy’s Adviscrs. I, as
Reforms Commissioner, was opposed to the inclusion of sub-clause
(b) and argued that, since the exercise of paramounicy was not
hased on any legislation by Parliament, its withdrawal need not
be by mcans of parliamentary legislation. Sir Conrad Corfield, the
Political Adwviser, thought that two divergent views had been ex-
pressed on the matter. There were those who contended that para-
mountcy would automatically lapse on 15 August; but a number
of eminent jurists had expressed their disagreement with this view,
He thercfore considered that in order to place the matter beyond
doubt the sub-clause should be left in.

The next question was whether, even if paramountcy lapsed,
all agreements of a commercial, cconomic or financial character
hbetween the States on the one hand and the British Government,
the Secretary of State, and the Governor-General on the other,
would cease to be legally effective. I pointed out thai there were
several important agreements which had been entered inlo for the
common benefit of the States and British India where paramountcy
did not enter, such as the agreement of 1920 with Bahawalpur and
Bikaner regarding the Sutlej Valley canals project, and the Govern-
ment of India agreement on salt with Jaipur and Jodhpur. The
mutual rights and obligations of parties under such agreements could
not bg&regarded as lapsing on the withdrawal of paramountcy. On
ithe commencement of the Government of India Act of 1935, the
Crown’s rights and obligations had become for all practical and
constitutional purposes the rights and obligations of the central
Government and were secured as such by the provisions of the Act.
The financial commitments of the central Government under

15
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agrcements of this type were considerable. T therefore took the view
that it would be best thai thesc agreements should continue to be
binding both on the States and on the successor overnments,

Sir Conrad Corfield, on behalf of the Political Department,
contested my point of view, He referred to a meeting between him-
sclf and Lord Pethick-Lawrence at which it had been agreed that
the abolition of the Crown Representative would automatically
cause paramountcy to become void, together with any subsisting
agreements between the Crown and the States. Sir GConrad did not
agree with the view that paramountcy did not enter 1nto the Sutlej
Valley Canals Agreement of 1920 and the Jaipur and Jodhpur Sali
Agreements. The first of these had been entered into on behalfl of
Bahawalpur by a Council of Regency controlled by the paramount
power while the ruler was a minor. The Jaipur and Jodhpur Salt
Agreements were typical of those which States had been required
to conclude with the paramount power during the latter half of the
nineteenth century in the interests of the central revenues, The
Political Adviser was unable to entertain the view that the agree-
ments should be continued after the lapse of paramountcey.

Lord Mountbatten did not take sides in this conflict of opinion.
He merely forwarded both my view as well as that of the Political
Department to the India Office,

It was about this time that the Secretary of State inimated that
the Indian Independence Bill should include a specific denunciation
of the treaties with the Indian States. Normally speaking, treaties
were terminated by “acts of State’, but there was no reason why, on
an occasion of this importance and in the peculiar circumstances,
this should not be done by an Act of Parliament which would em-
phasize the legal position whereby paramountcy did not pass to
the new Indian Dominions. This was considered by the Viceroy's
advisers; they deprecated any such formal denunciation of treaties.

Mcanwhile the Secretary of State’s opinion in regard to the
continuance of exisling agreements was received. He stated that
His Majesty’s Government fully appreciated the importance attached
by the Reforms Commissioner to the avoidance if possible of complete
severance of relations with the States and the necessity for negotia-
tions between pariies over the whole ficld. But he considercd that
the views of the Political Department must prevail, as they were in
line with His Majesty’s Government’s policy as stated in the Cabinet
Mission memorandum. It was impossible to distinguish bhetween
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agreements freely negotiated and those imposed. In any case, all
had been made under the authority of the Crown and not of the
excceutive Governminents — central or provincial—of British India,
It might perhaps have been possible at one time to proceed in somc
such manner as suggested by the Reforms Commissioner and to
have assumed that the provisions of treaties and agreements ve-
mainced 1n force until denounced or replaced by {resh agrecments,
the only essential initial denouncement being the termination of
all rights and obligations exercised by the CGrown Representative
on behalf of His Majesty’'s Government. This would have left the
States and the provinces and the two new central Governments
as inheritors of all rights and obligations not falling stiictly within
the field of paramountcy and control over the States, thus preser-
ving the status quo until changed by financial and economic agrec-
ments without, of course, impeding their future libertics of action,
The Secretary of State, however, considered that it was too late to
consicdler the merits or demerits of such a course, since a diflerent
attitude had been taken in the Cabinet Mission memorandum
which definitely stated that political arrangements between the
States on the one side and the British Crown and British India on
the other would be brought to an end. It was thought impossible
to interpret ‘political’ in so narrow a sense as to exclude financial
or cconomic arrangements. The Secretary of State was satisfied that
he must abide by this pronouncement of policy and he thought
it 1nevitable that he must clarify the position in some more lormal
way than by a Government statement. Inany casc, Parliament would
require this.

Formal individual denouncement, State by State, seemed to the
Secretary of State much too elaborale a process and it would in-
volve the difficult question of how to deal with those with whom
thcre were no written treaties. One single instrument of denuncia-
tion by His Majesty’s Government might be possible but would be
politically undesirable. He considered it necessary thercforc that
both the lapse of paramountcy, as well as the denunciation of
treaties, should be specifically included in the Bill. He admutted
that there were certain objections, but he thought that any other
course would lead to greater difficuliies.

Accordingly, the Secretary of State suggested that sub-clauses
(b) and (c} to clause 7 should be revised as follows:

(b) The suzerainty of His Majesty over the Indian States lapses, and
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with it, all treaties and agreements in force at the date of the passing of
this Act between His Majesty and the rulers of Indian States, all functions
exercisable by His Majesty at that date with respect to Indian States, all
obligations of His Majesty existing at that date towards Indian States or
the rulers thercof, and all powers, rights, authority or jurisdiction exercis-
able by His Majesty at that date in or in relation to Indian States by
treaty, srant, usage, suffcrance or otherwise; and

(c) there lapse also any treaties or agreements in force at the date ol the
passing of this Act between His Majesty and any persons having authority
in the tribal areas, any obligations of His Majesty existing at that date
to any such persons or with respect to the tribal areas, and all powers,
rights, authority or jurisdiction exercisable at that date by His Majesty
in or in relation to tribal areas by trealy, grant, usage, sufferance or
otherwise,

In the meantime Lord Mountbatten had got the permission ol the
Secretary of State to show the draft Bill to the leaders of the Congress
and the Muslim League in order to elicit their views. The Congress
leaders considered that there was no specific provision in the Bill
for the accession of the States and they wanted clause 2 to contlain
a specific provision to that effect,® With regard 1o clausc 7, they
expressed themselves very strongly that a complete abrogation of
the ireaties and agreements with the States would produce ad-
ministrative chaos of the gravest kind. Agreements relating 1o rail-
ways, customs, harbours, irrigation, and the like would all disappear,
and the very existcnce of States like Banaras and Mysore, which
rested on Instruments of Transfer from the Crown, would be
without any legal basis. Even the Cabinet Mission’s memorandum
contemplated in paragraph 4 that, pending the conclusion of new
agreements, existing arrangements in all matters of common concern
should continue. Parvagraph 5 of the same memorandum, after
referring to the lapse of paramountcy and the consequent cessation
of all rights and obligations flowing therefrom, went on to stalc
that the void so created must be filled by the States entering cither
into a federal relationship, or into new political arrangements with
the successor Governments, But the advancement of the date of the
lapse of paramountcy from June 1948 to August 1947 made it more
difficult to conclude agreements, Individual negotiations of new
agreements, some of them multi-partite, with a large number of
States would necessarily be a long and laborious task. Consequently,

! Tt was assumed that this could be done by an adaptation of the Government of India
Act of 1935 and that there was no necessily for a specific provision in the Indian Indepen-
dence Bill for the accession of States,
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they suggested that a Standstill clause to the following effect should
be included in the Bill itself, * Until new arrangements are completed,
the existing relatlons and arrangements between His Majesty’s
Government and any Indian ruler in all matters of common concern
shall continue as between the two Dominion Governments and the
State concerned.’

The Muslim League had no comments to ofler on clausc 7.

Lord Mountbatten duly fowarded the vicws of the Congress to
the Secretary of State. The Secretary of State contended that the
proposced new clause amounted to continuance by parliamentary
legislation for some peritod of the effects of agreements negotiated
under paramountcy by substituting successor Governments for the
Crown Representative. To this proposal, there were insuperable
objections. Firstly, the States were not British territory and were not
subject to parhamentary legislation placing obligations on them
without their consent. Such consent could not be presumed, since
enforcement of such legislation would pass from His Majesty’s
(rovernment Lo the successor authoritics with effect from 15 August.
The Secrctary of State could not contemplate one date for the
transfer of power in British India and another for the termination of
paramountcy in the States. Moreover, the States in accepting the
Cabinct Mission’s memorandum had made it crystal clear that
they accepted the general principle of the plan on the basis of the
declaration regarding the termination of paramountcy to which
the British Government’s adherence had been announced in the
3 Junc Plan, The Secretary ol State, in fact, held that the Congress
proposal would he tantamount to the repudiation of that under-
taking,

The Viceroy, returning to the charge, pointed out that the un-
conditional lapse of treaties and agrecments would hit the States
cqually hard. This was a crucial issue and hc felt that something
should be done, if necessary by fixing a time limit, say 31 March
1948, for the operation of the proviso. He also contended that
clause 2, as drafted, left the position of the acceding States vis-d-vis
the new Dominions entirely in the air, He suggested that the defin-
itions of both Dominions should be modified so as to cover the btates
which become hereafter part of the particular Dominion by accession,

The Secrelary of State accepted the rvecommendations for a
specific provision covering the accession of the States. A new sub-
clause was accordingly insericd at the end of clause 2:
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Without prejudice to the generality of the provisions of sub-section
(3} of this section, nothing in this section shall be consttued as preventing
the accession of Indian States to cither of the new Dominions,

Regarding clause 7, the Seceretary of State agreed to insert the follow-
ing proviso at the end of that clause:

Provided that, notwithstanding anything in paragraph (&) or paragraph
(¢) of this sub-seclion, effcct shall, as nearly as may he continue to be given
to the provisions of any such agreement as is therein referved to which
relate to customs, transit and communications, posts and telegraphs, or
other like matters, until the provisions in question are denounced by the
Ruler of the Indian State or person having authority in the tribal areas
on the one hand, or by the Dominion or Province or other part thereol
concerned on the other hand, or are superseded by subsequent agrcements,

This proviso did not satisly the Congress leaders.

The late Sir B. N. Rau, Constitutional Adviser to the Constituent
Assembly, who saw Lord Mountbatten on 7 July, pointed out that
it was unthinkable that 327 rulers of petty States, whose average
arca was about 20 square miles, average population aboul 3,000
and average annual revenue about Rs 22,000; who had hitherto
exercised only petty judicial powers, such as trying criminal cases
involving sentence of not more than threc months’ imprisonment
or Rs 200 finc, should almost overnight acquire the powers of life
and death. He suggested that a proviso should be included that the
criminal, revenue and civil jurisdiction, hitherto cxercised by, or
under, the authority of the Grown Representative in regard to these
small States should hereafter be excrcisable by, or under the authority
of, the Dominion Government concerned. Lord Mounthatien sup-
ported this view and forwarded it to the Secretary of State, but (o
110 purpose,

While the Indian Independence Bill was on the parliamentary
anvil, T suggested to Sardar that since we had decided on the policy
of accession we should go ahead and contact the rulers. As the time
at our disposal was cxtremely limited, protracted negotiations were
obviously out of the question and I requested Sardar to meet some
of the leading rulers and States’ ministers. To this he agreed. It
was in this connexion that I myself metl the Maharajah of Patiala
for the first time; he was then acting as Chancellor of the Chamber
of Princes. I complained to him that even though the Political
Department was in the process of liquidation the rulers continued
io bc guided by the officers of that Department. The Political
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Department did not see eyc to eye with us on the quesiion of accession
and T suggested to the Maharajah that, by conlerring with ils
officers, the 1ulers were only misleading themselves as to the policy
of the Government of India. I asked for his co-operation in
implementing the policy of accession and I told him frankly that
‘independent of us, you cannot exist.’” Our cordial talks revealed a
measure of community of outlook and we parted as friends, assuring
cach other of mutual goodwill and co-operation.,

On 10 July, a number of rulers and Statcs’ ministers met at
Sardar’s 1esidence. The Maharajahs of Patiala and Gwalior, and Sir
B. L., Mitter (Baroda), K. M. Panikkar (Bikaner) and Hari Sharma
(Patiala) were present. Sardar urged that the States which had
joined the Constituent Asscmbly should forthwith accede to India
on three subjects, and pointed out that such a course would
cnable them to have a direct voice 1n shaping the policies of the
central Government. The States’ delegation appreciated the logic
ol the suggestion, but emphasized that the matter required careful
consideration and a cautious approach, It was decided to hold a
series of informal discussions with the rulers and their advisers.
Varlous suggestions werc made relating to the functions of the
States Depariment, It was suggesied, among other things, that the
Department should deal only with matters of policy; that so far as
the States acceding to the Union were concerned, the Department
should ceasc to funclion as soon as the Union constitution became
operative and that in the meanwhile it should function in consul-
tation with an advisory commitiee of Ministers from the States. It
was this conference which at last broke the ice, clcaring away a
mass of vague suspicions which the rulers had entertained about
the new States Department,

The next day we issued the agenda for the conference of the
rulers {o be held on 25 July. Itincluded: (1) Accession of the States
on ‘defence’, *cxternal affairs’ and fcommunications’ (2} Stand-
still Agreement; (3) Advisory Council for the States Department,
(4) Channels of correspondence and represeniation of central
Grovernment in the States,

As soon as the policy of accession had been decided upon, 1
communicated the decision to Akhtar Hussain, 1.c.5., who was
working in the Pakistan wing of the States Ministry. 1 asked him
to inform Abdur Rab Nishtar, the League Minister for States,
of our plan. Subsequently T circulated a note on this subject to both
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Sardar and Nishtar. Nishtar had no comments to offer on the
noic.

Jinnal, of course, objected to the policy of accession. He told
T.ord Mounthatien that 1t was utterly wrong and he publicly
announced that he would guarantee the independence of the
States in Pakistan.

On 24 July Sardar and I met another delegation of rulers anc
States’ ministers which included the rulers of Patiala, Gwalior
Bikaner and Nawanagar. Among the ministers were Sir B. L.
Mitter (Barnda), Sir A, Ramaswami Mudaliar (Mysore), G. S.
Venkatachar, r.c.s. (Jodbpur) and K. M. Panikkar (Bikaner). This
meecting was a crucial one {or it showed that we were making head-
way with our plan. It was evident that quite a number of rulers
had broken away from the lcadership of the Nawab of Bhopal and
were prepared to come in with us.

By ihis time we had produced a draft Instrument of Accession,
and revised the original draft of the Staundstill Agreement prepared
by the Political Department. Thesc two drafts were circulated tc
the rulers at the spccial session of the Chamber of Princes on 25
July, when Lord Mountbatten addressed that Chamber for the
first and last time in his capacity as Grown Representative., The
specch was made exlempore and without any notes and was the apogec
of persuasion. He advised the rulers to accede to the appropriatc
Dominion in regard to the three subjects of ‘defence’, ‘cxternal
atfairs’, and ‘communications’. He pointed out that ‘defence
was a matter which a State could not conduct for itself; ‘exierna
aflairs’ was something that no State had dealt with before, The
continuity of communications necessitated their accession on this
subject also. Lord Mountbatten said that accession on these threc
subjects left the rulers with all the practical independence that they
could possibly use and made them free of those subjeccts which they
could not possibly manage on their own., He assured them thai
their accession on these subjects would iuvolve no financial liability
and that in other matters there would be no encroachment on
their sovereignty. He made it clear that though the rulers were
technically at liberly 1o link with either of the Dominions, there were
certain geographical compulsions which could not be evaded. ‘Ou
of something like 565 States, the vast majority are irretrievabls
linked geographically with the Dominion of India.’ He stressed the
urgency of the sitvation and said: ‘If you are prepared to come
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vou must come before 15 August.” He concluded with the cogent
appeal: ‘You cannot run away {rom the Domunion Government
which 1s your ncighbour any more than you can run away from
the subjects for whose welfare you are responsible.” Lovd Mount-
batten then announced the personnel of the Negotiating Committec,
consisting of ten rulers and twelve ministers, to consicder in detail
the 1tems on the agenda. A number of questions were put to him
by the rulers and ministers. His lucid replics helped to allay
princely apprehensions and bring about an atmosphere of cordiality,

The Negotiating Gommittee was split into two sub-committees,
one to deal with the Instrument of Accession and the other with the
Standstill Agreement. These sub-committecs held separate meet-
ings daily at Bikaner House in Delht and I had to move constantly
from onc sub-commitiee to the other to discuss debatable points,
The deliberations were most bustnesslike. After six days and nights
of hectic work, on 31 july the drafts were finalized,

By the Instrument of Accession, the States acceded to the Domin-
ion of India on the three subjects of defence, external affairs and
communications, their conient being as defined 1 List 1 of Schedule
VII to the Government of India Act of 1935, reproduced 1 a
Schedule? annexed 1o the Instrument, Accession did not imply any
financial lability on the part of the acceding States. This Instru-
ment was intended only for the rulers of fully empowered States,

which numbered 140.

I 'The matters with respeet to which the Dominion Legilatine may make laws [oa this
State ., ,
A, DerLnNct

1. The naval, military and air forces of the Dominion and any ather axmed force raised
or maintained by the Dominion; any armed lorees, including forces raised or maintained
by an Acceding State, which are attached io, or operating with, any of the armed forces

of the Dominon. _ _ _
2. Naval, military and air force works, administration of cantonment areas,

3. Arms; fire-arms; ammunition,

4. Explosives,
B, TxTFRNAL AFraIrs

1. External affairs; the implementing of treaties and agreements with niher countries;
extradition, including the surrender of criminals and accused persons to parts of His

Majesly’s dominions outside India. o o .
2. Acmission into, and emigration and expulsion fiom, India, meluding in relation

thereto the 1egulation of the movements in Yndia of persuus who are not British subject

domiciled in India or subjects of any acceding State; pilgrimages to places beyond India.
3. Naturalizalior.

C. COMMUNICATIONS : :
1, Posts and telegraphs, including telephones, wircless, broadeasting, and other like

forms of communication. _ ‘ . :
2. Federal railways; the regulation of all railways other than minor railways in respeci

of safrty, maximum and minimum rates and fares, station and sexvice terminal charges,
16
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Besides Lthese 140 States, there were estates and falukas, where the

rown exercised certain powers and jurisdiction, thal were also
counted as “States’. These, numbering over 300, were situated in
Kathiawar and Gujarat. Under the Attachment Scheme of 1943
some of thesc estates and lalukas were tagged on to adjoining bigger
States. But with the lapse of paramountcy, the Attachment Scheme
came 1o an end. In any case, the rulers of thesc estates and talukas
desired that they should be reverted to their former position and that
the Government of India should administer their estates as was done
by the Political Department before 1943. Another Instrument of
Accession, suitable for their status and requirements, was prepared
for these estates and falukas. This document, while preserving the
form of accession, vested all the residuary powers and jurisdiction
in the Central Government. Subsequently an ordinance termed
the ‘Ixtra Provincial Jurisdiction Ordinance’ was promulgated
for the excrcise ol the powers and jurisdiction acquired by the
Government of India in these arcas.

There were a number of intermediate rulers, higher in status
than the talukdars and estate-holders of Xathiawar and Gujarat, who
excrcised wide but not quite full powers. These States, numbering
over 70, were in Kathiawar, Central India and the Simla Hills,
We devised still another Instrument of Accession for these States,
the object of which was 1o ensure that the rulers did nol excrcise
higher powers than they had prior to 15 August 1947. The rulers

inter-change of traflic and the responsibility of railway administrations as carriers of goods
and passengers; the regulation of minor railways in respect of safety and the responsibility
of the administrations of such railways as cartiers of goods and passengers.

3. Maritime shipping and navigation, including shipping and navigation on tidal waters;
Admiralty jurisdiction.

4. Port quarantine,

5. Major poris, that is lo say, the declaration and delimitation of such ports, and the
constitution and powers of Port Authorities therein,

6. Ailrcraftand air navigation; the provision of aerodromes; regulation and organization
of air traffic and of aerodromes,

7. Lighthouses, including lightships, beacons and other provisions for the safety of ship-
ping and aircraft.

8. Carriage of passengers and goods by sea or by air,

9. Extension of the powers and jurisdiction of members of the police force belonging to
any unit to ratlway area outside that unit.

D. ANCILLARY

i. Elections to the Dominion Legislature, subject to the provisions of the Act and of
any Orcer made thereunder,

2. Offences against laws with respect to any of the aforesaid matiers,

3. Inquiries and statistics for the purposes of any of the aforesaid matters,

4, Jurisdiction and powers of all courts with respect to any of theaforesaid matters but,
except with the consent of the Ruler of the Acceding State, not so as to confer any jurisdie-
tion or powers upon any courts other than courts ordinarily exercising jurisdiction in or in
relation to that btate, -
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recognized that 1t was a {air condition that they could not expect
to risc in status suddenly because of the lapse of paramountey.

In all three cases, the Standstill Agreement was common. It laid
down that all agrcements and administrative arrangements as (0
matters of common concern specified in the schedule then cxisting
between the Crown and the Staies should continue ‘until new
arrangements in this behalf” were made.

A meeting of the full Negotiating Gommuttee was held at Bikaner
House on 31 July. Twenty-five rulers and representatives of the
States were present. The drafts of the Instrument of Accession
and the Standstill Agreement as passed by the two sub-committees
were approved. It was at this meeting that the question of setting
up an Advisory Gouncil was discussed. In his statement of 5 July
Sardar had said that he would explore the possibilities of associating
with the administration of the new Department a Standing Gom-
mittee representing both the States and British India. The ministers
of the major States were anxious that a body of this kind should be
brought into existence. Some of the rulers, like Maharajah Sir Sadul
Singh of Bikaner and the Jam Saheb of Nawanagar, were not in
favour of the idea. Finding that the rulers were not unanimous, we
dropped the proposal.

While the Negoliating Committee was busy with its labours, the
Hindustan Times managed to get hold of a copy of the drafi Instrument
of Accession and to publish it. When I met Sardar that morning,
he said: ‘Menon, now that the Hindustan Times has published the
Instrument of Accession, can I see a copy of it?’ As 1 wasg re-
porting to him twice daily on what was happening in the sub-
committices appointed to finalize the Instrument of Accession and the
Standstill Agreement, I was rather puzzled. But Sardar smiled and
said he was only joking. Sardar had that saving sense of humour
which is 50 great an attribute especially in a man of his position and
responsibility.

There were not wanting people who criticized the idea of acces-
sion on three subjects only without any further commitments on the
part of the States. They regarded such a relationship as too nebulous
to be of any value. The absence of financial commitments was
criticized by them in the strongest terms. They said that the entire
proposilion was not one over which anyone could enthuse. Such criti-
cism was based on complete ignorance of the facts of the situation. No
thought had been given to what would be the position of the States
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on 15 August if there were no accession; the dtates would be
independent and the boider States would be at liberty to ally
themselves with Pakistan., Further, what would have happened in
those troublous days if law and order in any State broke down ? These
critics did not realize that, by the accession of the States on ‘ defence’,
the Government of India sccured the right of cnlry into a State
whenever internal security was threatened. Moreover, without an
Instrument of Aceession the Government of India could not exercise
civil and criminal Jurisdiction in the semi-jurisdictional and non-
jurisdictional estafes and lalukas—a lacuna to which Sir B. N. Rau
had drawn pointed atiention when the Indian Independence Bill
was on the anvil. The critics also overlooked the prevailing
suspicion in the minds of the rulers. It was not practical politics
to flaunt in the face of the States the supremacy of the Union
Government when the 3 Junc Plan had assured them the lapse of
paramountcy, The critics were completely silenced when Junagadh
acceded to Pakistan; they realized then the possibilities of disinteg-
ration if the policy of accession had not been implemented.

I invariably saw Sardar at least twice a day, once in the morning
and again in the evening when he would be having his dinner., This
was my routine as long as both of us werc 1 Declhi, from the time
Sardar became States Minister until his death. On his part, Sardar
followed the daily routine ol an ecarly morning walk when he would
meet and listen to all classes of people; he would give mterviews
at his residence, and he would make it a point also of perusing all
lcading newspapers, both English and vernacular. Thus would he
bring to bcar on our discussion such important aspects ol public
opinion as might affect the problems on which we in the Ministry
were engaged. My mectings with Sardar in the morning were
devoted to the discussion of important matters of policy on which
I would ascertain his views and obtain his decisions. In the evening,
my lask was to apprise him of the manner in which those decisions
had been implemented, or of any fresh points which might have arisen
in the coursc of (hat day. As if this were not sufficient, he would
ring me up between 9.30 and 10 every night. T had to give him a
sort of “all quiet on the States front’ and only then could he get to
slecep. This night telephoning was continued as a never-failing
practice, whether he was at the headquarters or on tour, and to my
wite’s chagrin it frequently happened that the telephone call came
too while I was having my dinner!
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Leadcrship is of lwo kinds. A leader hke Napoleon, who was
master of both policy and detail, wanted mercly the mstruments (o
carry out his orders. Sardar’s leadership was of the second category.,
Having selected his men, he trusted them entirely to implement his
policy. Sardar nevcer assumed Lthat he knew cverything and he never
acdopted a policy without full and frank consultation. Whenever we
entered into any discussion, we did so as personal friends rather than
as Minister and Sccrelary,

On 28 July Lord Mountbatten gave a colourful reception at
the Viceroy’s Housc 1n honour of over fifty rulers and a hundred
Stales’ represenlatives. Pakistan representatives were also present.
This reception was in the nature of a last-minute canvassing of voters
ncar the polling booth. Thosc of the rulers who had not yet signified
their intention ol acceding were taken by the A.D,Cs. one by one for
a [riendly talk with Lord Mounthatten. When he had finished with
them, he passed them on to me in the full view of the company and
I, in my turn, conducted them across the room to Sardar, This had
a good psychological effect on the rulers who were present,

There were, however, many rulers who did not attend this recep-
tion, and who were either hostile to the plan of accession or were
sitting on the [ence. As mentioned before, Hyderahad and Travan-
core had already announced their intention of declaring their in-
dependence and their lead was followed by several others, whose
attitude was naturally causing the Government of India some anxiety.

Meanwhile, the Mushim League leaders were by no means idle,
Mectings between them and some of the rulers had become almost
a daily occurrence. T'ecmpting concessions were being offered to the
rulers {o inveigle them into joining Pakistan., The League leaders
were concentrating in particular on some of the border States,

As if the intransigence of some of the rulers and the mveigling
tactics of the League leaders were not enough, it seemed that the
Political Department was adding to our worrics. That Department
had encouraged the Nawab ol Bhopal in his eflorts to evolve a * Third
Force’ out of the dtlates and reports were being brought 1o me by
some of the rulers that they were being instigated not to aceede 1o
India. This naturally upset me. I acquainted Lord Mountbatien
with what I had heard, I felt that if both Sir Conrad Corfield and
myself operated in the same ficld, it was like trying to walk sinul-
iancously in two opposite divections. Soon after, Sir Conrad Corficld
went on leave to England and retired [rom service, |
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On | August, Lord Mountbatten gave a luncheon to several
of the leading rulers. The A.D.Cs. had helped to form virtual *Aye’
and ‘No’ lobbies of the rulers in accordance with thew attitude to
accession, The Maharajahs of Patiala and of Bikaner crcated a
diversion by passing through the ‘No’ lobby and then roaring with
laughter, The ‘No’ lobby consisted ol ‘last-ditchers’ who were
inclined to cxecute Standstill Agreements and to mark time so far
as the Instrument of Accession was concerned. Lo deal with them
it was announced at a conlerence of rulers and States’ ministers
at Bikancr Housc on 1 August that the Government ol India had
decided that Standstill Agreements would be entered into only with
those rulers who execuled the Instrument of Accession.

The process of getting Instruments of Accession signed involved
considerable persuasion, strain and anxiety. It was easy cnough to
get the signatures of those rulers whohad been the first to send their
representatives Lo the Constituent Asscmbly; but a serics ol negotia-
tions now began with those rulers who opposcd the policy of acces-
slon,

I have already mentioned that soon after the announcement of
the 9 June Plan, Sir C. P. Ramaswami Alyar (5ir C. P. for short)
had declared that Travancore would assert its independence with
the transfer of power, In view particularly of his position in the
public life of the country, this statement had deleterious repercus-
sions and encouraged those rulers who were not {avourably disposed
towards the Indian Dominion. When we issued invitations [or the
mecting of rulers and States’ representalives to be held on 25 July,
the Government of Travancore replied that therc was no point
in their representatives attending this meeting, as the dState had
decicded not to accede to India. It should be pointed out that at
about this time the Travancore Stote Congress had threatened «
campaign of direct action to begin from 1 August, The Congress
press in India had been cxtremely caustic in ils commenis on Sir
C. P. In fact therc had been a sharp cxchange of words belween
the Congress leaders and Sir G. P. in the newspapcrs. This was
certainly not helpful.

Lord Mountbatien therefore invited Sir (. P. to New Delhi. On
20 July 1 had an exploratory talk with him. I explained to him
{he advantages which would accrue to Travancore as a result of
accession. All we asked was executlive and legislative authority in
regarel to defence, external affairs and communications. Sir G, P.
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referred to the proposal of the Union Clonsultative Commitiee of the
Constiluent Assembly to divert to the Centre the revenues from
customs, import and export dutics. He pointed out that Travancore
was a marilunc State deriving nearly half its total revenue from
these heads; and if it were to accede on these conditions, it
would be reduced to a fifth-rate State. I assured him that the present
accession plan had nothing to dowith the new constitution and that
what we were asking {for was accession on three subjects under the
Government of India Act of 1935 without any financial or other
commilments. Sit G, P. admitted that he had not been aware of this
approach. I pointed out that on 15 August the States would
literally be 1cleased from the centre and would therealter have no
contact either with the centre or among themsclves. This was too
dangerous a position and 1l the transitional period was not sale-
euarded, the result might be compleie chaos. Transitions were
always risky. In India especially, there was real danger of unsocial
clements rearing their heads. One aspect of the guestion which was
causing particular concern was the communist menace. The only
remedy against this was (o build up an integrated economic and
political system strong cnough to withstand their ideology. I then
brought down the discussion to the personal plane, assuring him of
my high regard both for his rcalistic attitude to affairs and for the
part he had played in the past. It ought not be said of him that at
India’s critical hour he had nol made his contribution towards
building a united India when he had it in his power to do so, I
begged him not to take any precipitate action. Whatever might be
his grievances against the Congress, the utterances of ity leaders
ought not to deflect him from what he considered to be in the best
interests, not only of Travancore, but of India, as a whole. bir C. P,
replied that he could not give an answer immediately but he assured
me that, ‘coming from a sincere well-wisher of the States, and ol
myself in particular, your comments will have my closest atten-
tion.’

Sir C. P, met Lord Mountbatten on 21 July, when the latter
tried to pin him down on the question of accession. Lord Mount-
batten said that all other questions could be adjusted by negotiation
and agreement later on. He added that here was a golden oppor-
tunity for Tranvancore to play its part. The accession of Travancore
would be hailed throughout India as a great act of statesmanship,
nor would it entail any financial loss to the State. On the other
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hand, in the shaping of the (uture destinmicy ol India, Travancore
could play a very important part since 1ts representalives would
be sitting in the Dominion Legislature. Sir G, P, stated that he
would not agree to “accession’ but to some ‘agrcement’ on three
subjects.

In a subscquent talk with Sir G, P. I madeit clear that an “agree-
ment’ on three subjects would not he acceptable, as other States
would want to follow his example. A signature on the Instrument
of Accession was absolutely nccessary. At first he was adamant,
but after a further interview with Lord Mountbatien, he agreed
that accession was 1nevitable, As he had to be back in Trivandrum
on 25 july in connexion with the death centenary of a former
Maharajah of Travancore, a great composer and patron of music,
he took with lum the drall Instrument of Accession and personal
letter to the Maharajah from Lord Mountbatten, promising to return
on 27 July. Before he could do so, a personal attack was made
on lim and he was wounded, But the Maharajah telegraphed to
Lord Mountbatten his acceptance of the Instrument of Accession
and Standstill Agreement. This announcement had a distinet eflect
on other rulers who were still wavering. In the meantime, Sardar
appealed to the Travancore State Congress to suspend their campaign
ol direct action.

The late Maharajah Hanwant Singh of Jodhpur continued to
e intractable. Jinnah and the Muslim League leaders had a series
of mectings with him. At the last of these intcrviews, Maharajah
Hanwant Singh had taken the then Maharajkumar of Jaisalmer
with him, because the Maharajah of Bikaner would not accompany
him and he shrank from going alone. Theirs were the three States
geographically contiguous {o Pakistan. Jinnah, I was told, signed a
blank shect of paper and gave it to Maharajah Hanwant Singh
along with his own [ounlain pen, saying ‘You can fill in all your
“conditions.” A discussion followed. The Maharajah was prepared
to line up with Pakistan. He then turned to the Maharajkumar of
Jaisalmer and asked him whether he would [lollow suit. The
Maharajkumar said he would do so on one condition: If there
wag any trouble between the Hindus and Muslims, he would not
side with the Muslims against the Hindus, This was a bombshell
and took Maharajah Hanwant Singh completcly by surprise. Sir
Mohammad Zafrullah however made light of the whole affair and
pressed Maharajah Hanwant Singh to sign the instrument, But
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the Maharajah now felt unable to take a decision. He sugpested to
Jinnah that he would go to Jodhpur and return the next day, The
Maharajah remained at Jodhpur for three days. The atmosphere
in the State was hostile to the idea that Jodhpur should cast its lot
with Pakistan; the Jagirdars and nobles were decidedly opposed to
it. The Maharajah began to waver. When he rcturned to Delhi
after three days I was informed that, unless I handled the Maharajah
quickly, the chances were that he might accede 1o Pakistan. T went
to the Hotel Imperial and told the Maharajah that Lord Mount-
batten wanted lo see him. We then drove to Government House
and I kept the Maharajah in the visitors’ room while I went in
and cxplained the situation to Lord Mountbatten, The Maharajah
wag then called in. Lord Mountbatien made it clear that from a
purcly legal standpoint there was no objcction to the ruler of
Jodhpur acceding to Pakistan; but the Maharajah should, he stressed,
consider scriously the consequences of his doing so, having regard
to the fact that he himsel{ was a Hindu; that his State was pop-
ulated predominantly by Hindus and that the same applied to the
States surrounding Jodhpur., In the light of these considerations,
if the Maharajah were to accede to Pakistan, his action would surely
be in conflict with the principle underlying the partition of India
on the basis of Muslim and non-Muslim majority arcas; and
serious communal trouble inside the State would be the inevitable
conscquence of such affiliation, The Maharajah started at once
1o ask for impossible concessions, I told him plainly: *If you want
to sign on false hopes, I will agree to your demands,” adding that
most of the demands could nol be conceded. He then told us that
Jinnah had given him a blank paper in which he could put down
all the concessions he wanted. I urged him not to be swayed by
falsc promises. After a great deal of discussion, I gave him a letter
conceding some of his demands. Thereafier he signed the Instru-
ment of Accession,

After a few minutes, Lord Mountbatten went out of the room
and the Maharajah whipped out a revolver, levelled it at me and
said: ‘I refuse to accept your dictation.” I told him that ne was
making a very serious mistake if he thought that by killing muc,
or threatening to kill me, he could get the accession abrogated.
‘Don’t indulge in jevenile theairicals,” I admonished him. Shorily
after, Lord Mountbatien returned and T told him what had
happened. He made light of the episode and turned it to jest

17
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Presently the Maharajah returned to normal and we departed in
company. After leaving him at his residence., I returned to office.
The whole episode became a standing joke between us later on.t

The Nawab of Bhopal did not attend the meecting of rulers and
States’ representatives on 25 July. He felt, as he put it, that they
were being ‘invited like the Oysters to attend the tea party with
the Walrus and the Garpenter.” He, along with the Maharajah of
Indore, headed a group of rulers who strenuously opposed accession.
The Nawab was firmly of opinion that it would be impossible for
Bhopal to *hecome an organic part of either Dominion.” He suggested
that he should enter into treaty relations with both the Dominions,
He was handled throughout by Lord Mountbatten. I was present
at most of their meetings. Lord Mountbatten’s long-standing per-
sonal friendship with the Nawab played its part in the latier’s decis-
ion to accede. By the first week of August the Nawab had realized
that the vast majority of the rulers had opted for accession and thalt,
if he did not come in, Bhopal would be left in an anomalous
and diflicult position. He wanted to know whether he could sign a
Standstill Agreement withoul acceding. We told him that Standstill
Agreements would not be signed with rulers who refused to accede.
He then sent his Constitutional Adviser, Sir Mohammad Zafrullah
Khan, for clarification of the terms of the Instrument of Acccssion.
We had a long discussion. I made it clear 1o Sir Mohammad that
it would be impossible to make any alierations in the Instrument
of Accession and that Bhopal would have to join on the same {erms
as all other States, At last the Nawab signed, but with the stipul-
ation that his signature should be kept secret for ten days after the
transfer of power. There was no difficulty in complying with this
request.

Writing to Sardar announcing his decision to accede, the Nawab
said:

I do not disguise the fact that while the struggle was on, I used every

means in my power to preserve the independence and neutrality of my
State. Now that I have conceded defeat, I hope that you will find that I

1 Here was a prince, head-strong and emotional, with considerable organizing capacity.
His premature death is a matter of deep regret, During the general clections of 1952,
Maharajah Hanwant Singh sent a special messengerto me in Bangalore where I had settled
down alter retirement, He wanted me to stand {or election to the House of the People from
the Jodhpur constituency, and assured me that the seat was quite safe. If I was agreeable,
I was to go to Jodhpur at once. Though I obviously could not accept the offer, I was
moved by his letter and sent him an affectionate reply. A few wecks later he died in a
plane crash.
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can be as staunch a friend as I have been an inveterate opponent. I har-
bour no ill feelings towards anyone, for throughout I have been treated
with consideration and have received understanding and courtesy {rom
your side. I now wish to tell you that so long as you maintain your present
firm stand against the disruptive forces In the country and continue to he
a friend of the States as you have shown you are, you will find in me a
loyal and faithful ally,

In reply Sardar wrote:

Quite candidly, I do not look upon the accession of your Stale to the
Indian Dominion as either a victory for us or defeat for you. It is only
right and propricty which have triumphed in the end and, in that triumph,
you and I have played our respective roles. You deserve full credit for
having recognised the soundness of the position and for the courage, the
honesty and ihe boldness of having given up your earlier stand which
according to us was entirely antagonistic to the interests as much of India
as of your own State. I have noted with particular pleasure your assurance
of support to the Dominion Government in combating disloyal elements
irrespective of caste, creed or religion and your offer of loyal and faithtul
friendship. During the last few months, it had been a great disappointment
and regret to me that vour undoubted talents and abilities were not at the
country’s disposal in the critical times through which we were passing
and T therefore particularly value this assurance of co-operation and
friendship.

‘The Maharajah of Indore not only refrained from attending
the meeting of the rulers and States’ representatives on 25 July,
though he had already rcturned to India from abroad; he did not
even reply 1o the invitation. Lord Mountbatten had an idea at onc
time of summoning him in order to induce him to accede but I
advised him not to take any such step, With the knowledge of the
States Ministry a delegation of Mahratia princes had been to the
Maharajalh to impress on him the desirability and wisdom of
acceding to India; but he would not even talk to them. Sir Pratap
Singh, Gackwar of Baroda, later told me that they were all of them
waiting in the Maharajah’s drawing room, when he came in and
went past them on his way upstairs as though they did not exist.

Subsequently, however, the Maharajah of Indore and the Nawab
of Bhiopal had an interview with Lord Mountbatten, As the Maha-
rajah did not, during this interview, commit himself cither way
with regard to accession, we were not a little surprised when one
morning we received in an ordinary postal envelope both the Instrum-
ent of Accession and the Standstill Agreement signed by him; just

YWY
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that with no covering letter. However, from that timc on, he gave
full co-operation to the Government of India.

Even last-ditchers like the rulers of Dholpur, Bharatpur, Bilaspur
and Nabha ultimately signed. There were prolonged discussions
with some of them; they no doubt sensed that the Instrument of
Accession in the present form might not be available to them afier
15 August and that they would then have to negotiate with the
Government of India for terms which would probably be less favour-
able.

Some rulers signed the Instrument of Accession and forwarded it
with covering letlers which laid down conditions subject to which
the accession had been signed. They were told that the execulion
of the Instrument of Accession must be unconditional and they
subscquently complied,

In view of the special position and peculiar problems of Hyderabad
both Nehru and Sardar felt that Lord Mountbatten should continue
to negotiate with the Nizam even alter 15 August. Accordingly,
on 12 August Lord Mountbatten informed the Nizam that the offer
of accession would remain open in the case of Hydcrabad for a
further period of t{wo months.

The rulers of all the States geographically contiguous to India,
with the exception of Junagadh and two small States under Muslim
rulers in Kathtawar, had signed the Instrument of Accession and
the Standstill Agrecement by 15 August. With regard to Kashmir,
the States Ministry had made no approach to the ruler at all, though
Lord Mountbatten took the trouble to visit Kashmir personally at
the beginning-of July to try and induce the Maharajah, who was a
very old friend of his, to make up his mind to accede to either India
or Pakistian,

On 14 August the States Ministry took control of all the resid-
encies from the Political Department. At one place, the Resident
refused to allow the Indian flag to be hoisted at the Residency on
the morning of 15 August 1947. An ugly situation threatened.
The officer realized his crror in time and allowed the flag to be hoist-
ed. But for this one incident there was no trouble anywhere.

By the policy of accession we had ensured the fundamental unity
of the couniry. India had become one federation, with the provinces
and the Slates as integral parts. The Standstill Agreement had
provided the basis for retaining intact the many agreements and
administrative arrangements which had been built up over ncarly
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a century for ensuring that all-India intcrests were sateguarded
and which, with the termination of paramountcy, had threatened
to disappcar and in the process throw the swhole country into a state
of confusion. All this was donc in an atmosphere of cordiality and
goodwill. We rcalized the strength of the rulers’ antagonism to-
wards anything which smacked of ‘paramountcy’ and our object
wag, a8 sct out in the Statement of 5 July, to ‘make laws sitting
together as friends.” Our cfloris in this direction were crowned with
success. Lhere remained only the cquestion of the creation of an
organization to fill the vacuum created by the disappearance of the
Political Department and its local agencies in the States or groups
of States. ‘These officials had served not only to exercise paramountcy
functions, hut to do a considerable amount of routine administrative
work, such as operating the various controls, issuing passports and
arms licences and performing other similar duties. In order to
continue this administrative work, especially in relation to the
smaller States, we appointed Regilonal Commissioners in Rajkot,
Kolhapur, Rajputana, Central India, the Simla Hill States, the
Bundelkhand and Baghelkhand States and the Eastern States. Thus
the gap which had threatened to balkanize the country was effective-
ly stopped.

In his address to the Constituent Assembly on the morning of 15
August, Lord Mountbatten referred to the success of the accession
policy and paid a iributc to Sardar as a far-sighted statesman. He
said :

It is a great triumph for the realism and sense of responsibility of the
rulers and the governments of the States as well as for the Government of
India that it was possible to produce an instrument of accession which
was cqually acceptable to both sides; and one, moreover, so simple and
so straightforward that within less than three weeks practically all the

States concerned had sighed the Instrument of Accession and the Stand-
still Agreement, There is thus established a unified political structure,

My feeling was one of profound thankfulness to God, The
threatened fragmentation had been averted and the whole country
had come under one political umbrella. The prophets of gloom who
predicted disruption had been belied. We had obtained a breath-~
ing space during which we could evolve a permancnt relationship
between the Government of India and the States.

The masterly handling of the rulers by Sardar was the {oremost
factor in the success of the accession policy. The rulers soon came to
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recognize him as a stable force 1n Indian politics and as one who
would give them a fair deal. Added to this, his unfailing politeness
to the rulers, viewed against his reputation as the ‘Iron Man of
India’, cndeared him to them and created such confidence that all
accepled his adviee without demur,

Another factor which went a long way in winning over the rulers
was of course Lhe infectious charm and inborn tact of Lord Mount-
batten. It was because of his abundant love for India, and not merely
because he was obliged to do so, that he had taken upon himself
the task of negotiating with the rulcrs on the question of accession,
And once he undertook any task he invanably put the whole weight
of his personality into what he was doing and spared himself no effort.
Hal{~heartcd methods and half-hearted measures arc alicn to him.
India can never forget the magnificent service he rendered at a
crilical juncturc in her history.

Nor can one forget the rulers, but for whose willing and patriotic
co-operation the policy of accession could not have been imple-
mented. They gave ample evidence of imagination, foresight and
patriotism and, as Sardar himself remarked, they might well claim
to be co-architects of a free and united India. Lt is not possible to
name all the many rulers who co-operated with us. Sir Pratap
singh, Gaekwar of Baroda, was the first ruler actually to sign the
Instrument of Accession, though I think the first announcement of
accession was made by the Dewan of Gwalior, M. A. brinivasan, on
behalf of the Maharajah, Sir Jivaji Rao Scindia of Gwalior. The
latter had becen of great help during the negotiations and had un-
doubtedly exercised a lealthy influence on scveral rulers. But the
greatest share of the credit for giving a patriotic lead to the rulers
and convincing them that it was in iheir own interest to accede to
India must go to the late Maharajah Sir Sadul Singh of Bikaner
and Maharajah Sir Yadavindra Singh of Patiala. The [ormer’s
valuable help was acknowledged in several letters which Sardar
addressed to him. Lord Mountbatten publicly referred to it in his
speech at Bikaner while investing the Maharajah with the G.G.S.L.
By the untimely death of Sir Sadul Singh, the country lost a patriotic
ruler who had made the utmost sacrifices without bitterness. For
myself, [ lost a very great personal friend. Maharajah Sir Yadavindra
Singh of Patiala had co-operated with us ever since my first meeting
with bim at the Hotel Imperial, This young ruler, who was only
thirty-four years of age at that time, showed remarkably robust
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patriotism and his contribution cannot he lightly forgotten. The
Jam Saheb too, was a tower of strength in those days of hectic
negotiations. He always brought a practical mind 1o bear upon

our problems and many an otherwise trying hour was enlivened by
his sparkling humour.



Vi
JUNAGADH

"HYHE accession of the rulers was only the prelude io a final
| solntion of the States problem. Before we could think of the

A. next step, a ihreatening cloud appceared over the weslern
horizon. This was the Nawab of Junagadh’s accession to Pakistan,

Junagadh was the premier State in the group of Kathiawar

fvtates It lay in the south-west of Kathiawar. It was bounded
:111no=sl entirely by other Indian States, cxcept for the south and
t south-wcst where lies the Arabian Sea. The State had no contiguity
:;with Pakistan by land and its distance by sca, {rom Port Veraval
. to Karachi, was about 300 miles. The arca of the State was 3,337
1square miles and the population (according to the Census of 1941)
i numbered 6,70,719 of whom over 80 per cent were Hindus, There
were several islands of Junagadh territory in the States of Gondal,
Bhavnagar and Nawanagar. Similarly, parts of States which had
acceded to the Indian Dominion were interspersed with Junagadh
territory. Access to these as well as to certain areas belonging to
Baroda State was only possible through Junagadh. Within its borders
were Hindu and Jain religious shrines which have attracted
pilgrims from all over India. Its railways and posts and telegraphs
were an integral part of the Indian system. The railway police,
telegraphs and lelephones were adminisiered by the Government
of India.

Junagadh was a Rajput State under the Chudasama dynasty
until 1472-73, when it was conquered by Sultan Muhammad Bedga
of Ahmedabad. In the reign of Emperor Akbar it became a depen-
dency of the Court of Delhi under the immediate authority of the
subah of Ahmedabad. About 1735, when the Moghul Government
had fallen into decay, Sherkhan Babi, a soldier of fortune and
an officer under the subak, expelled the Moghul Governor and
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established his rule in Junagadh. The last Nawab of Junagadh was
a descendant of Sherkhan Babi.

The Nawab, 5ir Mahabatkhan Rasulkhanji, was an eccentric
of rarc vinlage. His chief preoccupation in life was dogs, of which
he owned hundreds. I was told, indeed, that he carried his love for
dogs to such lengths that he once organized a wedding of two of
his pets, over which he spent a huge sum of money and in honour
of which he proclaimed a State holiday!

The Nawab had all along been paying lip-service to the ideal of
a united Kathtawar, On 11 Apnl 1947, in reply to some specula-
tions in the Gujarati press regarding the State’s attitude towards
the future constitutional set-up of India, the Government of Junagadh
issued a press note which contained the following paragraph:

What Junagadh pre-eminently stands for 1s the solidarity of Kathiawar
ancl would welcome the formation of a self-contained group of Kathiawar
States. Such a group while providing for the autonomy and entity of
individual States and their subjects would be a suitable basis for co-oper-
ation in matters of common concern generally and co-ordination where

necessary.

This clear statement had set all doubts at rest. On 22 April the
Junagadh Government Gazette reproduced a speech of the Dewan,
Khan Bahadur Abdul Kadir Mohammed Hussain, in the course
of which he categorically repudiated allegations in the vernacular
press that Junagadh was thinking of joiming Pakistan; that Baluchis
and Hurs had been imported into the State forces, and that the
local Bahauddin College was to be afliliated with the Sind University.

At the mecting of rulers on 25 July which was addressed by
Lord Mountbatten, Junagadh was represented by Nabi Baksh, the
Constitutional Adviser to the Nawab and brother of the Dewan.
He put several questions to Lord Mountbatten which were answered
fully and frankly. Nabi Baksh told Lord Mountbatten, whom he
met privately afterwards, that his intention was to advise the
Nawab that Junagadh should accede lo India. He gave the same
impression to the Jam Saheb of Nawanagar and to Sardar whom
he met during his stay in Delhi.

Farly in 1947 the Dewan, Abdul Kadir Mohammed Hussain,
had invited Sir Shah Nawaz Bhulto, a Muslim League politician of
Karachi, to come 1o Junagadh and join the State Council of
Ministers, In May 1947 Abdul Kadir went abroad for medical

treatment. Sir Shah Nawaz took over as Dewan, Subsequently.
16
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the State Government got rid of Nahi Baksh. The Nawab soon
camec under the influence of the Mushim League. Both the jam
Saheb of Nawanagar and the Maharajah of Dhrangadhra warned
me that with Sir Shah Nawaz in the saddle there was a posstbility
ol Junagadh going over to Pakistan,

The Instrument of Accession was sent to the Nawab for signature;
when we received no reply up to 12 August 1947, I sent telegrams
to the Nawab and the Dewan reminding them that the last date
for the receipt of intimation of signing of the Instrument of Acces-
sion was 14 August, and requesting an immediate reply. On 13
August, Sir Shah Nawaz Bhutto, replicd that the matter was under
consideration.

To carry the deception further, Sir Shah Nawaz called a con-
ference of leading citizens the same day. On behalf of the Hindu
citizens a memorandum for submission to the Nawab was presented
{0 the Dewan. The memorandum analysed the dangers that would
accrue to the State if it decided to accede to Pakistan. Apart [rom
its geographical position and the fact that the overwh